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Translation note 

 
Financial statements have been prepared in Lithuanian and English languages. In all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the 

Lithuanian language version of the financial statements takes precedence over the English language version.  
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CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT OF AB SEB BANKAS GROUP FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

1. Reporting period covered by the Consolidated Annual Report    

This Consolidated Annual Report (hereinafter the Report) has been prepared for the year ended 31 December 2021. All numbers 
presented are as of 31 December 2021 or for the year then ended, unless specified otherwise. The Consolidated Annual Report 

covers consolidated information on AB SEB Bankas (also referred as the Bank) and its subsidiary UAB “SEB investicijų valdymas” 

– together referred as the Group. 

2. Information on branches and representative offices  

As at 31 December 2021, the Bank had three regional branches: AB SEB bankas Eastern Region Branch (address 

Konstitucijos ave. 24, LT-08105 Vilnius), AB SEB bankas Middle Region Branch (address Nemuno str. 3, LT-44295 Kaunas), and 

AB SEB bankas Western Region Branch (address H. Manto str. 7, LT-92128 Klaipėda).  

As at the end of the year 2021, the Bank had 22 branches across Lithuania, 100 per cent of them were financial advisory branches 
where cash transactions are performed in self-service zones. 

3. Objective overview of the Group’s status, activities and development  

In 2021, the Group offered a full range of banking services to private individuals and corporate customers as well as financial 

institutions.  

The Group in Lithuania consists of AB SEB bankas and UAB “SEB investicijų valdymas”. Also, there are other SEB group companies 

operating in Lithuania, namely: life insurance and pension services company “SEB Life and Pension Baltic SE” Lithuanian branch, 

SEB Global Services in Vilnius (legal name “Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB” Vilnius branch), which provides business support 

services (transactions, IT, human resources administration, finance and accounting) to the SEB group — its subsidiary companies 
and subdivisions in more than twenty countries worldwide. 

In 2021, net profit earned by the Bank was EUR 115.8m, and that earned by the Group was EUR 113.9m. In 2020, net profit 

earned by the Bank was EUR 93.3m, and that earned by the Group was EUR 93.1m. 

Equity of the Group as at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 945m (877). 

Assets of the Group as at 31 December 2021 totalled EUR 11.1bn (10.2). 

In 2021, Bank’s and Group’s liquidity requirements were met. 

Income of the Group in the year 2021 made up EUR 215.8m, and in the year 2020 – EUR 209.7m. 

As at 31 December 2021, net worth of the Bank’s loan and leasing portfolio totalled EUR 6.3bn (5.8).  

Bank’s deposit portfolio as at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 9.8bn (8.6). 

The year 2021 outperformed the expectations for the national economic growth. The Bank, same as majority other financial 

institutions and companies, had more successful performance in 2021 than in the year 2020, which was impaired by the 

pandemic: customers' activity resulted in growing operating profit, the loan portfolio was increasing because of more active 
borrowing by households and businesses. Deposits have been significantly growing for four years in a row – by two-digit 

percentage. The macroeconomic situation outperforming the expectations allowed improvement of expected loan losses. 

In 2021, business companies were acting more boldly in implementing development and investment plans, increasing financing 

assigned by the Bank for business. During 2021, the Bank granted 45 per cent more new loans for business than in 2020. The most 
active borrowers were trade, energy, and manufacturing sectors. The record high price of electricity, natural gas and other raw 

materials had adverse impact on profitability of companies and increased the demand for circulating capital. Growth of the 

demand for loans for business was caused also by increasing corporate investments aimed at improving manufacturing capacities 

and labour productivity. 

Inflation accelerating in 2021 urged the population to think about employment of their savings. People invest their savings into 

purchases of real property and securities. During 2021, the Bank granted 21 per cent more home loans to residents than in 2020; 

while the number of residents holding securities portfolios in the Bank on 31 December 2021 was 18 per cent bigger if compared 

with the end of 2020. 

In 2021, the Bank introduced an investment robot to the market – a novelty in the Baltic States. Following introduction of this 

novelty, the number of customers investing into the funds of the Bank increased by 34 per cent. Seven out of ten customers who 

have tried the investment robot invested in the funds of the Bank for the first time. 
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The pandemic that brought the world to a standstill in recent years has changed the trade models of business and people's habits 

strongly. In last year, business customers of the Bank reached 1.5 times bigger e-commerce turnover if compared to the same 

period in 2020, while payments by various electronic payment modes were made 46 per cent more often than in 2020. Payments 
by bank cards and online shopping are consistently increasing among population. It is witnessed by 11 per cent growth of the net 

commission incomes of the Bank in 2021 if compared to 2020 (EUR 81.3 million in 2021), while net income from payments by 

card alone increased by 14 per cent. 

The Bank ensured continuity of operations and smooth provision of services during the pandemic, by providing most services 
remotely. In 2021, if compared to 2020, the Bank provided 15 per cent more video consulting for residents and 5 times more 

video consulting for business. The Bank continues making consistent investment into innovative digital solutions for customers – 

upgraded the website which will eventually become an e-shop of financial services, simplified conclusion of personal insurance 

agreements on Internet banking, added new functions to a mobile app. 

Customers' opinion about the services is important for the Bank, therefore customers' surveys, market research are conducted on 

a regular basis. Results of the research of 2021 show that seven out of ten Bank’s customers give top score to the bank's services 

and solutions. The secret buyers' survey conducted by Dive Group research company shows that SEB Bank’s customer service is 

one of the best in Lithuania. 

The Bank took care of its employees' safety and wellbeing during the pandemic: starting from work from home and more flexible 

work schedules, and finishing with compensation of medical consultations, COVID-19 tests, and acquisition of additional safety 

equipment. The global pandemic induced more rapid change of working modes. In 2021, SEB group made a long-term decision to 

offer hybrid work for the employees who can perform their work duties remotely without causing any risk. 

In 2021, SEB group introduced an updated sustainability strategy setting its targets and goals regarding climate change – 

measuring Carbon Exposure Index, Sustainability Activity Index, and Transition Ratio. 

According to SEB calculations, the direct climate impact of the organisation accounts for 5 per cent only. But the Bank can make 

95 per cent impact when providing services to its private and business customers. In 2021, SEB Bank launched a business 
customers' sustainability classification model to be used to assess the present impact of business customers on climate and future 

plans of their transition to sustainability. The Bank integrated sustainability criteria into crediting, risk management and other 

important processes. 

In 2021, the Bank launched green mortgages, while the assets entrusted to the bank by pension fund members are invested by 
the bank following sustainability principles – in the end of 2021, sustainable investments accounted for more than half of the total 

assets of the pension fund. The Bank encourages every resident to think about our environmental impact – in the end of the year, 

the Bank invited its customers to measure their carbon footprint by using “ManoPėdsakas | SEB” mobile app. 

The Bank also remained actively engaged in development of entrepreneurship in Lithuania. In 2021, 14 companies took part in 
Bank’s Business Growth Programme for small and medium enterprises that are willing to take an extra step and find new ways of 

development. In 2021, the Bank continued to sponsor activities of Lithuanian Junior Achievement that is teaching 9-12 grade 

pupils entrepreneurship skills. It is estimated that each year more than 20 thousand pupils from 400 schools take part in the 

activities. More than 350 business volunteers, including Bank’s employees, took part in the activities. 

In 2021, the Bank has won significant Baltic and national awards: SEB Lithuania's head office in Vilnius, where the Banks’ 

employees have moved in 2020, has been named the best office in the Baltics (Baltic Real Estate Award 2021), the Bank was 

recognized as the leader in the financial category in the Lithuanian Employers' Rating 2020 (CVbankas.lt), and SEB bank 

cybersecurity campaign “Pinklės” was awarded as the best digital communication campaign (PR Impact Awards 2021). 

In April 2021, Raimondas Kvedaras, who has been leading the bank for the past 11 years, left his position as the CEO of the Bank 

in Lithuania. Since 1st July 2021, Sonata Gutauskaitė-Bubnelienė was appointed as the new CEO of the bank. Before taking new 

role, S. Gutauskaitė-Bubnelienė was a member of the Management Board of SEB Bank in Lithuania and the Head of Retail in SEB 

Baltic Division.  

4. Analysis of the Group’s financial and non-financial activity results  

Volume and changes of the Group’s activities are partially reflected by the below data of the statement of financial position and 

profit and loss statement prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 

European Union.  
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Group’s Net profit has increased by 22 per cent if comparing the year 2021 to the year 2020: 

 

EUR million 2021 2020 Change 

Income 216 210 3% 

Costs -82 -80 2% 

Profit before credit losses 134 130 3% 

Credit losses 9 -14 - 

Profit before income tax  143 116 23% 

Profit tax -29 -23 27% 

Net profit 114 93 22% 

Net profit has shown positive development, supported by increased customers’ activity and favourable trend in the area of credit 

losses. Stable macroeconomic situation enabled notable improvement on the expected credit losses.  

The main measures and financial ratios: 

 2021 2020 Change 

Net profit (EUR million) 114 93 22% 

Cost / Income ratio* 0.38 0.38 0 b.p. 

New loans (EUR billion) 2.42 1.75 39% 

Loans & leasing, net value (EUR billion)  6.3 5.8 8% 

Deposits (EUR billion) 9.8 8.6 14% 

* Calculated as Total operating expenses divided by Total operating income 

Lending portfolio has recovered: households have maintained activity trend and corporate lending has received break-through 

point in the last quarter of 2021. Deposits continued to significantly grow the fourth year in a row. 

Some ratios representing the Group‘s and the Bank’s result are presented in the table below: 

 

The Group  Ratio  The Bank 

2019 2020 2021  2019 2020 2021 

1.45 % 0.98% 1.08% Return on Assets* 1.45 % 0.98% 1.09% 

15.76 % 11.23% 12.69% Return on Equity** 15.86 % 11.29% 12.94% 

 

*Calculated as Net profit for the year divided by average Assets for the year 

**Calculated as Net profit for the year divided by average Equity for the year 

5. Major events since the end of financial year 

On 1 March 2022 the Bank sold 100% of its sole subsidiary UAB “Investicijų valdymas“ shares to SEB Life and Pension Baltic SE. 

The gain on sale constituted EUR 8,084 thousand for the Group and EUR 10,529 thousand for the Bank.  

On 24 February 2022 the Russian Federation has launched an invasion of the Republic of Ukraine. Shortly after the invasion, the 
EU and the rest of the world introduced a comprehensive package of restrictive measures against Russia, which is constantly being 

updated and expanded. This non-adjusting post-reporting event was not taken into account in making the accounting estimates 

and assumptions as at 31 December 2021. Until the date of signing these financial statements, the restrictive measures did not 

have a material impact on the Group’s and the Bank’s operations, no business processes were suspended and limited foreseen 
direct losses related to the imposed restrictive measures were incurred before the date of the financial statements. 

The geopolitical events that escalated in February and led to a wide array of sanctions on Russia and Belarus may have an impact 

on operations of the Group, the Bank and its customers. While the Group and the Bank has made efforts to prudently assess the 

size and nature of such impact, the nature and speed of the events impair the accuracy of any assessments for the time being. The 
Group and the Bank has limited direct exposure on Russia and Belarus and therefore any negative effect will come via potential 

customers' indirect impact. 

6. Group’s activity plans and forecasts  

The focus of the SEB Bank Group in Lithuania will remain customer excellence. By offering modern services in a convenient and 
professional way, trying to satisfy each customer’s needs, the Group will implement its vision: to deliver world-class service to our 

customers. 
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The SEB Bank’s Group seeking to implement the above vision and taking into consideration the SEB group’s goals will follow the 

below main trends: 

• Operational excellence 

o Regulatory excellence. Focus will be paid to following areas: AML/KYC investments – these include 

employees number increase, competence and internal procedures improvement as well as online monitoring 
maintenance; platform development for Liquidity & Capital management, 

o Common Baltic platforms and products. Baltic Core roll-out in Lithuania in year 2020 served as the main 

driver to simplify and align products governance between three Baltic countries, 

o Employee well-being and I&D. This goal includes strengthening employer branding and introducing activity-
based seating by moving to new head office in Vilnius. Moreover, new competence workforce bringing to the 

organization will be focus area as well. 

• Advisory leadership 

o Digital sales. Focus to digitalization & advisory, scaling up number of robotics and automation processes, 

o New public Web further development, 

o Sustainability leadership. Customer portfolio assessment of large corporate as well as SME credit customers. 

• Extended presence 

o Open banking & Re-defining development. This means to use possibilities for further Bank’s development 

through partnership with third parties. 

7. Information about the entity’s research and development (R&D) activities   

The Group did not undertake any R&D activities. 

8. Financial risk management objectives, hedge instruments in case of which hedge accounting is applied as well as 

the entity’s price risk, liquidity risk and monetary risk scale  

The Group manages its financial risk as described in section Financial risk management in Note 2 to the Year 2021 consolidated 

financial statements. Said section includes also a description of financial risk management objectives, hedging transactions applied 
as well as the Group’s credit risk and market risk level.  

9. Data on the acquisition/assignment of own shares. 

The Bank has no and during the year 2021 did not acquire its own shares. In addition, the Bank’s subsidiary companies have not 

acquired the Bank’s shares. During the reporting period, the Bank and its subsidiary companies did not buy or sell their own shares. 

10. Employees 

As at 31 December 2021, the AB SEB bankas Group in Lithuania (AB SEB bankas and UAB “SEB investicijų valdymas”) had 1,487 

employees (working under labour contracts with and without a fixed term, including those on maternity/paternity leave), i.e. by 2 

per cent less compared to the end of 2020, when the Group had 1,517 employees. As of 31 December 2021, the number of 
actually working employees (excluding those on maternity/paternity leave) was 1,339, i.e. 2 per cent less than at the end of 2020, 

when the actual number of the Group’s employees was 1,366.  

During the year 2021 the number of employees of the Bank alone (working under labour contracts with and without a fixed term, 

including those on maternity/paternity leave) decreased by 2 per cent – from 1,505 to 1,476, and the number of the Bank's 
actually employed employees (excluding those on maternity/paternity leave) was 1,328 i.e. 2 per cent less than at the end of 

2020, when their number was 1,354. The number of employees in the Bank decreased in 2021 due to the ongoing effectiveness 

process. 

In the year 2021, the average actual number of the Bank’s employees (excluding the number of employees on maternity/paternity 
leave) was 1,326  employees (in 2020, it was 1,408 employees).  
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 The Bank The Group 

 
31 December 

2019 

31 December 

2020 

31 December 

2021 

31 December 

2019 

31 December 

2020 

31 December 

2021 

Regular employees (working 
under labour contracts 
with and without a fixed 

term, including those on 
maternity/paternity 
leave) 1,607 1,505 1,476 1,618 1,517 1,487 

Actual number of employees 
(excluding those on 

maternity/paternity 
leave)  1,467 1,354 1,328 1,478 1,366 1,339 

 

Tables below contain information on the number of Bank’s actually working employees and average monthly wages (before 

taxes). Labour contracts bargaining agreements do not provide for any special rights or duties of the issuer’s employees or of some 

of them. 

The average monthly wages of the managerial staff increased by 1.1 per cent year-on-year (from 5,520 EUR up to 5,583 EUR), 
meanwhile a number of the Bank’s managerial staff increase  by 6 per cent (from 134 to 142).  

The average monthly wages of the specialist staff increased by 6.3 per cent year-on-year (from 2,101 EUR up to 2,234 EUR) and 

the number of the said staff decrease by 2.8 per cent (from 1,220 up to 1,186).  

 Number of employees Average monthly wages (in EUR) 

 
31 December 

2019 

31 December 

2020 

31 December 

2021 

31 December 

2019 

31 December 

2020 

31 December 

2021 

Managerial staff 141 134 142 5,375 5,520 5,583 

Specialists 1,326 1,220 1,186 1,978 2,101 2,234 

In total 1,467 1,354 1,328 - - - 

11. Arrangements between the bank and members of its bodies or employees  

Trade union of AB SEB bankas was established on February 2020. On March 2021, Trade union invited Bank to start collective 
bargaining with aim to conclude a collective agreement between the Trade union and the Bank. It is planned, that a general 

employee vote to approve the collective agreement will take place in 2022. 

Social dialogue with employee representatives is a priority area to which the Bank paid very important attention. Representatives 

of the trade union meet regularly with representatives of the Bank's administration to discuss what changes await and what 
questions or remarks the trade union members receive from employees. 

12. Information on the Remuneration policy and its implementation 

The information has been drawn up and announced implementing the requirements of Item 14 of Resolution of the Board of the 

Bank of Lithuania ‘Regarding minimum requirements for policies of remuneration to credit institution and of financial brokerage 
companies employees’ No. 03-82, dated 8 May 2015’. 

The Group has its approved remuneration policy, which aligned with the remuneration policy of the Bank's shareholder 

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ). Also, this remuneration policy has been prepared taking into account the implemented 

legal acts of the Board of the Bank of Lithuania regulating the requirements of the remuneration policy. 

The SEB group’s vision is to deliver world-class services and support to our customers. Implementation of this vision is important 

for the Group to attract, retain, and develop talented employees and to reward them. The goal of the Group’s Remuneration Policy 

is to establish the main principles of pay for work, seeking to reward for a sustainable, long-term value-added creation that meets 

interests of shareholders. The Policy shall promote sound and effective risk management as well as desired performance, conduct 
and behaviour. Further, the Policy shall prevent the risk that the remuneration models drive excessive risk-taking or conflicts of 

interest detriment to the best interest of SEBs clients. As well as, the Group aims that the remuneration to its employees is 

competitive in the markets and segments where the Group operates in order to motivate high performing employees. 
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Information concerning the decision-making process used for determining the remuneration policy, including information on 

the remuneration committee (composition and mandate) 

The Group is guided by the remuneration policy that was approved by the Bank's supervisory council on 18th February 2021. All 
of the Group companies have implemented the remuneration policy requirements. When developing said remuneration policy, no 

services of external advisers were resorted to. 

The Bank's Human Resources Department together with the Compliance and Risk control units, annually reviews the remuneration 

policy and submits proposals on the policy changes. The remuneration policy is approved by the Bank's supervisory council, upon 
approval of the Group’s remuneration committee. The management board of the Bank is responsible for the implementation of the 

remuneration policy. 

Remuneration and Human Resources Committee (31 December 2021) 

The Remuneration and Human Resources Committee (‘Remuneration committee’) provides assistance to the supervisory council 
regarding remuneration, leadership, business continuity and other issues related to the staff as well as proposes candidates to the 

vacant Bank’s bodies and recommends to discuss them in the respective Bank’s bodies. Remuneration committee also performs 

other functions provided for by the remuneration committee regulations and relevant legal acts. 

Candidates to members of the remuneration committee are approved by the supervisory council of the Bank. Persons related to 
the Bank or its subsidiary companies by labour relations as well as members of the Bank's management board may not be elected 

chairman or members of the remuneration committee. 

MATS EMIL TORSTENDAHL  

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) Executive Vice President, Co-head of Corporate & Private Customers. 

JUHA LASSI JONAHHES KOTAJOKI 

Member of the Supervisory Council of AB SEB bankas (independent) 

NINA HAMMARSTRÖM 

Member of the Supervisory Council of AB SEB bankas (independent) 

UAB “SEB Investicijų valdymas” has no remuneration committee, therefore, the functions of a Remuneration Committee provided 

for by legal acts are performed by the Supervisory Council of UAB “SEB Investicijų valdymas”. 

Information on the relation between the remuneration and performance results  

SEB group continuously follows up and secures that the variable remuneration models do not put the employees in conflict of 
interest with its customers, promote appropriate code of conduct behaviour and do not incentivise excessive risk taking. SEB’s 

control functions shall support this follow up. The Remuneration Committee shall in consultation with the Risk and Capital 

Committee examine whether incentives provided by the remuneration systems appropriately take into consideration risk, capital, 

liquidity and the likelihood and timing of earnings. 

Business performance results shall be established by combining the individual performance and balanced risk taking. 

Remuneration shall be established for encouraging both immediate results, as well as long term results, and for encouraging long-

term strategic decisions to ensure a sustained business performance. Total remuneration paid for a specified period shall be 

established taking into consideration several year results and shall not jeopardize the ability for SEB to achieve a positive result of 
the Bank on the aggregated level during a business cycle. 

Individual evaluation is used as a foundation for setting group employee’s remuneration. Individual performance shall be evaluated 

based on the financial and non-financial indicators within the SEB’s target areas derived from the applicable business plan and the 

ambition to deliver world-class services and support to our customers. Individual behaviour shall be evaluated based on the SEB’s 
core values as a starting point. 

The most important design characteristics of the remuneration system, including information on the criteria used for 

performance measurement and adjustment, deferral policy and vesting criteria 

The Group employees’ remuneration consist of the following three elements:  

• base salary (or hourly rate);  

• variable remuneration, which may be allocated according to the following programmes:  

o All Employee Programme  – SEB’s profit allocation programme for all employees of the Group; 

o  
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o individual programme, which is participated by a targeted group of employees and includes variable salary, 

which may consist of two parts: salary in cash and salary in SEB shares or in any other financial instruments 

paid out after a certain set period of time; 

• additional benefits.  

Base salary (or hourly rate) – it is the wages (base pay) established in an employee’s labour contract.  

Variable remuneration – it is a variable portion of remuneration, which may be paid to employees as an extra to the remuneration 

by position – in bonuses, rights to the SEB shares, equity-linked financial instruments, other financial or non-cash instruments, and 

the amount of which depends on an individual employee’s input to the performance of his/her subdivision or of the Group.  

The special requirements for payment of variable remuneration is applied to the Group’s Identified Staff are set in the 
Remuneration Policy. 

SEB’s All Employee Programme (‘AEP’) is  SEB group collective profit allocation programme meant for all SEB employees. The 

AEP outcome depends on factors indicated in the business plan of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ). 50 per cent of 

outcome is disbursed in cash, another 50 per cent share is held for a tree-year period and will be disbursed in cash calculating 
based on the total return of A class shares (TSR) of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), i.e. based on a change in the price 

of a share as well as on the allocation of reinvested dividends for SEB shares.  

Additional benefit – it includes additional health insurance, pension saving contribution, additional annual vacation, additional 

paid vacation to students and other possible benefits. 

The remuneration policy establishes that principles for the determination and payment of variable remuneration to risk-takers 

must be in line with the Group’s long-term continued activities interests, business strategy, objectives, values, and would 

encourage reliable and effective risk management, and employees would not be encouraged to take risk that is excessive and 

unacceptable to the Group. 

Variable remuneration to the Group’s employees whose professional activities and/or decisions taken may have a significant 

impact on the risks assumed by the Group is established according to the impact of their decisions on risk. An employee is 

considered to be able to take decisions that have a significant impact on the risk assumed by the Group (i.e. a’ Identified staff’), if 

the employee meets at least one of the following criteria:  

• employees with leading strategic positions in the Group; 

• heads of key business subdivisions with the authority to take decisions that may have a material impact on the group’s 

activity results; 

• employees with risk control functions; 

• risk-takers, i.e. employees with the right to conclude transactions or assume obligations and/or take decisions and able 

to have a significant impact on the risk assumed by the bank; 

• chairmen of the Group’s New Product/Service Approval Committees and members of the Committees; 

• employees whose remuneration is equal or exceeds the remuneration of the Group’s employees in leading strategic 

positions. 

Variable remuneration for Identified staff is calculated based on the appraisal of a relevant employee’s performance over no less 

than four to five years, and the actual variable remuneration is paid in portions – over a period that matches the Group’s operation 

cycle and operational risk. No less than 50 per cent of the remuneration to such employees must consist of shares or any other 

financial instruments. 

The deferred variable remuneration portion is allocated proportionately over the entire deferral period, and its payment is started 

no earlier than after one year since the end of a relevant employee’s performance appraisal and shall be effected no more than 

once a year. 

In case of financial instruments that constitute a portion of the variable remuneration, a no less than 12 months’ deferral period is 
applied. Such period is reckoned since the time of granting the rights to the financial instruments. This provision applies both to the 

deferred variable remuneration portion and to the variable remuneration portion that is not subject to deferral. 

The ratios between fixed and variable remuneration 

Variable pay shall not exceed 50 per cent of annual base salary. Remuneration Human Resources Committee may decide on a 
different variable compensation and official proportions but variable pay shall not exceed 100 per cent of annual base salary.  

Guaranteed variable pay is not paid in the Group.  
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Information on the performance criteria on which the entitlement to shares, options or variable components of remuneration 

is based 

Group has right to suspend payment of variable pay, a portion or total variable pay if performance of a specific person, business 
unit or a Group generates loss, including not limited to remuneration in cash and in other financial instruments. 

Variable pay, as well as the deferred portion, shall be disbursed and approved if the Group’s financial standing is sustainable and 

shall be related to the performance results of the Group companies, business unit or employee. Variable pay in accordance with 

acts of law of the Republic of Lithuania shall be decreased and shall not be paid if the Group activity results do not meet the ratios 
established in the Group’s business strategy, generates loss, the employee acted in bad faith or his activities resulted in losses for 

the Group. 

All pay outs are subject to risk adjustment which might reduce the final pay-out of the deferred amount. SEB’s implementation of 

the current regulations on risk adjustment of variable compensation stipulates that the deferred amount may be disbursed taking 
into account the following terms: 

• sustainability of the Bank's and/or the Group’s financial standing; 

• implemented annual objectives of an employee, also, adherence to the requirements of the internal legal acts. 

Prior to the disbursement of each deferred portion of the variable remuneration and in each case related to its disbursement the 

above-indicated terms are assessed.  

The employee shall not be allowed to use any individual security strategies or insurance against decrease in variable pay seeking 

to prevent risk effect established in the variable pay calculation models. 

General quantitative information on remuneration 2021  

In the tables presented below all amounts are presented excluding employer’s social costs; 

Number of employees under identified staff category are defined at date December 31, 2021. 
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1 table – General quantitative information on remuneration to  Identified staff of AB SEB bankas, distrib uted by 

categories 

 

Bank, 2021 
MB Management and 
Supervisory function 

Other Senior 
management 

Other Identified staff Total 

Fixed remuneration 1,105 1,239 4,824 7,168 

Number of identified staff   8 9 57 74 

Variable remuneration  130 111 178 418 

Number of identified staff  4 9 23 36 

Of which: cash-based - - - - 

          Of which: deferred - - - - 

Of which: shares or equivalent ownership 

interests 

 

130 

 

111 

 

178 418 

         Of which: deferred 130 111 178 418 

Of which: share-linked instruments or 

equivalent non-cash instruments  

- - - 

- 

         Of which: deferred - - - - 

Of which: other instruments - - - - 

        Of which: deferred - - - - 

Total remuneration (fixed + variable) 1,235 1,350 5,001 7,586 

     

Guaranteed variable remuneration  - - - - 

Number of identified staff  - - - - 

     

Severance payments  292 - 106 398 

Number of identified staff 1 - 2 3 

         Of which: highest payment that has 
been awarded to a single person 292 - 76   

     

Deferred and retained remuneration         

Deferred remuneration awarded for 
previous performance periods 2,468 1,023 1,947 5,438 

         Of which: due to vest in the financial 
year 122 - - 122 

         Of which: vesting in subsequent 
financial years 2,346 1,023 1,947 5,316 

Deferred remuneration awarded before 
the financial year actually paid out in 

the financial year  - - - - 

Deferred remuneration awarded for 
previous performance period that 
has vested but is subject to retention 

periods - - - - 
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2 table – General quantitative information on remuneration to Identified staff of SEB group (AB SEB bankas and UAB 

“SEB investicijų valdymas”), distributed by categories 

 

The Group, 2021 
MB Management and 

Supervisory function 

Other Senior 

management 
Other Identified staff Total 

Fixed remuneration 1,353 1,239 4,824 7,416 

Number of identified staff   11 9 57 77 

Variable remuneration  130 111 178 418 

Number of identified staff  4 9 23 36 

Of which: cash-based - - - - 

          Of which: deferred - - - - 

Of which: shares or equivalent ownership 
interests 130 111 178 418 

         Of which: deferred 130 111 178 418 

Of which: share-linked instruments or 
equivalent non-cash instruments  

- - - 
- 

         Of which: deferred - - - - 

Of which: other instruments - - - - 

        Of which: deferred - - - - 

Total remuneration (fixed + variable) 1,483 1,350 5,001 7,834 

     

Guaranteed variable remuneration  - - - - 

Number of identified staff  - - - - 

     

Severance payments  314 - 106 419 

Number of identified staff 2 - 2 4 

         Of which: highest payment that has 
been awarded to a single person 292 - 76   

     

Deferred and retained remuneration         

Deferred remuneration awarded for 
previous performance periods 2,468 1,029 1,947 5,444 

         Of which: due to vest in the financial 
year 122 - - 122 

         Of which: vesting in subsequent 

financial years 2,346 1,029 1,947 5,322 

Deferred remuneration awarded before 

the financial year actually paid out in 
the financial year  - - - - 

Deferred remuneration awarded for 
previous performance period that 

has vested but is subject to retention 
periods - - - - 
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3 table – General quantitative information on remuneration to Identified staff of SEB group (AB SEB bankas and UAB 

“SEB investicijų valdymas”) by business area  

The Group, 
2021 

MB 
Management 

and 

Supervisory 
function 

Investment 
banking 

Retail 
banking 

Asset 
management 

Corporate 
functions 

Independent 
internal 

control 
functions All other Total  

Total number of 
identified staff 11 5 11 - 34 14 2 77 

Of which: members of 
the MB 11 -  -  -  -  -  -  11 

Of which: other senior 

management -  1 6 - 1 - 1 9 

Of which: other identified 

staff -  4 5 - 33 14 1 57 

Total remuneration of 
identified staff 1,483 345 1,372 - 3,110 1,249 275 7,834 

Of which: fixed 
remuneration  1,353 330 1,283 - 2,948 1,249 252 7,416 

Of which: variable 
remuneration  130 15 89 - 162 - 23 418 

         

 

13. Information about positions held by key management personnel in other companies  

In the table below, information is disclosed about positions held by key management personnel in other companies, as well as place 

of main workplace: 

 

Jonas Ahlström, member of Supervisory Council 

Main workplace 
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) (code 502032-9081, address Kungstradgardsgatan 

8, Stockholm, Sweden), Co-Head of SEB’s Large Corporates & Financial Institutions division 

Other entities, where position is held AS SEB banka (code 40003151743; address Meistaru iela 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas pag., Ķekavas 

nov., Latvia), Member of Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 10004252; address Tornimäe 2, Tallinn, Estonia), Member of Supervisory 
Council 

  

Aušra Matusevičienė, member of Supervisory Council 

Main workplace 
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) (code 502032-9081, address Kungstradgardsgatan 

8, Stockholm, Sweden), Head of Business Transformation in LC&FI 

Other entities, where position is held AS SEB banka (code 40003151743; address Meistaru iela 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas pag., 
Ķekavas nov., Latvia), Member of Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 10004252; address Tornimäe 2, Tallinn, Estonia), Member of Supervisory 
Council 

  

Juha Kotajoki, member of Supervisory Council 

Main workplace Talosakke Oy (code 0777979-0, address Paasikivenkatu 13, Kerava, Finland), Board Member 

Other entities, where position is held AS SEB banka (code 40003151743; address Meistaru iela 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas pag., 

Ķekavas nov., Latvia), Member of Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 10004252; address Tornimäe 2, Tallinn, Estonia), Member of Supervisory 
Council 

JSC “SEB CORPORATE BANK” (code 37515069 ; address 7 Mykhailivska str. 
01001, Kyiv, Ukraine), Member of the Board 

 

(Continued) 
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Nina Hammarstrom, member of Supervisory Council 

Main workplace 
Spotify Technology (Regeringsgatan 19, Stockholm SE-AB SE 111 53), Vice President of 
Strategy Operations & Project Management Office 

Other entities, where position is held AS SEB banka (code 40003151743; address Meistaru iela 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas pag., 
Ķekavas nov., Latvia ), Member of Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 10004252; address Tornimäe 2, Tallinn, Estonia), Member of Supervisory 
Council 

,  

  

Pia Warnerman, member of Supervisory Council 

Main workplace 
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) (code 502032-9081, address Kungstradgardsgatan 

8, Stockholm, Sweden), Senior Advisor 

Other entities, where position is held AS SEB banka (code 40003151743; address Meistaru iela 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas pag., 

Ķekavas nov., Latvia), Member of Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 10004252; address Tornimäe 2, Tallinn, Estonia), Member of Supervisory 
Council 

Gamla Livförsäkringsaktiebolaget SEB Trygg Liv (publ)(code 5164016536; address 
Arsenalsgatan 2, Stockholm, Sweden), Member of the Board 

SEB - Stiftelsen, Skandinaviska Enskilda Bankens Pensionsstiftelse, (code 8020007871; 
address 106 40, Stockholm, Stockholm Sweden), Member of the Board 

SEB’s kollektivavtalsstiftelse för värdesäkringsmede (code RA999999; address, SEB 
ENSKILDA BANKEN 106 40 Stockholm), Member of the Board 

Skandinaviska Enskilda Bankens Personalstiftelse for Rekreationsandamal (code 802000-

7855; address Institutioner & Stiftelser, ST S3, Stockholm ), Member of the Board 

Bankomat AB (code 556817-9716;  address Regeringsgatan 60 

111 56 Stockholm), Member of the Board 

Athina Pehrman, member of Supervisory Council 

Main workplace 
Electrolux Professional AB (code 556003-0354; address Ringvagen 14 Ljungby 341 32 

Sweden), Group Risk Manager 

Other entities, where position is held AS SEB banka (code 40003151743; address Meistaru iela 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas pag., 
Ķekavas nov., Latvia ), Member of Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 10004252; address Tornimäe 2, Tallinn, Estonia), Member of Supervisory 
Council 

PM Fastighetsförmedling AB (code 556655-8929; address Fabrikörvägen 14 131 52 Nacka 
Strand), Member of the Board 

K. Perman Fastighetsförmedling AB (code 556619-1234; address Forelltorget 2 
SE-141 47 Huddinge, Stockhalm), Member of the Board 

Autoliv AB (code  556036-1981, address Klarabergsviadukten 70 

SE-111 64 Stockholm), Director Group Risk Management, Captive and Insurance 

ACap Insurance Inc., President 

  

Mats Torstendahl, member of Supervisory Council 

Main workplace 
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) (code 502032-9081, address Kungstradgardsgatan 
8, Stockholm, Sweden), Deputy President and CEO 

Other entities, where position is held AS SEB banka (code 40003151743; address Meistaru iela 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas pag., 
Ķekavas nov., Latvia), Member of Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 10004252; address Tornimäe 2, Tallinn, Estonia), Member of Supervisory 

Council 

SEB Kort Bank AB (code 556574-6624, address Magnus Ladulåsgatan 2 Stockholm, Sweden), 

Member of Supervisory Council 

SEB Life and Pension Holding AB (code 556201-7904; address SE-106 40 Stockholm), 
Member of the Board 

SEB Pension och Försäkring AB (code 516401-8243; address Stjärntorget 4 169 79, Solna, 
Stockholm ), Member of the Board 

 

(Continued) 
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Erkka Nasakkala, member of Supervisory Council 

Main workplace 
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) (code 502032-9081, address Kungstradgardsgatan 
8, Stockholm, Sweden), Head of Group Risk 

Other entities, where position is held AS SEB banka (code 40003151743; address Meistaru iela 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas pag., 
Ķekavas nov., Latvia), Member of Supervisory Council 

AS SEB Pank (code 10004252; address Tornimäe 2, Tallinn, Estonia), Member of Supervisory 
Council 

  

Sonata Gutauskaitė-Bubnelienė, Head of AB SEB bankas, Chair of Management board 

Main workplace 
AB SEB bankas (code 112021238, address Konstitucijos ave. 24, Vilnius), CEO of the Bank, 
Chair of the Management Board 

Other entities, where position is held SEB Life and Pension Baltic SE (code 40003012938, address Antonijas iela 9, Riga, Latvia), 
Member of Supervisory Council 

UAB “SEB Investicijų Valdymas” (code 125277981, address Konstitucijos ave. 24, Vilnius), 

Member of Supervisory Council 

  

Aivaras Čičelis, member of Management board 

Main workplace 
AB SEB bankas (code 112021238, address Konstitucijos ave. 24, Vilnius), Head of Business 
Support Division and Chief Financial Officer 

Other entities, where position is held Association "Mentor Lietuva" (code 300049687, address Gedimino ave. 12, Vilnius), Chairman 

of the Board 

Association "INVESTORS' FORUM" (code 224996640, address Jogailos str. 9, Vilnius), 

Member of the Board 

Public institution "Baltic Management Institute" (code 195005151, address Konstitucijos ave. 
7, Vilnius), Member of the Board 

  

Vilius Juzikis, member of Management board 

Main workplace 
AB SEB bankas (code 112021238, address Konstitucijos ave. 24, Vilnius), Head of Corporate 

Banking Division 

Other entities, where position is held none 

Rasoul Najafi, member of Management board 

Main workplace 
AB SEB bankas (code 112021238, address Konstitucijos ave. 24, Vilnius), Head of Credits and 

Risk Division 

Other entities, where position is held none 

 (Concluded) 

 

14. Social responsibility report 

The Group and the Bank are referring to SEB group’s consolidated Sustainability report. In addition, the Group and the Bank 

supplement annual report with Sustainability highlights of country specific sustainability related information. SEB group’s 
Sustainability report and Climate report are published on website www.seb.lt. 

Sustainability Highlights 

Banks are central for allocating society's financial resources and the Bank plays an important role in the transition to a sustainable 

society. The Bank will be part of the solution because we believe a sustainable society is economically beneficial for all our 
stakeholders as well as for society at large. To mirror this conviction, we align our strategy with the Paris Agreement and the UN’s 

Sustainable Development Goals.  

The UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), formulated in 2015, form a framework for nations, business and society on how 

to achieve long term economic growth, social inclusion and environmental protection. We have identified and prioritized 5 of the 
goals that are clearly linked to our business strategy and sustainability work. However, the other remaining goals are reflected in 

our decisions, and we have great opportunity to make an impact through the way we work with our clients and society. 
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Corporate clients 

 

We aim to gradually transform the corporate loan portfolio and to increase the share of sustainable businesses. The Bank 

strives to understand where customers face the biggest challenges and what steps they are taking to change that. We are 

ready to advise clients, share expertise and discuss various financial instruments to move faster towards sustainability.  

It is important to note that even a high-carbon emission company today has every opportunity to access finance if it has a clear 

strategy for redesigning its business processes, introducing new technologies and looking for green alternatives to reduce 

emissions and thus achieve the highest sustainability goals specific to that sector. 

The Bank has two types of products for sustainable financing. The first is green loans, which are used to finance sustainable 
projects (such as wind farms). Green loan projects must meet strict sustainability requirements and make a targeted contribution 

to climate change mitigation. The total Green Loan contracts amount reached 80 million EUR by end of 2021. The growth of Green 

loans is expected due to updated framework for green bonds (2022 January) to be more inclusive. For example, the framework 

has been expanded to more categories compared with the initial framework from 2016, meaning that loans for projects in support 
of biodiversity, transition to a circular economy and climate change adaptation can be included in the pool of green loans that are 

financed by the bond. SEB group has raised 1 billion Eur through the issuance of a green bond that will be used to finance green 

loans, in accordance with SEB group’s updated framework for green bonds. 

The second product of sustainable financing is sustainability-linked loans. Businesses, wishing to obtain such a loan, need to set 
sustainability goals, it is necessary for the business to have analysed what is the base of sustainability indicators and where the 

business plans to move in both the short and long term. 

In our region, we started to increase the distribution of loans and strengthen sustainability methodologies and policies last year. 

We aim to gradually transform the business loan portfolio to increase the share of sustainable and transitional businesses and help 
our customers successfully transition to more environmentally friendly businesses. 

In order to increase share of sustainable part of portfolio, we organize advisory meetings on sustainability with corporate clients. 

By advising customers, the Bank offers them added value on how to act sustainably in the market. Those dialogues are embedded 

into our regular corporate banking service model and majority of SME clients meetings. In November 2021, SEB group held a digital 
event to present SEB’s sustainability strategy, including new ambitions and goals in the field of climate, and SEB’s role in supporting 

customers in the transition to a more sustainable future. The event, entitled “Accelerating Change – Partnership for a Sustainable 

Transition”, additionally explored how cooperation and partnership between enterprises, politics and the society can drive the 

changes. Read more: https://sebgroup.com/accelerating 

In 2021, the eighth time, the Bank organized the CFO Survey, which is conducted among the Chief Financial Officers of Baltic large 

corporates. The survey focused on companies’ assessment of the economic situation, main challenges and opportunities in the 

business environment as well as such mega trends as Sustainability and digitalization. This year, 95 companies with an annual 

turnover of at least 20 million euros participated in the survey. We were happy to see that 83% of the CFOs state that they see 
direct financial benefits from reducing the negative impact on environment and that 77% have plans to invest in sustainability in 

the next 12 months. 

Private clients  

 

 

https://sebgroup.com/accelerating
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Impactful pensions and insurance 

The Bank offers wide range of pension savings and personal insurance protection solutions both for private and corporate 

customers. By providing solutions to recover effectively from adverse health risks, ensure household financial resources in case 

of loss of its member, helping to address poverty and ensure financial stability at pension age via promoting responsible pension 
savings and financial literacy, these solutions are key element of each country’s social system and households finance 

sustainability. 

Considering the pension asset size relative to national economy and long-term investment horizon, pension area is key to promote 

and drive the transition to sustainable investments and low carbon economy. This is well recognized by the Bank and our 
sustainability work embraces several perspectives and methods to create value for customers and society at large. We believe 

that sustainability perspective embedded in our investment decision process can not only ensure positive impact on the 

environment but also reduce sustainability-related risks and improve long-term returns. Interaction and balance between 

exclusionary screening, integration of environmental, social and governance (ESG) angles and positive screening, active 
ownership and sustainability themed and impact investing are vital for the generation of sustainable, long-term value. Relevant 

set of sustainability indicators is set and is continuously monitored and improved to ensure sufficient follow up, necessary 

improvements and disclosures on sustainability matters to our customers. 

The share of underlying investments promoting environmental, social characteristics or having sustainable investment as an 
objective has been continuously increasing. As at 31 December 2021. it constituted more than 850 million EUR out of 1.6 billion 

EUR of pension fund assets managed by UAB”SEB Investicijų valdymas”. During 2021 we continued to allocate more assets into 

sustainable investments and have launched website on impactful pensions so that UAB ”SEB Investicijų valdymas” clients could 

learn how their savings are impacting our environment and the whole society.  

Like the years before, the investment area attracted a lot of attention. To raise awareness on this topic the Bank held annual 

investment seminars. These virtual lectures had over 40,000 viewers in total. In addition, the bank introduced several updates to 

improve the customers’ experience in this field. 

In spring, Robo-Advisor tool was introduced in SEB mobile app, which is unique in the Baltic countries. Customers said that they are 
hesitant to start investing, because in their opinion they do not have enough savings, knowledge, or time. Starting to invest together 

with Robo-Advisor takes only 15 minutes. During this time the virtual advisor assesses the customer’s situation and gives an 

investment recommendation, and the customer can start investing with only a few euros per month. As Robo-Advisor is advising 

thousands of customers at the same time, there is no need to book time or wait in the queue.  

Social responsibility  

 

   

In areas such as financial literacy and entrepreneurship skill development we, at the Bank, believe can make a big difference 

to ensure future generations prosperity.  

Teaching school children financial literacy is key 

Financial literacy skills are still an issue in Lithuanian society compared to leading European countries. Helping to bridge the gap, 

the Bank has already for a few years continued financial literacy lessons for children. In 2021, the Bank has held around 250 

lessons which reached over 6,400 children covering topics such as budgeting, investing and basics of entrepreneurship. Moreover, 
more than 120 students in Lithuania, Latvia and Estonia have joined the Bank’s new ambassador program during which each 

student will complete special training, after which they will be able to share their knowledge of financial management, saving, 

investing, entrepreneurship, sustainable activities, financial fraud prevention in their own or other schools. In Lithuania, students 

across 15 difference cities – from Vilnius to smaller towns such as Gargždai, Kėdainiai, Prienai, Raseiniai – have decided to 
participate. After the training session, students will continue to share their knowledge in the schools of their cities after receiving 

knowledge directly from experts in their fields, thus helping to increase the financial literacy of young people in the country.  

The Bank actively participates in supporting initiatives which are raising the new generation of entrepreneurs 

The Bank is a permanent contributor to the fostering of the young generation’s entrepreneurship and is patron of Junior 
Achievement Lithuania for more than 5 years. „Lithuanian Junior Achievement“(LJA) is the leading economic and business 

education program in Lithuania and a part of the global Junior Achievement network. 
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LJA programs reach over 28 thousand students from more than 450 schools yearly. Students participate in business competitions 

and camps, establish real enterprises and compete in national and international events. This year, over 35 the Bank’s mentors 

have helped 3,000 young entrepreneurs develop their first companies and gain practical skills in business. 

The Bank is helping young talent to get valuable practical skills for long lasting careers 

Youth Lab is the Bank’s Baltic’s traineeship program, during which young people have the opportunity to engage in real business 

projects 60% of their time and participate in an innovation program 40% of the time, where the main focus is on developing 

specific projects. In addition to daily tasks, the young people participated in a six-week innovation program, solving six challenges 
relating to the Bank as well as banking in general. 350 students from Lithuania applied and 20 of them did the internship.  

Continuing with educational platform to help aspiring entrepreneurs to get relevant skills and insights 

E-Academy is a dedicated content platform (E. akademija (seb.lt) which allows aspiring entrepreneurs to gain skills and insights in 

areas such as business idea development, sales, growth, business model and others. In 2021 alone, close to 23 thousand visitors 
were sharpening their entrepreneurial skills.  

By sharing best industry practices and insights we aim to help University students to become subject matter experts 

Our colleagues gave lectures at the three largest Lithuanian universities - Vilnius University, Vilnius Tech University and Kaunas 

University of Technology. Collectively, in 2021, employees gave around 15 lectures on various topics such as cash flows and 
forecasts, budget management rules, financial risk management, time management, innovation development and many others. 

 

  
 

Fostering innovations within businesses are one of the key ingredients to ensure decent work and economic growth 

opportunities 

It is critical to ensure that companies not only focus on business as usual but also explore new opportunities for growth 

Since 2018, the Bank is inviting ambitious small and medium size enterprises to join our dedicated and free of charge “SEB Growth 

program” aimed towards accelerating their growth journeys through innovation. In 2021, 13 companies have graduated the 

program while another 13 joined the new batch for 2021-2022. The participants of the program are united not only by their desire 
to innovate and grow but also interest in sustainability. For this purpose, specific areas were selected in which the participants 

deepened their skills and knowledge through lectures and individual sessions. Topics covered included innovation positioning, 

digital sales, sustainability, finances and financing and others. Due to pandemic, the remote format of the program allowed experts 

from Great Britain, the Netherlands, Sweden, Slovakia, Latvia and Lithuania share their insights in public sessions and subsequent 
individual workshops. Throughout 2021, participating companies, with the help of mentors and experts, have worked on solutions 

in waste management, innovative genetic testing, sustainable packaging and foods and even artificial intelligence solutions for 

workforce management.  

The Bank is supporting fintechs on their journeys to create innovative products 

Lighthouse FINITIV is a collaborative program that encourages fintech companies, banks and Mastercard to find synergies and 

grow together. In spring, the Mastercard Lighthouse partnership platform was launched for the fifth time, enabling innovative 

fintechs to develop their product in cooperation with the banks and investors. The Bank is the program’s partner since 2018, after 

it was launched in Vilnius, Stockholm and Helsinki. In 2021, through the program, colleagues from the Bank had a chance to meet 
and workshop with 30 leading fintechs in the region. For the first time, the victory went to the Baltic fintech and the winner was 

Single.Earth, a sustainable development start-up.  

The Bank has continued its support to one of largest festivals of technology and innovation in Lithuania. 

In 2021, the Bank was one of the key partners enabling LOGIN conference to be free of charge and accessible to all virtually. The 
event ran for as long as 5 days and had around 150 keynotes covering interesting and engaging topics. Additionally, we ran a 

contest and provided three individual mentorship sessions with Head of the Bank’s Innovation centre for entrepreneurs to help 

them solve a specific business challenge they faced. 

  

https://eakademija.seb.lt/
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It is extremely important to support causes which help to reduce any existing inequalities in the society as well as ensure 
good health and well-being of people and communities 

It is becoming increasingly important to ensure social equity. The Bank is a long-standing partner with TV3 to organize an annual 

charitable initiative “Dreams come true“ which is dedicated for less fortunate children in our society. With the donated funds, the 

less fortunate children received the necessary treatments and assistance. Raised money provided children with medicines, 
surgeries were performed, medical equipment was bought and additional rehabilitation was provided - all to improve the quality 

of life. Overall, this initiative focuses on reducing any existing inequality for less fortunate children to promote their inclusion into 

society. In the organized initiative in 2021, over 340 thousand euros were collected. 

 

 

There is no doubt that we need collective effort to tackle one of the biggest challenges human beings have ever faced. For 

that, firstly, we need to help educate society not only on the importance of fighting climate change, but also on what action s 
each one of us can take to make a difference. Secondly, as a financial institution, we need to lead by examp le and reduce our 

own direct (through our operations) and indirect (through our financial products) impact to climate change.  

To foster knowledge around sustainability in our society, in 2021 the Bank organized a remote event called “Green Light. A journey 

towards sustainability”. The event covered inspirational and practical tips not only for individuals to become more sustainable but 
also discussed how companies should adopt sustainability into their business models and multiple of benefits associated with it. 

12 speakers shared their stories and insights and over 7 thousand viewers tuned in.  

Additionally, in 2021 the Bank launched a 16 episode long TV show “Silent heroes. Sustainability stories” in order to promote 

sustainable living. It covered multiple stories on how people are embracing sustainability ranging from minimalistic lifestyle, 
sustainable business creation, circular economy, sustainable fashion and agriculture, electric vehicles and many more. The show 

received very good viewership – over 110 thousand views on Youtube alone. 

Lastly, at the end of 2021, SEB in all Baltic countries launched a mobile app called MyFootprint | SEB in Lithuania, Latvia and Estonia. 

The application helps people to measure their personal carbon footprint based on the person's lifestyle and consumer habits in 
five categories: eating habits, housing, commuting, long-distance traveling, and shopping. The practical tool also gives tips and 

tricks on reducing the footprint and an opportunity to take part in gamified challenges with your friends and family to achieve more 

sustainable living together. 

As financial institution, we bear responsibility to help our clients finance their transitions towards becoming more 
sustainable.  

In 2021, in Lithuania we were the first bank to launch a green home loan offering to our clients. Our homes have a big impact on 

the environment. Our greenhouse gas emissions are significantly influenced by the amount of heat and electricity we use at home. 

As a result, we are encouraging the construction and purchase of energy-efficient homes. 

It is well known fact that transport is responsible for almost a quarter of global CO2 emissions. Electric vehicles are an important 

part of meeting global goals on climate change. In 2021, the Bank financed almost three times as many electric cars as the year 

before. The selection and number of electric cars has been growing. Today, the selection includes small and family cars, which are 

long-lasting and comfortable, but most of all environmentally friendly. The Bank promotes choosing electric cars, therefore the 
Bank applies better conditions.  

The Bank’s in Lithuania carbon footprint disclosure and analysis 
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Why is it important for us to measure the Bank’s CO2 emissions? 

Climate change is one of the greatest challenges facing humanity. Collectively human beings emit between 34 billion and 51 billion 
tons of greenhouse gases (GHG) into the atmosphere - a record number compared to the pre-industrial period. The consequences 

for the climate are catastrophic. The rapid rise in the average temperatures will not only lead to more frequent floods, fires and 

droughts, but will also force more than ten million people globally to migrate to more climate-neutral areas. 

Together, we must contribute to reducing emissions associated with climate change. Although we, the Bank, can make the greatest 
impact through issuing credits and other financial products, we are committed to managing and reducing the bank's direct GHG 

emissions. 

Ambitious objectives to reduce carbon footprint are set by the SEB group 

At the group level, we have been measuring our direct impact on the environment since 2008. We have singled out the key 
categories in which we want to see a significant reduction in the CO2 footprint: energy, paper consumption, emissions from air 

travel and land transport. Finally, we have also started tracking waste-related emissions this year. 

The SEB group has four main goals: 

a) Achieve carbon net effect of zero from 2021 onwards 

b) Reduce the carbon footprint to 66% by 2025 compared to 2008 

c) Reduce the carbon footprint to 75% by 2030 compared to 2008 

d) Achieve a near zero CO2 emissions by 2045 

The Bank in Lithuania is also aiming to significantly reduce its CO2 footprint and eventually achieve a near-zero carbon footprint 
by 2045. 

For more information on methodology and our goals, please refer to page 55 of Sustainability report published on www.seb.lt. 

Where do we stand now? 

In 2021, the total amount of GHG emissions in Lithuania amounted to 1,088.5 tons. The biggest footprint was caused by energy 
consumption - both electricity and heating caused 779 tons of CO2. Paper consumption accounted for 37 tons of CO2 emissions 

and car travel for 90 tons. Due to the pandemic situation, the Bank had suspended almost all business trips, resulting in an 

extremely low CO2 footprint associated with air travel - only 2.5 tons (see Table 1). 

Table 1 

 Consumption Associated CO2 emissions % from total emissions 

Electric power 3,431,732 kWh 498 45.8% 

Heating 1,241,727 kWh 281 25.8% 

Paper (incl. hygienic paper) 25,323 kg 37 3.4% 

Travel by car (fuel) 18,787 l (diesel) 

13,034 l (petrol) 90 8.3% 

Taxi (kilometers travelled) 5,552 km 

Travel by plane - 2.5 0.2% 

Refrigerants R407C – 28 kg 

R410A – 15 kg 
69 6.3% 

Waste 106 t 111 10.2% 

Total CO2 emissions - 1,088.5  

When calculating a company's CO2 emissions, they are methodologically separated and categorized into three areas (Scope 1, 2, 

3). The Bank has the largest footprint in Lithuania in scope 2 - 646 tons, which are related to the consumed electricity and heating 
(see Table 2). 
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Table 2 

Scopes Description Emissions tCO2 

Scope 1 

direct GHG emissions from sources that are controlled or owned by the 

organization (e.g. emissions from the combustion of fuels in boilers, vehicles 
or emissions from refrigerants) 

69 

Scope 2 
indirect GHG emissions related to the purchase of electricity, steam, heat or 
cooling 

646 

Scope 3 
Indirect GHG emissions related to assets that do not belong to the reporting 
organization but are related to its activities, such as business travel 

373,5 

Reductions of CO2 emissions 

Even with the added additional category, i.e. emissions of 111 tons associated with waste, the Bank’s CO2 footprint decreased by 

6%, and excluding waste (since the waste footprint was not calculated in 2020), we achieved a 22% reduction. However, it is 
worth noting some part of the CO2 were not included because this year, emissions associated with activities at SEB group's shared 

service centre in Vilnius, were excluded. 

Also, we are currently in line with the commitment to reduce CO2 emissions by 66% by 2025 - we have already reached this target 

in 2021 (see Table 3), but as COVID-19 improves, it is expected that business travel will be resumed. Due to that, it is highly likely 
that in 2022 will see an increase in car travel and flights and, as a result, a larger CO2 footprint 

Table 3 

 2021, tCO2 2009, tCO2 

Energy (electricity and heating) 779 2,224 

Paper 37 174 

Travel by car 90 573 

Travel by plane 2.5 294 

Refrigerants 69 - 

Waste 111 - 

Total 1,088.5 3,265 

The results are good, but there is room for improvement 

There are several areas where we, the Bank, can improve. First, we need to continue to increase the scope of the calculated CO2 
footprint. In the future, we plan to include additional categories, such as the GHG share of all services provided by our suppliers. 

Also, we will continue to reduce CO2 emissions related to energy consumption, i.e. we will increase the proportion of electricity 

consumed that is produced from renewable energy sources, as this makes up a large part of our organization’s carbon footprint. 

Finally, by 2025, we plan to enable customers to avoid using paper when using banking services in our branches and significantly 
reduce the use of paper for internal processes. 
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Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Interest income calculated using the effective interest 

rate method
121,284 119,586 121,347 119,636

Other interest and similar income 17,158 18,621 17,158 18,621

Interest expenses -24,461 -24,172 -24,461 -24,176

Net interest income 4 113,981 114,035 114,044 114,081

Fee and commission income 112,194 103,152 108,507 99,407

Fee and commission expenses -30,868 -29,655 -30,489 -29,259

Net fee and commission income 5 81,326 73,497 78,018 70,148

Net financial income 6 19,757 21,982 19,759 21,983

Dividends 7 -                                -                                3,813 2,054

Other operating income 740 223 731 218

Net other income 740 223 4,544 2,272

Total operating income 215,804 209,737 216,365 208,484

Personnel expenses 8 -49,563 -49,239 -49,051 -48,789

Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible 

and intangible assets 
9 -9,713 -9,221 -9,685 -9,197

Other expenses 10 -22,758 -21,665 -22,253 -21,108

Total operating expenses -82,034 -80,125 -80,989 -79,094

Profit before credit losses 133,770 129,612 135,376 129,390

Net expected credit losses 11 9,019 -13,662 9,019 -13,662

Profit before income tax 142,789 115,950 144,395 115,728

Income tax expense 12 -28,925 -22,819 -28,589 -22,474

Net profit for the year 113,864 93,131 115,806 93,254

The Group The Bank
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2021 2020 2021 2020

Net profit for the year 113,864                   93,131                      115,806                   93,254                      

Other comprehensive income for the year -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total comprehensive income for the year 113,864                   93,131                      115,806                   93,254                      

The Group The Bank
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Note  31/12/2021 31/12/2020  31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Assets

Cash and balances with central bank 13 3,565,509              1,934,827              3,565,509              1,934,827              

Loans to credit institutions 14, 15 619,016                   1,886,403              619,016                   1,886,403              

Loans to the public 15 6,295,169              5,810,488              6,295,169              5,810,488              

Debt securities 16 495,715                   486,885                   495,715                   486,885                   

Derivatives 17 11,512                      16,126                      11,512                      16,126                      

Equity instruments 18 -                                5,204                          -                                5,204                          

Investments in subsidiaries 19 -                                -                                2,871                          2,871                          

Intangible assets 20 14,133                      14,788                      14,133                      14,788                      

Property, plant and equipment 21 11,477                      14,021                      11,448                      13,986                      

Right of use assets 22 28,511                      32,248                      28,349                      32,067                      

Investment property 23 108                              1,064                          108                              1,064                          

Deferred income tax assets 12 11                                  10                                  -                                -                                

Other assets 24 18,239                      25,751                      17,560                      25,109                      

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 25 5,277                          4,999                          6,267                          5,902                          

Total assets 11,064,677           10,232,814           11,067,657           10,235,720           

Liabilities

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 26 208,767                   646,495                   208,767                   646,495                   

Deposits and borrowings from the public 27 9,777,570              8,576,872              9,782,953              8,584,169              

Derivatives 17 10,254                      20,002                      10,254                      20,002                      

Current income tax liabilities 3,211                          1,758                          3,211                          1,758                          

Deferred income tax liabilities 12 1,088                          40                                  1,088                          40                                  

Provisions 28 7,265                          7,970                          7,230                          7,931                          

Other liabilities 29 104,217                   95,201                      104,139                   95,111                      

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 30 7,107                          7,230                          6,976                          7,068                          

Total liabilities 10,119,479           9,355,568              10,124,618           9,362,574              

Equity

Share capital 31 299,564                   299,564                   299,564                   299,564                   

Other reserves 31 223,479                   204,872                   223,191                   204,585                   

Retained earnings 422,155                   372,810                   420,284                   368,997                   

Total equity 945,198                   877,246                   943,039                   873,146                   

Total liabilities and equity 11,064,677           10,232,814           11,067,657           10,235,720           

The Group The Bank



AB SEB bankas  

 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

 (All amounts in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

Page 25 of 109 

 

 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 28 to 105 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

  

The Group
Share 

capital Other reserves Retained earnings Total equity

Balance at 1 January 2020 299,564 190,149 293,918 783,631

Other comprehensive income -                               -                               -                               -                               

Net profit for the year -                               -                               93,131 93,131

Total comprehensive income for the year -                                -                                93,131 93,131

Share-based compensation -                                484 -                                484

Realisation of share-based compensation -                                -261 261 -                                

Transfers to reserves -                                14,500 -14,500 -                                

Balance at 31 December 2020 299,564 204,872 372,810 877,246

Balance at 1 January 2021 299,564 204,872 372,810 877,246

Other comprehensive income -                               -                               -                               -                               

Net profit for the year -                               -                               113,864 113,864

Total comprehensive income for the year -                                -                                113,864 113,864

Share-based compensation -                                654 -                                654

Realisation of share-based compensation -                                -484 484 -                                

Transfers to reserves -                                18,437 -18,437 -                                

Dividends (3.02 euros per share) -                                -                                 -46,566 -46,566

Balance at 31 December 2021 299,564 223,479 422,155 945,198
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The Bank
Share 

capital Other reserves Retained earnings Total equity

Balance at 1 January 2020 299,564 189,862 289,982 779,408

Other comprehensive income -                               -                               -                               -                               

Net profit for the year -                               -                               93,254 93,254

Total comprehensive income for the year -                                -                                93,254 93,254

Share-based compensation -                               484 -                                484

Realisation of share-based compensation -                               -261 261 -                               

Transfers to reserves -                                14,500 -14,500 -                                

Balance at 31 December 2020 299,564 204,585 368,997 873,146

Balance at 1 January 2021 299,564 204,585 368,997 873,146

Other comprehensive income -                               -                               -                               -                               

Net profit for the year -                               -                               115,806 115,806

Total comprehensive income for the year -                                -                                115,806 115,806

Share-based compensation -                                653 -                                653

Realisation of share-based compensation -                                -484 484 -                                

Transfers to reserves -                                18,437 -18,437 -                                

Dividends (3.02 euros per share) -                                -                                 -46,566 -46,566

Balance at 31 December 2021 299,564 223,191 420,284 943,039
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Note 2021
2020 (Restated, 

Note 40)
2021

2020 (Restated, 

Note 40)

Operating activities

Profit before income tax 142,789 115,950 144,395 115,728

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible 

and intangible assets 
9,713 9,221 9,685 9,197

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in ECL allowances -18,290 8,999 -18,290 8,999

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in provisions 1,292 997 1,296 958

Interest income -138,442 -138,207 -138,505 -138,257

Interest expense 24,461 24,172 24,461 24,176

Gain (-) / loss (+) from exchange differences 626 -3,561 626 -3,561

Gain (-) / loss (+) on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment, intangible assets or investment property
7 656 5 689

Increase in share-based compensations 654 484 653 484

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in loans to credit institutions 

and mandatory reserve in central bank
460,467 -791,853 460,467 -791,853

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in loans and advances to 

customers
-468,466 447,445 -468,466 447,443

Net change in derivative financial instruments -5,134 1,712 -5,134 1,712

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in equity instruments -448 -2,199 -448 -2,199

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in other assets 89 14,589 -3,773 12,480

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in balances due to banks -437,617 87,936 -437,617 87,936

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in deposits due to 

customers
1,200,818 1,569,518 1,198,904 1,569,291

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in other liabilities 12,713 -479 12,797 -330

Interest received 139,047 137,722 139,110 137,773

Interest paid -24,533 -26,803 -24,533 -26,807

Income tax paid -26,391 -33,267 -26,095 -32,881

Net cash flows from operating activities 873,355 1,423,032 869,538 1,420,978

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets
-2,299 -12,230 -2,295 -12,230

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment and 

investment property
653 130 653 130

Net cash outflow from debt securities -8,878 -56,796 -8,878 -56,796

Proceeds from equity instruments 12,800 -                                 12,800 -                                 

Dividends received 7 -                                 -                                 3,813 2,054

Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities 2,276 -68,896 6,093 -66,842

Financing activities

Dividends paid -46,566 -                                 -46,566 -                                 

Lease payments -4,677 -4,829 -4,677 -4,829

Net cash flows used in financing activities -51,243 -4,829 -51,243 -4,829

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 824,388 1,349,307 824,388 1,349,307

Net foreign exchange difference -626 3,561 -626 3,561

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2,956,303 1,603,435 2,956,303 1,603,435

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 3,780,065 2,956,303 3,780,065 2,956,303

Cash and cash equivalents include:

Balance available for withdrawal with the Central Bank 13 3,336,206 1,712,839 3,336,206 1,712,839

Cash on hand 13 132,578 139,408 132,578 139,408

Current accounts with other banks 14 311,281 1,104,056 311,281 1,104,056

3,780,065 2,956,303 3,780,065 2,956,303

The Group The Bank
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 

AB SEB bankas (the Bank) is a joint-stock company registered in the Enterprise Register of the Republic of Lithuania, 

Konstitucijos pr. 24, Vilnius. The Bank is registered with registration number 112021238. The Bank and its subsidiaries (the 

Group) are engaged in banking and financial services business. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Bank holds investments 
in the following subsidiaries:  

 
 

On 16 August 2021 the Management board of the Bank has approved the plan to sell 100% of the shares of it’s subsidiary 

company UAB SEB Investicijų valdymas to SEB Life and Pension Baltic SE, member of the SEB group. Decision to sell the subsidiary 
was taken in Supervisory council on 14 July 2021. The sale is expected to be completed within a year from the reporting date. The 

subsidiary was not classified as a discontinued operation due to the fact, that it does not constitute separate major part of business. 

The sole shareholder of the Bank is Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) (SEB Group), who is also the ultimate controlling 

party, registered in Sweden. 

These consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been approved by the 

Management Board on 14 March 2022 and are subject to approval by the shareholder.  

1. Significant accounting policies 

1.1 Statement of compliance 

The financial statements of the Group and the Bank have been prepared in accordance with and comply with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted in the European Union. 

1.2 Basis of preparation 

These financial statements are prepared on historical cost basis, except for the certain financial assets and liabilities (including 
derivative instruments) measured at fair value. The accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements for the 

year ended 31 December 2021 are consistent with those used in the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 

2020 apart from the changes in the method of preparation of cash flow statement, as described in Notes 1.5 and 40. 

The financial statements are presented in thousands of euros, unless otherwise stated. 

1.3 Consolidation 

The subsidiaries being consolidated are listed under section “Corporate Information”. Investments in subsidiaries in the Bank’s 

separate financial statements are accounted for using the cost method less impairment and are initially recognized at cost. 

These consolidated financial statements combine the financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiary. 

1.3.1 Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are companies, over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 

variable returns from its involvement and has the ability to use its power to affect the amount of the returns. Control is deemed to 

exist when the parent company (i) has power to direct relevant activities of the investee that significantly affect their returns, 
(ii) has exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investees, and (iii) has the ability to use its power over 

the investees to affect the amount of investor’s returns. 

The financial statements of the parent company and the consolidated subsidiaries refer to the same period and have been drawn 

up according to the accounting policies applicable to the Group. A subsidiary is included in the consolidated accounts from the time 
of acquisition, being the date when the parent company gains control over the subsidiary. The subsidiary is included in the 

consolidated accounts until the date when control over the company ceases to exist. 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The acquisition value is measured as the fair value of the 

assets given, equity instruments issued, and liabilities incurred or assumed. 
  

Company name Registry code Address Activity

UAB SEB Investicijų valdymas 125277981 Konstitucijos ave. 24, Vilnius
Provision of investment's 

management services
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.3 Consolidation (continued) 

1.3.1 Subsidiaries (continued) 

The identifiable assets acquired, and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 

initially at their fair values on acquisition date, irrespective of any non-controlling interest. Intra-group transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 

1.4 Foreign currency translation 

The functional and presentation currency of the parent company and subsidiaries is Euro. Foreign currency transactions are 

translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates of the European Central Bank prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. On subsequent reporting dates, monetary items in foreign currency are translated using the closing rate. Non-

monetary items, which are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency, are translated using the exchange rate on the 

date of the transaction. Non-monetary items, which are measured at fair value in a foreign currency, are translated applying the 

exchange rate of the European Central Bank on the date on which the fair value is determined. 

Gains and losses arising as a result of exchange rate differences on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in 

profit or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary items, classified as financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss, are included in the change in fair value of those items. 

1.5 Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of presentation in the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand, overnight deposits, 

correspondent accounts with the Central Banks and correspondent accounts with other banks, which are readily convertible to 

known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

In 2021, the Group and the Bank changed the method of reporting of cash flows from operating activities from mixed to indirect. 
Comparative information for the year 2020 was represented accordingly. More information is provided in Note 40. 

1.6 Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group and the Bank become a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument and are measured at fair value on initial recognition. Transaction costs are included in the 
fair value on initial recognition except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, where transaction costs are expensed 

in profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired, the Group and the Bank 

have transferred substantially all risks and rewards and upon substantial modification. Financial assets at fair value are recognised 

in the statement of financial position on trade date with exception of loans, which are recognized on settlement date. Financial 
assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the settlement date. 

The Group and the Bank classify and subsequently measure their financial assets in the following categories: 

- financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL’);  

- amortised cost (‘AC’).  

The classification will depend on if the financial asset is a debt instrument, an equity instrument or a derivative. 

1.6.1 Debt instruments (loans and debt securities) 

The classification is based on a combination of assessing the business model for managing the financial assets and whether the 

contractual cash flow characteristics consist of solely payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’). The business model assessment 
is performed for homogenous portfolios identified based on how the business is managed in the divisions of the Group and the 

Bank. The assessment is based on reasonable scenarios taking into consideration how the portfolio is evaluated and reported to 

management; the risks affecting the performance of the portfolio and how these risks are managed; how managers are 

compensated; and the frequency, value and timing of sales including the reasons for the sales. In determining if the cash flows 
consist solely of principal and interest, the principal is defined as the fair value of the debt instrument at initial recognition, which 

can change over the life if there are repayments or capitalisation of interest. Interest cash flows are consistent with components 

per a basic lending arrangement including consideration for time value of money, credit risk, liquidity risk as well as administrative 

costs and profit margin. If there are contractual features introducing an exposure to other risks or volatility, it is not considered to 
consist of solely payments of principal and interest. Debt instruments are presented in the statement of financial position items: 

Loans to credit institutions, Loans to the public and Debt securities, and include instruments in the following measurement 

categories. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.6 Financial assets (continued) 

1.6.1 Debt instruments (loans and debt instruments) (continued) 

Fair value through profit or loss: Debt instruments are classified in this category if not meeting the criteria for amortised cost or fair 

value through other comprehensive income. This is the case if the business model is held for trading; where financial assets are 
considered held for trading if they are held with the intention to be sold in the short-term and for the purpose of generating profits. 

Debt instruments are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss if the assets are managed and evaluated on a fair 

value basis or the assets are held with an intention to sell alternatively if the cash flows do not consist of solely payments of 

principal and interest. Debt instruments that would otherwise be classified as fair value through other comprehensive income or 
amortised cost are also included in this category if, upon initial recognition, designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value 

option). The fair value option can be applied only in situations where such designation reduces measurement inconsistencies. 

Amortised cost: Debt instruments are classified in this category if both of the following criteria are met: 

(a) the business model objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and  

(b) the contractual cash flow characteristics consist of solely payments of principal and interest. The gross carrying amount of 

these assets is measured using the effective interest method and adjusted for expected credit losses. 

Financial instruments by IFRS 9 measurement categories are presented in the Note 33. 

1.6.2 Equity instruments 

Equity instruments are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. An irrevocable election can be made on 

initial recognition to classify equity instruments (not held for trading) at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

1.6.3 Derivatives 

Derivatives are classified as fair value through profit or loss (held for trading) unless designated as hedging instruments.  

1.6.4 Modification 

The Group and the Bank may renegotiate loans and modify contractual terms. If the new terms are substantially different from the 

original terms, the Group and the Bank derecognize the original financial asset and recognises a new asset. The Group and the Bank 

also assess whether the new financial asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. If the terms are not substantially different, the 
modification does not result in derecognition and the Group and the Bank recalculate the gross carrying amount based on the new 

cash flows using the original effective interest rate of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss. 

1.6.5 Write-off 

The Group and the Bank writes off financial assets measured at amortised cost, in whole or in part, when it is unlikely to collect 
debt from the borrower and it cannot be recovered from a sale of collateral. Write-offs constitute derecognition event and shall 

include amounts caused both by reductions of the carrying amount of financial assets recognised directly in profit or loss as well 

as reductions in the amounts of the allowance accounts for credit losses taken against the carrying amount of financial assets. 

The Group and the Bank may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The outstanding contractual 
amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 31 December 2021 was EUR 3,095 thousand (1,371). The Group and 

the Bank still seeks to recover amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no reasonable 

expectation on full recovery. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.7 Financial guarantees 

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group and the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a 

loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 

Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value (which most often equals the premium received) and 
subsequently at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with the expected credit loss model under IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments and the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised. The 

contractual amounts according to financial guarantees are not recognised in the statement of financial position but disclosed as 

obligations. 

1.8 Expected credit loss 

1.8.1 Measurement 

The impairment requirements are based on an expected credit loss (ECL) model. The guiding principle of the ECL model is to reflect 

the general pattern of deterioration or improvement in the credit quality of financial instruments. All financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, as well as lease receivables, financial guarantees contracts and certain loan commitments are in scope for 

expected credit loss. 

ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised cost and lease receivables are presented as allowances, i.e., as an integral part of 

the measurement of those assets in the statement of financial position. The allowance reduces the gross carrying amount. ECLs on 
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts are presented as provisions, i.e., as a liability, in the statement of financial 

position. Adjustment to the loss allowance and provision due to changes in ECLs is recognised in the income statement as Net 

expected credit losses. 

The assessment of credit risk, and the estimation of ECL, has to be unbiased and probability-weighted, and shall incorporate all 
available information, which is relevant to the assessment, including information about past events, current conditions and 

reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions at the reporting date. SEB Group uses both models 

and expert credit judgement (ECJ) for calculating ECLs. 

The ECL model has a three-stage approach based on changes in the credit risk. A 12-month ECL (Stage 1) applies to all items, 
unless there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. For items where there is a significant increase in credit 

risk (Stage 2) or in default (Stage 3), lifetime ECL applies. 

1.8.2 Significant increase in credit risk 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group and the Bank perform an assessment of whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. The assessment of whether there has been a significant change in credit risk is based on 

quantitative and qualitative indicators. Both historic and forward-looking information is used in the assessment. 

For arrangements with an initial origination date as at 1 January 2018 or later, the primary indicator is changes in lifetime 

probability of default (PD) by comparing the scenario-weighted annualised lifetime PD at the reporting date with the scenario-
weighted annualised lifetime PD at initial recognition. For arrangements with an initial origination date prior to 1 January 2018, 

changes in Group’s and Bank’s internal risk classifications since initial origination are used as the primary indicator. 

Regardless of the quantitative indicator, a significant increase in credit risk is triggered if the following backstop indicators occur: 

-  payments are past due >30 days but <90 days; or 
-  financial assets have been classified as watch-listed; or  

- financial assets are forborne (where due to the customer’s financial difficulties the contractual terms of the loans have 

been revised and concessions given). 

Backstop indicators normally overlap with the quantitative indicator of significant increase in credit risk. 

In case there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an allowance for lifetime ECL shall be recognised 

and the financial instrument is transferred to Stage 2. The approach is symmetrical, meaning that in subsequent reporting periods, 

if the credit quality of the financial instrument improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition, the financial assets move back to Stage 1. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.8 Expected credit loss (continued) 

1.8.2 Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 

If credit quality of financial instrument deteriorates further, the financial instrument is transferred to Stage 3. Transfer to Stage 3 

is triggered if the following indications occur: 

- Payments are past due more than 90 days; 

- Financial instrument is in default (PD = 100 per cent). 

1.8.3 Definition of default 

Financial instruments in default are in Stage 3. The Group and the Bank apply a definition of default for accounting purposes that 
is consistent with how it is defined in the Capital requirements regulation No 575/2013, which includes financial assets past due 

more than 90 days. All financial assets in Stage 3 are considered credit-impaired. 

1.8.4 Modelling 

The ECL is calculated as a function of the probability of default (PD), the exposure at default (EAD) and the loss given default 
(LGD), as well as the timing of the loss. The Group’s and the Bank’s IFRS 9 methodology for ECL measurement is based on existing 

internal rating-based risk models (IRB) to the extent allowed under IFRS 9. As the objectives of these frameworks differ, the 

manner in which the expected credit losses are calculated also differs and appropriate adjustments are made to the IRB 

parameters to meet IFRS 9 requirements. Adjustments include the conversion of through-the-cycle and downturn parameters 
used in IRB risk models to point-in-time parameters used under IFRS 9 that considers forward-looking information. 

PD represents the likelihood that a loan will not be repaid and will go into default in either a 12-month or a lifetime horizon. The 

expected PD for each individual instrument incorporates a consideration of past events, current market conditions and reasonable 

and supportable information about future economic conditions. The Group and the Bank use IFRS 9 specific PD models. The models 
are calibrated based on a combination of geography, assets class and product type. EAD represents an estimate of the outstanding 

amount of credit exposure at the time a default may occur. For off-balance sheet amounts, EAD includes an estimate of any further 

amounts to be drawn at the time of default. For IFRS 9, EAD models are adjusted for a 12-month or lifetime horizon. LGD is the 

amount that may not be recovered in the event of default. LGD takes into consideration the amount and quality of any collateral 
held as well as the probability of cure, whereby the borrower repays all his past due obligations on the defaulted loan and 

recommences contractual repayments. The Group and the Bank use existing LGD models adjusted to meet IFRS 9 requirements. 

When measuring ECL, the Group and the Bank use the maximum contractual period during which the Group and the Bank is exposed 

to risk. All contractual terms are considered when determining the expected life, including prepayment options and extension and 
rollover options. For revolving facilities, such as credit cards, and retail mortgage facilities the expected life is modelled based on 

historical behavior. The residual behavioral expected life for such facilities is based on historically observed survival curve and it 

is affected by the time since origination of the arrangement. 

1.8.5 Forward-looking information 

The SEB Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forward-looking information incorporated 

in the ECL measurement. In order to ensure an unbiased estimation of credit losses under IFRS 9, at least three scenarios are used. 

One of the scenarios is the base case scenario, representing the most likely outcome, which is also applied in the financial planning 

and budgeting process, while other case scenarios represent more positive or negative outcomes. 

The forward-looking scenarios are prepared by SEB Group Economic Research Department. The scenarios are approved by the 

SEB Group Risk Committee. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.8 Expected credit loss (continued) 

1.8.5 Forward-looking information (continued) 

A scenario consists of a qualitative description of the macroeconomic development and a quantitative part, with forecasts of key 

macroeconomic variables for three subsequent years, as well as the likelihood of occurrence (scenario- weight). The scenarios are 
reviewed and updated on a quarterly basis. In case of significant changes in the macroeconomic environment and outlook, the 

scenarios will be updated more frequently. The scenario variables are benchmarked to various external sources of similar forward-

looking scenarios, e.g. from OECD, IMF, EU, national central banks, ECB and governments/ministries of Finance. 

1.8.6 Expert credit judgement 

The Group and the Bank use both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) to determine ECLs. The degree of judgement that is 

required to estimate ECL depends on the model outcome, materiality and the availability of detailed information. The model 

provides guidance and transparency as to how economic events could affect the impairment of financial assets. Model overlay 

may be applied to the modelled outcome to incorporate an estimated impact of factors not captured by the model. Such judgmental 
adjustment to the model-generated ECLs may be applied to significant exposures at a counterparty level. The overlays are decided 

by the relevant credit committee using the model ECLs as guidance. In addition, there may be a need for overlays at a portfolio 

level, which is decided by the SEB Group Risk Committee. 

1.9 Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are measured at fair value on initial recognition. In case the financial liabilities are measured at fair value through 

profit or loss, transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or the issuance of the financial liability are recognised in 

profit or loss. For other financial liabilities direct transaction cost are recognised as a deduction from the fair value. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

The Group and the Bank classify and subsequently measure their financial liabilities in the following categories: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as held for trading. Financial liabilities held for trading are 

derivatives not designated as hedging instruments.  

Other financial liabilities 

The category other financial liabilities primarily include the Group’s and the Bank’s short-term and long-term borrowings. After 

initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Statement of 

financial position’s Items Deposits from central banks and credit institutions, Deposits and borrowings from the public, Other 
liabilities and Debt securities issued are included in this category. 

1.10 Fair value measurement 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place between 

market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price 
for the instrument being measured in an actively traded market. Where the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair 

value is calculated using an established valuation technique. These valuation techniques involve a degree of estimation, the extent 

of which depends on the instrument’s complexity and the availability of market-based data. When valuing financial liabilities at fair 

value own credit standing is reflected. Given the uncertainty and subjective nature of valuing financial instruments at fair value, it 
is possible that the outcomes in the next financial year could differ from the assumptions used. 

For some of the Group’s and Bank’s financial assets and liabilities, especially for certain derivatives, quoted prices are not available, 

and valuation models are used to estimate fair value. As part of the fair value measurement, valuation adjustments are made when 

valuing derivative financial instruments, to incorporate counterparty and own credit risk. The methodologies for estimating 
valuation adjustments are continuously revised as a result of changing market practices in response to regulatory and accounting 

policy changes, as well as general market developments. 

  



AB SEB bankas  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

(All amounts in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

Page 34 of 109 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.11 Offsetting financial transactions 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legal 

right to offset transactions and an intention to settle net or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

1.12 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognized at cost, consisting of the purchase price, non-refundable taxes and other 

direct costs related to taking the asset in to use. Subsequently property, plant and equipment is measured at cost and depreciated 

according to plan on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. The depreciation period for buildings is up to 

50 years, for other property, plant and equipment - between 2 and 10 years. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 

the item will flow to the entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 

the income statement during the reporting period in which they are incurred. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 

comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in the income statement. 

Property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment. 

1.13 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets without physical substance. For an intangible asset to be recognised an 

entity must be able to demonstrate control of the intangible asset, which implies that the entity has the ability to ensure that the 
future economic benefits flowing from the underlying resource will accrue to the company. Intangible assets, other than goodwill, 

are only recognised in the statement of financial position if it is probable that the future economic benefits attributable to the asset 

will accrue to the Group and the Bank and if the acquisition cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Intangible assets are measured initially at acquisition cost, and thereafter at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives, i.e. all intangible assets except goodwill, are amortised on a straight-line basis over their 

useful lives (3 years) and tested for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount may not be recoverable. Internally generated intangible assets, such as software development, are amortised 
over a period of 8 years. 

The recoverable amount of an intangible asset is determined if there is indication of a reduction in the value of the asset. An 

impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset. 

The guidance in IAS 38 Intangible Assets is applied to cloud computing arrangements if the Group and the Bank receives a resource 
it can control, assuming it is not accounting for the intangible asset as a lease. If the cloud computing arrangement does not provide 

the Group and the Bank with an intangible asset for the software (and does not contain a lease), then the right to access the 

underlying software in the cloud computing arrangement is generally a service contract where the fees paid is expensed as the 

service is received. 

1.14 Investment properties 

Investments in properties held in order to receive rental income and/or for capital appreciation are reported as investment 

properties. Investment property is initially measured at its cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

investment property is measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. If any indication exists 
that investment properties may be impaired, the Group and Bank estimates the recoverable amount as the higher of value in use 

and fair value less costs to sell. The carrying amount of an investment property is written down to its recoverable amount through 

a charge to profit or loss for the year. An impairment loss recognised in prior years is reversed if there has been a subsequent 

change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with will flow to the Group and Bank and the cost can be measured reliably. 

All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is 

reclassified to premises and equipment. 

Expected useful lives of the investment property groups – between 25-50 years. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.15 Impairment of non-financial assets 

Assets that are subject to amortisation and depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In such circumstances, the recoverable value of the asset 

is assessed and compared to its carrying value. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 

in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 

identifiable cash flows. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of 

the impairment at each reporting date. 

1.16 Leasing 

1.16.1 The Group and the Bank as lessor 

The receivables from the financial lease agreements are recognised in net present value of the minimum lease payments, from 

which the payments of principal received have been deducted, plus unguaranteed residual value at the end of contract. Lease 
payments collected are allocated between repayment of principal and financial income. Financial income is recognised over the 

rental period based on the pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor’s net investment in the financial lease. 

Initial service fees collected at issuance are included into the calculation of effective interest rate and lessor’s net investment. 

Lessor’s direct expenses, related to the contract, are part of effective interest rate and are booked as decrease of leasing income 
over the period of leasing contract. Allowances for lease receivables are presented on the respective line of statement of financial 

position at negative value. 

The lease receivable from the client is recognised in the statement of financial position as of the moment of delivering the assets 

being the object of the agreement to the client. In case of transactions, in which the assets being the object of the agreement having 
a long delivery term have not yet been delivered to the client, the payments received from the lessees under these agreements 

are recognised in the statement of financial position as prepayments of buyers in line “Other liabilities”. The amounts paid by the 

leasing firm for the assets under lease agreements not yet delivered are recognised in the statement of financial position as 

prepayments to suppliers on the line “Other assets”. 

1.16.2 The Group and the Bank as lessee  

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use 

by the Group and the Bank. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to 

the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability for each period. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be 

determined, or the Group’s and the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of 

the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The lease payments include fixed payments less any lease 

incentives receivable and variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate. 

The Group and the Bank have elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a 

lease term of 12 months or less and leases for low-value assets. The Group and the Bank recognize the lease payments associated 

with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

1.17 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised for present obligations arising as consequences of past events where it is more likely than not that a 

transfer of economic benefit will be necessary to settle the obligation, and it can be reliably estimated. 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments 

of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

Provisions are made for undrawn loan commitments and similar facilities if it is probable that the facility will be drawn by a debtor 

in financial difficulties. ECLs on loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts are presented as provisions. Provisions and 

changes in provisions are recognised in the income statement as Net credit losses. 

Provisions are evaluated at each reporting date and are adjusted as necessary. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.18 Operating income 

1.18.1 Interest income and interest expenses 

The effective interest method is applied to recognise interest income and interest expenses in profit or loss for financial assets and 

financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of 

allocating interest income and interest expenses. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash 

payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial instrument. 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs, fees to be received and paid that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate.  

If a financial asset subsequently has become credit impaired the interest income is recognised applying the effective interest rate 

to the amortised cost, i.e. gross carrying amount adjusted for the loss allowance. In case a financial asset is credit-impaired at initial 

recognition, the expected credit losses are included in the estimated cash flows to calculate a credit adjusted effective interest 
rate, which then is applied to recognise the interest income.  

1.18.2 Fee and commission income 

The recognition of revenue from contracts with customers is reported as fee and commission income. This does not apply for 

revenue from leasing contracts or financial instruments and other contractual obligations within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments.  

Fees that are included in the calculation of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument measured at amortised cost, such 

as loan origination fees, are allocated over the expected tenor of the instrument applying the effective interest method and 

presented in Net Interest income.  

Fee and commission income is recognised to depict the transfer of promised services to the customers in an amount that reflects 

the consideration to which SEB expects to be entitled in exchange for the service. Group’s and Bank’s revenue contracts do not 

typically include multiple performance obligations. The major types of fees by timing of revenue recognition are described below.  

Fee and commission income from services where performance obligations are satisfied over time  

Performance obligations are satisfied over time where the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided 

by the Group's and Bank’s performance as the Group and the Bank performs. 

Securities revenue: revenue from asset management, custody and advisory services is recognized over time. Performance based 

fees are recognised when it is highly probable that a significant reversal of recognised revenue will not occur, which is when the 
performance criteria are fulfilled. 

Deposit revenue: fee income charged for the current account handling is recognized over time.  

Payment revenue: payment service plans fee, subscription fees are recognized over time. 

Lending revenue: commitment fees related to the undrawn portion of the loan commitment and, as such, change based on the 
portion of the unused commitment at that time. In such circumstances, the fee is not related to the amount being lent, but relates 

to a service being provided by the Group and the Bank, and is accounted for as a service over time in accordance with IFRS 15. 

Guarantees revenue: income from issued financial guarantees is amortised over the duration of the instrument and recognized over 

time. 

Fee and commission income from providing services where performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time 

Services provided where the Group's and Bank’s performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time are recognized once 

control of the services is transferred to the customer. This is typically on completion of the underlying transaction or service. 

Card payments revenue: fee income from cards transactions, interchange fees, income from cash management activities is 
generally recognized when the service is provided. 

Payments revenue: income from money transfer services is recognized at the time of transaction. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.18.2 Fee and commission income (continued) 

Other revenue: other fees and commissions are mainly recognized at point in time, when control of the service is transferred to the 

customer. 

Expenses that are directly related to the generation of fee and commission income are recognised as fee and commission expense. 

1.18.3 Net financial income  

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 

are reported under the item Net financial income.  

1.18.4 Dividend income  

Dividends are recognised when the entity’s right to receive payment is established. 

1.19 Employee benefits 

1.19.1 Short-term benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave that are expected to 
be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised 

in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 

the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as Accrued expenses and prepaid income in the statement of financial 

position. 

1.19.2 Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or 

whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group and the Bank recognize 

termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed either to terminate the employment of current employees according to a 
detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 

voluntary redundancy. 

1.19.3 Defined contribution plans 

The Group and the Bank is paying into the defined contribution plans or life insurance contracts on behalf of its employees. A 
defined contribution plan is a pension plan where the Group and the Bank pays a contribution to SEB Life and Pension Baltic SE 

Lithuanian branch and has no further obligation once the contribution is paid. Pension costs for defined contribution plans of life 

insurance premiums are recognised as an expense during the period the employees carry out the service to which the payment 

relates.  

1.19.4 Share-based payments  

The Group and the Bank operate a share-based incentive programme based on Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) shares, 

under which it awards SEB equity instruments to its employees. Only key persons can participate in those programmes. The 

programme, referred to above, is the Share Deferral Program (SDP). Equity-settled share-based incentive programmes entitle 
employees to receive SEB equity instruments. Fair value of these rights is determined by using appropriate valuation models, 

taking into account the terms and conditions of the award and the Group’s and the Bank’s estimate of the number of rights that will 

eventually vest, which is reassessed at each reporting date. The recording of expenses will last until the end of the qualification 

period of the respective programs. 

The cost of equity-settled share-based incentive programmes is measured by reference to the fair value of equity instruments on 

the date they are granted and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period with a corresponding 

increase in equity. The vesting period is the period that the employees have to remain in service in SEB in order for their rights to 

vest.  
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.20 Taxes  

The Group’s and the Bank’s tax for the period consists of current and deferred tax. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current 

and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to or from tax authorities using the tax rates and tax laws that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax is calculated based on the taxable results for the 
period. Deferred tax arises due to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. 

Current tax and deferred tax are generally recognised in profit or loss. However, tax that relates to items recognised in other 

comprehensive income is also reported directly in other comprehensive income. Deferred tax assets are recognised in the 

statement of financial position to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available, against which they can 
be utilized.  

1.21 Fiduciary activities 

The Group and the Bank provides asset management services and offers fund management services. The assets owned by third 

parties, but managed by the Group and the Bank, and income arising thereon, are excluded from these financial statements, as 
they are not assets of the Group and the Bank. Assets managed by the Group and the Bank and commissions received from 

fiduciary activities are disclosed in Note 32. Commission income is presented in fee and commission income.  

1.22 Share capital, equity reserves and dividends 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as 
a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par value of shares 

issued is recorded as share premium in equity. 

The reserves recorded in equity on the Group’s and Bank’s statement of financial position include: 

Reserve capital 

Reserve capital, in accordance with the legislation for banks operating in Lithuania, can only be offset with the future losses or 

used for the increase of share capital.  

Legal reserve 

Legal reserve, in accordance with the legislation for banks operating in Lithuania can only be offset with the future losses. Annual 
contributions in amount not less than 1/20 per cent of distributable profit are mandatory according to the Law on Banks of the 

Republic of Lithuania. 

General and other reserves 

General and other reserves represent general reserve for possible losses, that can only be offset with the current losses, and share 
based compensation reserve , that will be paid in the share capital equivalent of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) Class A 

shares to employees participating in the share based premium program.  

Dividends are recorded in equity in the period in which they are declared. Any dividends declared after the end of the reporting 

period and before the financial statements are authorised for issue, are disclosed in the subsequent events note.  

1.23 New and revised standards and interpretations 

1.23.1 Standards and interpretations effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the following amended IFRSs 

which have been adopted by the Group and the Bank as of 1 January 2021: 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.23 New and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.23.1 Standards and interpretations effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 (continued) 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 – IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (Amendments). In August 2020, the IASB 

published Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2, Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, completing its 
work in response to IBOR reform. The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when 

an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR). In particular, the amendments 

provide for a practical expedient when accounting for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial 

assets and liabilities, to require the effective interest rate to be adjusted, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest. 
Also, the amendments introduce reliefs from discontinuing hedge relationships including a temporary relief from having to meet 

the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component. There are also 

amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to enable users of financial statements to understand the effect of 

interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments and risk management strategy. While application is 
retrospective, an entity is not required to restate prior periods. The amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the 

Group and the Bank. 

IFRS 16 Leases-Cοvid 19 Related Rent Concessions (Amendment). The amendment applies, retrospectively, to annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application is permitted, including in financial statements not yet authorized for 
issue at 28 May 2020. IASB amended the standard to provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease 

modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. The amendment provides 

a practical expedient for the lessee to account for any change in lease payments resulting from the covid-19 related rent 

concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change was not a lease modification, only if all of 
the following conditions are met: 

- The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the 

consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change. 

- Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021. 
- There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 

The amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

1.23.2 New accounting pronouncements 

Certain new or revised standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for the Group’s and the Bank’s annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and which the Group and the Bank have not early adopted. 

Amendment in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Sale or 

Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture. The amendments address an acknowledged 

inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between 
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognized 

when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognized when a 

transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. In December 2015 

the IASB postponed the effective date of this amendment indefinitely pending the outcome of its research project on the equity 
method of accounting. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management is assessing if there will be a material 

effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments). The amendments 

were initially effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 with earlier application permitted. 
However, in response to the covid-19 pandemic, the Board has deferred the effective date by one year, i.e. 1 January 2023, to 

provide companies with more time to implement any classification changes resulting from the amendments. The amendments aim 

to promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies determine whether, in the statement of financial 

position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date should be classified as current or non-current. The 
amendments affect the presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial position and do not change existing requirements 

around measurement or timing of recognition of any asset, liability, income or expenses, nor the information that entities disclose 

about those items. Also, the amendments clarify the classification requirements for debt which may be settled by the company 

issuing own equity instruments.  
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.23 New and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.23.2 New accounting pronouncements (continued) 

In November 2021, the Board issued an exposure draft (ED), which clarifies how to treat liabilities that are subject to covenants 

to be complied with, at a date subsequent to the reporting period. In particular, the Board proposes narrow scope amendments to 
IAS 1 which effectively reverse the 2020 amendments requiring entities to classify as current, liabilities subject to covenants that 

must only be complied with within the next twelve months after the reporting period, if those covenants are not met at the end of 

the reporting period. Instead, the proposals would require entities to present separately all non-current liabilities subject to 

covenants to be complied with only within twelve months after the reporting period. Furthermore, if entities do not comply with 
such future covenants at the end of the reporting period, additional disclosures will be required. The proposals will become 

effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and will need be applied retrospectively in accordance 

with IAS 8, while early adoption is permitted. The Board has also proposed to delay the effective date of the 2020 amendments 

accordingly, such that entities will not be required to change current practice before the proposed amendments come into effect. 
These Amendments, including ED proposals, have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management is assessing if there will be a 

material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

IFRS 3 Business Combinations; IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

as well as Annual Improvements 2018-2020 (Amendments). The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2022 with earlier application permitted. The IASB has issued narrow-scope amendments to the IFRS Standards 

as follows: 

- IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendments) update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for Financial 

Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations. 
- IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (Amendments) prohibit a company from deducting from the cost of property, plant and 

equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the company is preparing the asset for its intended use. 

Instead, a company will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss. 

- IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (Amendments) specify which costs a company includes in 
determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous. 

- Annual Improvements 2018-2020 make minor amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 

Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 41 Agriculture and the Illustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 16 Leases 

Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

IFRS 16 Leases-Cοvid 19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment). The Amendment applies to annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021, with earlier application permitted, including in financial statements not yet 

authorized for issue at the date the amendment is issued. In March 2021, the Board amended the conditions of the practical 

expedient in IFRS 16 that provides relief to lessees from applying the IFRS 16 guidance on lease modifications to rent concessions 
arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. Following the amendment, the practical expedient now applies to rent 

concessions for which any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided 

the other conditions for applying the practical expedient are met. Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the 

financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies (Amendments). The 

Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier application permitted. The 

amendments provide guidance on the application of materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. In particular, the 

amendments to IAS 1 replace the requirement to disclose ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose ‘material’ 
accounting policies. Also, guidance and illustrative examples are added in the Practice Statement to assist in the application of the 

materiality concept when making judgements about accounting policy disclosures. Management is assessing if there will be a 

material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments). The 
amendments become effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier application 

permitted and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that 

period. The amendments introduce a new definition of accounting estimates, defined as monetary amounts in financial statements 

that are subject to measurement uncertainty. Also, the amendments clarify what changes in accounting estimates are and how 
these differ from changes in accounting policies and corrections of errors. Management is assessing if there will be a material 

effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

1.23 New and revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

1.23.2 New accounting pronouncements (continued) 

IAS 12 Income taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments). The 

amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier application permitted. In May 
2021, the Board issued amendments to IAS 12, which narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception under IAS 12 and 

specify how companies should account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. Under 

the amendments, the initial recognition exception does not apply to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal 

taxable and deductible temporary differences. It only applies if the recognition of a lease asset and lease liability (or 
decommissioning liability and decommissioning asset component) give rise to taxable and deductible temporary differences that 

are not equal. The Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management is assessing if there will be a material effect 

on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 

1.24 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies 

1.24.1 Expected credit loss model 

When calculating expected credit loss (ECL) there are a number of key concepts that require a high level of judgement. Estimating 

expected credit loss is, by its very nature, uncertain and the accuracy of these estimates depends on many factors, e.g. 

macroeconomic forecasts and involves complex modelling and judgements. At the end of each reporting period the Group and the 
Bank performs an assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition by considering the change 

in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument, using key risk indicators that are used in the 

Group’s and Bank’s existing risk management processes. Another area requiring significant judgement is the incorporation of 

forward-looking information and macroeconomic scenarios. IFRS 9 requires an unbiased and probability-weighted estimate of 
credit losses by evaluating a range of possible outcomes that incorporates forecasts of future economic conditions. SEB Group 

uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forward-looking information in the ECL measurement. SEB 

Group uses both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) in order to determine ECLs. The objective of applying ECJ is to 

incorporate the estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelled ECL. The degree of judgement that is required to estimate 
expected credit losses depends on the outcome from calculations, materiality and the availability of detailed information. The 

models, assessment and assumptions are regularly reviewed by the risk organization of the SEB Group and approved by the SEB 

Group Risk Committee. The assumptions and sensitivity analysis are further described in Note 2.1. 

1.24.2 Fair value of derivatives 

The fair values of financial derivatives that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using valuation techniques. All such 

not quoted derivative financial transactions are entered into with third parties and mirror transactions are entered into with SEB 

Group. Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically 

reviewed by qualified personnel independent of the area that created them. All models are certified before they are used, and 
models are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices. For pricing of options Black-

Scholes model is used, with only observable market data (e.g. historical volatility, market interest rates, market prices). Further 

details of major assumptions of fair values of derivatives provided in the Note 3 Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities.  

 
 

  



AB SEB bankas  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

(All amounts in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

Page 42 of 109 

2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT  

The Group and the Bank define risk as the possibility of a negative deviation from an expected financial outcome. Group’s and 

Bank’s profitability is directly dependent upon its ability to evaluate, manage and price the risks encountered, while maintaining 

an adequate capital and liquidity position to meet unforeseen events. The Supervisory Board is responsible for setting the 

maximum acceptable levels of risks to be taken by the Group and the Bank. The risk tolerance statements convey the direction 
and level of risk, funding structure, and necessary liquidity and capital buffers. 

The Group’s and Bank’s main risk is credit risk. Other risks include market risk, non-financial risk, business risk, and liquidity risk. In 

order to cover the risks, the Group and the Bank hold a capital buffer and liquidity reserves in case of unforeseen events. The Group 

and the Bank strive to continuously identify and manage risks in their operations, both existing and emerging risks, in a designated 
risk management process. The aggregate risk profile of the Group and the Bank are regularly monitored and reported to the 

management bodies. In the annual capital adequacy process, the capital needs are evaluated based on the risk profile and future 

business strategy, taking into consideration the financial stability requirements of the regulators, debt investors, business 

counterparties and shareholders ’required rate of return. 
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

Risk profile 

 

Risk type  Risk tolerance statements in brief 

SEB Bankas Group shall 

 2021 development and position 

Credit risk and asset 
quality 

 Have a robust credit culture based on long-
term relationships, knowledge about the 

customers and focus on their repayment 

ability. This will lead to a high-quality credit 

portfolio. 

 • The Group and the Bank have a well-
balanced credit portfolio with main exposure 

to corporates and households in Lithuania. 

• Despite COVID-19 pandemic credit 

portfolio quality remained strong. 

• The Group and the Bank strengthened 

monitoring of credit metrics. 

Market risk  Achieve low earnings volatility by 

generating revenues based on customer-

driven business. 

 • Market risk arises in SEB's customer-

driven trading activity and its liquidity 

portfolio. Generally, Group's and Bank’s 
market risk is low. 

• Interest rate risk arises due to mismatches 

in rates and maturities in the bank's assets 

and liabilities and is managed by the 
Treasury function. 

Non-financial and 

reputational risk 

 Strive to mitigate non-financial risks in all 

business activities and maintain the bank’s 

reputation. 

 • Continuously working to maintain an 

effective internal control framework and 

ensure a structured and consistent usage of 
risk mitigating tools and processes for all 

identified non-financial risks. 

• Managing and mitigating IT, cyber and 

information risks are key priorities to ensure 
secure and available information, services 

and products for customers. 

• To manage effects from COVID-19 

pandemic additional business continuity 
measures were still applied, including critical 

function physical split, remote working and 

adjusted service model. 

Liquidity and funding 

risk 

 Have a soundly structured liquidity 

position and sufficient liquid reserves to 
meet potential net outflows in a stressed 

scenario. 

 • Strong liquidity position, large buffers 

above regulatory ratios 

• Group’s and Bank’s primary funding 

sources are customer deposits and 

wholesale funding. 

Aggregated risk and 

capital adequacy 

 Maintain satisfactory capital strength in 

order to sustain aggregated risks and 
guarantee the bank’s long-term survival and 

its position as a financial counterparty, while 

operating within regulatory requirements. 

 • The Group and the Bank are strongly 

capitalised in relation to regulatory capital 
requirements. 

• The aim is to hold a capital adequacy 

buffer of around 150 basis points above the 

regulatory requirement. 
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.1 Credit risk 

Definition 

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of an obligor to fulfil its obligations towards the Group and the Bank. The definition 

also comprises counterparty risk derived from the trading operations, country risk, settlement risk, and credit concentration risk.  

Credit risk is the main risk in the Group and the Bank, which arises in the lending and commitments to customers, including 

corporates, financial institutions, public sector entities and private individuals. This is referred to as the credit portfolio. Group’s 

and Bank’s total credit exposure consists of the credit portfolio as well as debt instruments. 

Risk management 

Credit policies and approval process 

The main principle in the Group’s and Bank’s credit policy is that all lending is based on credit analysis and is proportionate to the 

customer’s cash flow and ability to repay. The customer shall be known by the bank and the purpose of the loan shall be fully 

understood. The business units take full responsibility of the credit risk until repayment. 

A credit approval is based on an evaluation of the customer’s creditworthiness and type of credit. Relevant factors include the 

customer’s current and anticipated financial position and protection provided by covenants and collateral. A credit approval takes 

the proposed transaction into account as well as the customer’s total business with the bank. The credit decision also includes a 

risk classification of the customer based on this analysis. The process differs depending on the type of customer (e.g., retail, 
corporate or institutional), risk level, and size and type of transaction. For larger corporate customers, independent and 

professional credit analysis is particularly important, and decisions are mostly taken by a credit committee. For households and 

small businesses, the credit approval is often based on credit scoring models. Deciding on the risk taking is performed collegially 

by credit committees or by the authorised persons in accordance with the decision-making limits established by the bank’s 
management. 

The Group’s and Bank’s credit policies reflect the Group’s and Bank’s approach to sustainability as described in the Corporate 

Sustainability Policy, the Environmental Policy, the Human Rights Policy, and the Credit Policy on Corporate Sustainability. Position 

statements on climate change, child labor and access to fresh water as well as number of industry sector policies are considered 
in the credit granting process and are also used in customer dialogues. Environmental, social and governance risks are considered 

in the credit analysis. 

Risk mitigation 

In order to reduce the credit risk, a number of credit risk mitigation techniques are used. The method used depends on its suitability 
for the product and the customer in question, its legal enforceability, and on the Group’s and the Bank’s experience and capacity 

to manage and control the particular technique. The most important credit risk mitigation techniques are collateral pledges and 

guarantees. The most common types of pledges are real estate, floating charges (commercial pledge – account receivable, 

inventories, machinery, equipment and vehicles) and financial securities. The main guarantors are state, municipalities and credit 
institutions whose creditworthiness is assessed by the same methods and the frequency as the same customer group borrower’s 

creditworthiness. For large corporate customers, credit risk is often mitigated by the use of covenants.  

The Group’s and the Bank’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not significantly changed during the reporting period and 

there has been no significant change in the overall quality of the collateral held by the Group and the Bank since the prior period. 

Limits and monitoring 

To manage the credit risk for individual customers or customer groups, a limit is established that reflects the maximum exposure 

that the Group and the Bank are willing to accept.  

The Group and the Bank continuously review the quality of its credit exposures. All limits and risk classes are reviewed at least 
annually by a credit approval body (a credit committee consisting of at least two bank officers as authorised by the Credit 

Instruction, adopted by the Management Board). 

For regular monitoring of private individuals and small corporates - retail portfolio - the behavioral scoring models are in use. The 

models are based on the application scoring models used in loans analysis process. Client executives have an obligation to update 
financials of small corporates at least once a year. Behavioral score is calculated quarterly for all private individuals and small 

corporates loans. 

Collateral values are reviewed on a regular basis, e.g. through annual customer reviews by credit committees or annual in-house 

indexation.  
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.1 Credit risk (continued) 

Weak or impaired exposures are subject to more frequent reviews. The objective is to identify credit exposures with an elevated 

risk of loss at an early stage and to work together with the customer towards a solution that enables the customer to meet its 

financial obligations and the Group and the Bank to avoid or limit credit losses. Problem exposures and recovering written-off loans 
are handled by Special Credit Management Division by using several methods: negotiations with clients, rehabilitation, execution, 

bankruptcy proceedings. Special Credit Management Division specialists are involved with problem loans (or potential problem 

loans) at the early stage to ensure most valuable outcome for both the client and the bank. 

Allowances are made for expected credit losses of financial assets in scope of the accounting standard IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments. The guiding principle of the expected credit loss model is to reflect the general pattern of deterioration or 

improvement in the credit quality of the assets.  

Loans where the contractual terms have been amended in favor of the customer due to financial difficulties are referred to as 

forborne loans. Forbearance measures range from amortisation holidays (the most common measure) to refinancing with new 
terms and debt forgiveness. A relevant credit approval body shall approve the forbearance measures as well as the classification 

of the loan as being forborne or not. 

Credit portfolio analysis and stress tests 

The risk organisation regularly reviews and assesses the aggregate credit portfolio based on industry, geography, risk class, 
product type, size and other parameters. Risk concentrations in geographic and industry sectors as well as in large single names 

are thoroughly analysed, both in respect of direct and indirect exposures and in the form of collateral, guarantees and credit 

derivatives.  

Stress tests of the credit portfolio, including reverse stress tests, are performed regularly as a part of the Group’s and the Bank’s 
annual internal capital adequacy assessment process. Specific analyses and stress tests of certain sectors or sub-portfolios are 

performed as required. 

Risk measurement 

Credit risk is measured for all exposures, both in the banking book and the trading book.  

The Group and the Bank divide loan portfolio into two broad segments:  

1) non-retail portfolio including loans to legal entities belonging to counterparty group’s with credit risk assumed by the Group and 

the Bank exceeding 500 000 euros (500 000); and  

2) retail portfolio consisting of small businesses’ and private individuals’ sub-segments.  

An internal ratings-based (IRB) risk classification system approved by the regulator is used for the majority of the Group’s and the 

Bank’s portfolios and reflects the risk of default on payment obligations.  

For significant corporate portfolios, the risk classification system contains specific rating tools and PD (probability of default) 

scales. Larger and mid-sized counterparties are measured on a risk class scale of 1–16, while Small and Medium-sized Enterprises 
(SMEs) are measured on a scale of 1–12. Defaulted counterparties are given the highest risk class, and the three risk classes prior 

to default are defined as “watch list”. For each risk class scale, the Group and the Bank makes individual one-year, through-the-

cycle probability of default estimates, which are based on more than 20 years of internal and external data. 

For private individuals and small businesses, the Group and the Bank use credit scoring systems to estimate PD for the customer. 
The scoring model for small businesses considers financial condition based on last two annual reports, credit history with the bank 

and based on external credit history register, experience of the customer. The outcome of the scoring model is credit score, 

expressing risk level and determining decision-making level. Depending on the score clients are divided into quality classes A, B, C 

and D, where A is the best and D is the worst quality class. Customers with insufficient information for score calculation are included 
to the worst quality class. In addition, there is the quality class E for defaulted credit arrangements. 

In analyzing loans to private individuals, the credit scoring and left-to-live model (this measures the customer’s ability to service 

the loan taking into account net income and cost of living) is used. The output of the model is credit score. Based on the score the 

credit arrangements are divided into quality classes A, B, C, and D, where A is the best and D is the worst quality class. Defaulted 
arrangements are in quality class E. 

Following supervisory approval, a revised definition of default has been in use since November 2021 to meet the latest regulatory 

expectations. 
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.1 Credit risk (continued) 

Counterparty risk in derivative contracts 

The Group and the Bank enter into derivatives contracts primarily to support customers in the management of their financial 
exposures and then normally manages the resulting positions by entering offsetting contracts with the parent company. 

Counterparty credit risk in derivative contracts is the risk of a counterparty not living up to its contractual obligations where the 

Group and the Bank have a claim on the counterparty. The claim on the counterparty corresponds to a net positive exposure in 

favor of the Group and the Bank. Since the market value of a derivative fluctuates during the term to maturity, the uncertainty of 
future market conditions must be taken into account and a credit risk equivalent is calculated. 

Credit risk related to derivatives is presented in Note 3 Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities. So, in the Credit risk 

chapter we concentrate on the credit risk arising from loans and receivables from customers and credit institutions (other credit 

institutions). 

Counterparty risk in derivative contracts affects the profit and loss through credit/debit valuation adjustments (CVA/DVA) 

reflecting the credit risk associated with derivative positions. These adjustments depend on market risk factors such as interest 

rate, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads.  

Measurement of ECL allowances 

The Group and the Bank uses both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) for calculating ECL allowances. The degree of 

judgement depends on model outcome, materiality and information available and ECJ may be applied to incorporate factors not 

captured by the models. In 2020 and 2021, ECJ was used to estimate model overlays to capture potential negative effects on the 

asset quality arising from the uncertain economic outlook in light of the COVID-19-pandemic. The model overlays were determined 
through top-down scenario analysis combined with bottom-up customer analysis of larger corporate customers and exposed 

sector analysis for other customer segments. 

Key macroeconomic variable assumptions for calculating ECL allowances 

Macroeconomic forecasts made by SEB Group’s economic research department are used as the basis for the forward-looking 
information incorporated in the ECL measurement. In order to ensure an unbiased estimation under IFRS 9, at least three scenarios 

are used with different probability weightings. The base case scenario represents the most likely outcome and is also applied in 

the financial planning and budgeting process, while the other scenarios represent more positive and negative outcomes 

respectively. The probability weightings assigned to each scenario are determined using a combination of statistical analysis and 
expert judgment. The scenarios and their probability weightings are reviewed every quarter, or more frequently when appropriate 

due to rapid or significant changes in the economic environment. 

In 2021, the scenarios have been reviewed and updated to reflect the changing economic outlook as a result of the development 

of the Covid-19 pandemic. No changes have been made to the method used for incorporating forward-looking information in the 
modelling. The three scenarios - base, positive and negative scenarios - are based on different assumptions around how rapidly 

economies will reopen following the pandemic as well as effects of inflation and monetary policies. The base scenario assumes a 

balanced economic recovery despite new Covid-19 waves. The table below sets out the key macroeconomic assumptions of the 

latest base case scenario which was used for estimating ECL allowances as of 31 December 2021. A further description of the 
scenarios is available in SEB's Nordic Outlook from November 2021. 

  

Source: SEB's Nordic Outlook from November 2021 

  

Lithuania 2022 2023 2024

Domestic GDP growth 3.6% 3.3% 3.0%

Real estate price growth 3.0% 4.0% 3.0%

Unemployment rate 6.5% 6.1% 6.0%

Household consumption expenditure growth 3.6% 3.3% 3.2%

Residential real estate price growth 9.0% 7.0% 5.0%

Nominal wage growth 8.7% 6.5% 5.0%

Inflation rate 5.4% 2.3% 2.1%
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.1 Credit risk (continued) 

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance of the non-retail, retail corporates and private individuals portfolios, 

respectively, are as follows: 

Non-retail and retail corporates portfolios:   

(i) GDP  impact on companies' performance  

(ii) Commercial real estate price development impact on collateral valuations 

    

Private individuals’ portfolios:   

(i) Unemployment rate impact on borrowers' ability to meet their contractual repayments 

(ii) Household consumption expenditure growth impact on borrowers' ability to meet their contractual obligations 

(iii) Residential real estate price growth impact on mortgage collateral valuations 

The positive scenario assumes a combination of pent-up consumption needs and a high level of household savings represents 
upside potential. A robust increase in consumption may also lead to a positive spiral that drives broad-based capital spending. 

Ensuring that such a scenario is sustainable requires a highly favorable labor supply trend, but above all that new investments 

actually lead to clear productivity improvements. The negative scenario reflects the risk of inflation and failures related to central 

bank exit strategies. If labor market shortages do not ease, wages may surge − showing that current macro forecasts and financial 
market pricing are based on an overly positive view of the supply side. Central banks could then choose to tighten their policies, 

triggering major stock market and home price declines. If they did not act, inflation expectations would instead take off, losing 

touch with inflation targets. In the estimation of ECL allowances as of 31 December 2021, the probabilities of the three scenarios 

were 65 per cent (55 per cent as of year-end 2020) for the base scenario, 15 per cent (20) for the positive scenario and 20 per 
cent (25) for the negative scenario. 

Sensitivity analysis of macroeconomic assumptions 

In general, a worsening of the outlook on forecasted macroeconomic variables for each scenario or an increase in the probability 

of the negative scenario occurring will both increase the number of loans migrating from Stage 1 to Stage 2 and increase the 
estimated ECL allowances. On the other hand, an improvement in the outlook on forecasted macroeconomic variables or an 

increase in the probability of the positive scenario occurring will have the opposite positive impact. 

Should the positive and negative scenarios be assigned 100 per cent probability of occurring, the model calculated ECL allowances 

would decrease by 3 per cent and increase by 5 per cent, respectively compared to the weighted scenario. 
 

  

Key assumptions for triggering significant increase in credit risk (SICR)  

For arrangements with initial origination date as at 1 January 2018 or later, the primary indicator is changes in lifetime probability 
of default (PD) by comparing the scenario weighted annualised lifetime PD at the reporting date with the scenario weighted 

annualised lifetime PD at initial recognition. For arrangements with an initial origination date prior to 1 January 2018 changes in 

SEB internal risk classification since initial origination are used as the primary indicator. 

Quantitative measures for triggering significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 
 

 For arrangements originated prior 

to 1 January 2018 

For arrangements originated on or 

after 1 January 2018 

Watch list 1) 1) 

Investment grade 2 – 7 risk classes Annualised lifetime PD increase by 
200% and ≥ 50 basis points 

Standard monitoring 1 - 2 risk classes 

1) Placement of a financial asset on watch list automatically classifies it as a significant increase in credit risk and places it in Stage 

2. 

  

ECL allowances resulting 

from scenario, thous. EUR

Difference from the 

probability weighted ECL 

allowances, %

Lithuania Negative scenario 48,849                                         5%

Positive scenario 45,113                                         -3%
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.1 Credit risk (continued) 

Regardless of the quantitative indicator, a significant increase in credit risk is triggered if the following back-stop indicators occur:  

- payments are past due >30 days but < 90 days, or 

- financial assets are forborne (where due to the customer’s financial difficulties the contractual terms of the loans have been 
revised and concessions given). 

Back stop indicators normally overlap with the quantitative indicator of significant increase in credit risk. 

Following the COVID-19 pandemic, governments have enabled measures to support corporates and private individuals. In line with 

European Banking Authority’s (EBA) guidelines, such measures do not automatically trigger a significant increase in credit risk, and 
thereby a transfer to stage 2 and increased ECL allowances. 

Concentration of financial assets, loan commitments and financial guarantees by economic sector 

  
  

The Group and the Bank

2021

Balances with central bank, loans 

to credit institutions, loans to the 

public Debt securities and derivatives

Loan commitments and financial 

guarantees

Non-financial corporations

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 108,766                                                        -                                                                     21,983                                                           

Mining and quarrying 3,292                                                              -                                                                     11,445                                                           

Manufacturing 441,773                                                        340                                                                   245,062                                                        

Electricity, gas, steam and air condition 185,529                                                        3,285                                                              229,186                                                        

Water supply 20,198                                                           2                                                                          11,257                                                           

Construction 39,331                                                           1,236                                                              70,672                                                           

Wholesale and retail trade 761,308                                                        566                                                                   554,029                                                        

Transport and storage 407,084                                                        1,142                                                              142,874                                                        

Accommodation and food service 

activities
11,109                                                           -                                                                     470                                                                   

Information and communication 21,400                                                           -                                                                     20,238                                                           

Financial and insurance activities 650                                                                   15                                                                      

Real estate activities 819,107                                                        4,318                                                              46,486                                                           

Professional, scientific and technical 

activities
44,436                                                           -                                                                     29,541                                                           

Administrative and support service 

activities
57,558                                                           -                                                                     20,305                                                           

Education 313                                                                   -                                                                     6,060                                                              

Human health services and social work 

activities
6,868                                                              -                                                                     134                                                                   

Arts, entertainment and recreation 1,300                                                              -                                                                     98                                                                      

Other services 5,588                                                              -                                                                     6,755                                                              

Households 3,239,798                                                   2                                                                          149,774                                                        

General governments 118,078                                                        492,446                                                        8,781                                                              

Credit institutions 619,016                                                        3,753                                                              87,953                                                           

Central banks 3,432,931                                                   -                                                                     -                                                                     

Other financial corporations 1,683                                                              137                                                                   787                                                                   

Total as at 31 December 10,347,116                                                507,227                                                        1,663,905                                                   
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.1 Credit risk (continued) 

 

 

Large exposures 

 

 

 

The Group and the Bank

2020

Balances with central bank, loans 

to credit institutions, loans to the 

public Debt securities and derivatives

Loan commitments and financial 

guarantees

Non-financial corporations

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 119,987                                                        -                                                                     26,949                                                           

Mining and quarrying 4,288                                                              -                                                                     10,247                                                           

Manufacturing 367,779                                                        581                                                                   223,599                                                        

Electricity, gas, steam and air condition 161,403                                                        155                                                                   301,464                                                        

Water supply 12,520                                                           10,341                                                           

Construction 46,015                                                           2,061                                                              48,914                                                           

Wholesale and retail trade 603,892                                                        2,715                                                              697,090                                                        

Transport and storage 411,679                                                        3,786                                                              139,368                                                        

Accommodation and food service 

activities
37,823                                                           -                                                                     288                                                                   

Information and communication 34,005                                                           -                                                                     15,201                                                           

Financial and insurance activities 4,759                                                              10                                                                      

Real estate activities 762,400                                                        6,685                                                              81,633                                                           

Professional, scientific and technical 

activities
26,879                                                           -                                                                     44,071                                                           

Administrative and support service 

activities
79,498                                                           -                                                                     30,307                                                           

Public administration and defence, 

comp social security
-                                                                     -                                                                     -                                                                     

Education 1,189                                                              -                                                                     197                                                                   

Human health services and social work 

activities
5,660                                                              -                                                                     2,956                                                              

Arts, entertainment and recreation 4,922                                                              -                                                                     110                                                                   

Other services 12,368                                                           -                                                                     9,715                                                              

Households 3,032,063                                                   4                                                                          128,687                                                        

General governments 78,893                                                           486,885                                                        6,394                                                              

Credit institutions 1,886,403                                                   125                                                                   84,961                                                           

Central banks 1,795,419                                                   -                                                                     -                                                                     

Other financial corporations 2,466                                                              14                                                                      720                                                                   

Total as at 31 December 9,492,310                                                   503,011                                                        1,863,222                                                   

The Group

Number/Amount

% from net own 

funds Number/Amount

% from net own 

funds

Number of customers with large exposures 7 7
Due from customers with large exposures 944,049 115                              762,973 93                                  

944,049 115                              762,973 93                                  
Own funds included in calculation of capital adequacy 820,805 821,205

31/12/2021 31/12/2020

The Bank

Number/Amount

% from net own 

funds Number/Amount

% from net own 

funds

Number of customers with large exposures 7 7
Due from customers with large exposures 944,049 116 762,973 93

944,049 116 762,973 93
Own funds included in calculation of capital adequacy 816,705 817,104

31/12/2021 31/12/2020
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.1 Credit risk (continued) 

Large exposures contain exposures due from central bank, central government, parent company of the bank and its subsidiaries 

and other non-financial customers (loans, interests, securities, derivatives and off-balance sheet commitments, which may turn 

into claims). 

The following is exempted from large exposures: 

- claims to the parent company of the bank and their subsidiaries in so far as they are covered by the supervision on a consolidated 

basis to which the bank itself is subject in accordance with CRR (Capital Requirements Regulation) and if the requirements of the 

European Central Bank’s Regulation (EU) 2016/445 Article 9 Part 3 are fulfilled;  
- due from central bank and central government authorities, which, unsecured, would be assigned a 0 per cent risk weight under 

Part 3, Title II, Chapter 2 of CRR; 

- other exposures according to CRR article 400. 

Large credit risk exposure is defined by the Regulation No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council (CRR) and is 
the total exposure of a client or group of connected clients to the Group and the Bank which exceeds 10 per cent of the group's 

eligible capital, EUR 820,105 thousand as at 31 December 2021 (821,205), see Note 39. All instruments where credit risk may 

arise to the Group are taken into consideration. The limit of the total exposure of one client or group of connected clients is 25 per 

cent of the Group’s eligible capital. Total exposure of any client or group of connected clients did not exceed the regulatory limit of 
25 per cent of the capital in the Group. 

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held and other credit enhancements 

 
  

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Subject to ECL allowances:

Balances with the Central Bank 3,432,931              1,795,419              3,432,931              1,795,419              
Current accounts with credit institutions 311,281                   1,104,056              311,281                   1,104,056              
Loans to the public

General governments 118,078                   78,893                      118,078                   78,893                      

Credit institutions 307,735                   782,347                   307,735                   782,347                   

Other financial corporations 1,683                          2,466                          1,683                          2,466                          

Non-financial corporations 2,935,610              2,697,066              2,935,610              2,697,066              

Households 3,239,798              3,032,063              3,239,798              3,032,063              
Other financial assets 12,925                      22,991                      13,110                      23,154                      
Not subject to ECL allowances:

Debt securities 495,715                   486,885                   495,715                   486,885                   

Derivatives 11,512                      16,126                      11,512                      16,126                      

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance 

  sheet items

Agreements to grant loans 1,193,236              1,441,291              1,193,236              1,441,291              
Guarantees issued 2,416                          1,748                          2,416                          1,748                          
Letters of credit issued 61,710                      105,181                   61,710                      105,181                   
Other commitments 426,778                   327,784                   426,778                   327,784                   

Total as at 31 December              12,551,408              11,894,316              12,551,593              11,894,479 

The Group The Bank
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Liquidity risk 

Definition 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Bank are unable to refinance its existing assets or is unable to meet the demand for 

additional liquidity. Liquidity risk also entails the risk that the Group and the Bank are forced to borrow at unfavorable rates or is 
forced to sell assets at a loss in order to meet its payment commitments.  

Liquidity management and risk measurement 

The Supervisory Board has established a comprehensive framework for managing Group’s and Bank’s liquidity requirements and 

risks in the short- and long-term. The aim of Group’s and Bank’s liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Group and the Bank 
have a controlled liquidity risk situation, with adequate volumes of liquid assets to meet its liquidity requirements in all foreseeable 

circumstances, without incurring substantial cost. 

The liquidity risk is managed through the limits set by the Management Board. The treasury function has the overall responsibility 

for liquidity management and funding. Risk department measures limit utilisation based on different market conditions and liquidity 
stress tests on a daily basis. The liquidity risk position is reported regularly to the newly established Risk Oversight Committee and 

to the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board.  

Liquidity management and the structuring of the statement of financial position from a liquidity point of view are built on three 

basic perspectives:  

(a) the structural liquidity perspective, in which stable funding is put in relation to illiquid assets;  

(b) the Group’s and the Bank’s tolerance for short-term stress in the form of a shutdown of the wholesale and interbank 

funding markets (wholesale funding dependence); and,  

(c) the Group’s and the Bank’s tolerance to a severe stress scenario (survival horizon) where, in addition to a shutdown 

of the funding market, the bank experiences a severe outflow of deposits. 

Structural liquidity risk 

In order to maintain a sound structural liquidity position, the structure of the liability side should be based on the composition of 

assets. The more long-term lending and other illiquid assets, the more stable funding is required. In the Group and the Bank, this is 

measured as the Core Gap ratio, which is conceptually equivalent to the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), i.e., a ratio between 

stable funding (over 1 year maturity) and illiquid assets (over 1 year maturity). The difference between the internal Core Gap ratio 
and the external NSFR is that the Core Gap ratio is calculated on a more detailed level based on internal statistics, which results in 

different weightings of available and required stable funding. 

Wholesale funding dependence 

The Group and the Bank measure wholesale funding dependence as the loan to deposit ratio which, is calculated by dividing the 
bank’s total loans to the public by its total deposits from the public. A ratio below 100 per cent means that lending to the public is 

being fully financed by deposits from the same segment, i.e. there is no reliance on other types of funding (typically wholesale 

funding). 

Stressed survival horizon 

Severe stress can be modelled by combining assumptions of a wholesale funding market shutdown with assumptions of deposit 

outflows, drawdowns on commitments, etc. The outcome is captured by the regulatory defined Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) 

where, in a stressed scenario, modelled net outflows during a 30-day period are related to the amount of total liquid assets. The 

Group and the Bank also measure the time it would take for the liquid assets to be depleted in a severely stressed scenario, 
expressed as the stressed survival horizon.  

Internal liquidity adequacy assessment process 

Liquidity risk is not primarily mitigated by capital. However, there are strong links between a bank’s capital and liquidity position. 

Hence, an internal liquidity adequacy assessment process (ILAAP) complements the ICAAP (Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process). The ILAAP is designed to identify potential gaps against SEB’s long-term desired level of liquidity adequacy, 

taking into account that effective liquidity management is a continuous process. 
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

Retail deposits, which are stable to large extent, are the most important financing source for the Group and the Bank. Belonging to 

the international banking group gives the Group and the Bank additional assurance to manage long-term liquidity. Liquidity is 

managed in co-operation with SEB Group Treasury. Through the parent company the Group and the Bank have better access to 
the international money markets than on individual basis. 

Next table presents undiscounted contractual cash flows payable by the Group under non-derivative financial liabilities by 

remaining contractual maturity as at 31 December 2021 and maturity analysis of financial assets the Group holds for managing 

liquidity risk.  

  
  

Liquidity risk management measures

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Core Gap ratio 163% 167% 163% 167%

Loan to deposit ratio 65% 68% 65% 68%

Liquidity Coverage ratio 338.44% 657.13% 338.07% 655.87%

The Group The Bank

Maturity On demand Up to 3 months

3-12 

months

1-5 

years Over 5 years Total

Carrying value in 

statement of 

financial position

Cash and balances with central 

bank                 3,468,784                                        -                                          -                                          -                                          -                   3,468,784                 3,468,784 

Current accounts with credit 

institutions (Note 14)                      311,281                                        -                                          -                                          -                                          -                        311,281                      311,281 

Government bonds                                        -                           70,871                         70,467                      321,239                         29,869                      492,446                      495,715 

Total assets used for liquidity 

management 3,780,065              70,871                      70,467                      321,239                   29,869                      4,272,511              4,275,780              

Deposits from central bank and 

credit institutions 58,623                      144                              -                                151,201                   -                                209,968                   208,767                   

Deposits and borrowings from 

the public 9,384,311              149,460                   230,542                   13,170                      275                              9,777,758              9,777,570              

Other financial liabilities 52,277                      15,317                      7,103                          16,373                      9,569                          100,639                   100,639                   
     of which lease liabilities -                               764                             3,397                         15,726                     9,487                         29,374                     29,374                     

     of which other financial 

liabilities 52,277                     14,553                     3,706                         647                             82                                 71,265                     71,265                     

Total undiscounted 

  non- derivative financial  

  liabilities 9,495,211              164,921                   237,645                   180,744                   9,844                          10,088,365           10,086,976           

Irrevocable off-balance sheet 

commitments 3,535                          148,224                   810,497                   561,157                   160,727                   1,684,140              1,684,140              
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Liquidity risk (continued) 

Next table presents undiscounted contractual cash flows payable by the Group under non-derivative financial liabilities by 

remaining contractual maturity as at 31 December 2020 and maturity analysis of financial assets the Group holds for managing 

liquidity risk.  

 

 

Next table presents undiscounted contractual cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities by 
remaining contractual maturity as at 31 December 2021 and maturity analysis of financial assets the Bank holds for managing 

liquidity risk.  

  
  

Maturity On demand Up to 3 months

3-12 

months

1-5 

years Over 5 years Total

Carrying value in 

statement of 

financial position

Cash and balances with 

central bank
              1,852,247                                      -                                        -                                        -                                        -                 1,852,247               1,852,247 

Current accounts with credit 

institutions (Note 14)
              1,104,056                                      -                                        -                                        -                                        -                 1,104,056               1,104,056 

Government bonds                                      -                                 227                       60,909                   419,451                          6,298                   486,885                   486,885 

Total assets used for 

liquidity management
2,956,303           227                            60,909                   419,451                6,298                       3,443,188           3,443,188           

Deposits from central bank 

and credit institutions
47,497                    29,028                    -                              573,228                -                              649,753                646,495                

Deposits and borrowings 

from the public
8,135,981            162,583                261,973                16,303                    282                            8,577,122            8,576,872            

Other financial liabilities 51,644                    921                            8,576                       17,100                    12,954                    91,195                    91,195                    

     of which lease liabilities -                             770                           3,394                      16,114                   12,890                   33,168                   33,168                   

     of which other financial 

liabilities
51,644                   151                           5,182                      986                           64                              58,027                   58,027                   

Total undiscounted 

  non- derivative financial  

  liabilities

8,235,122           192,532                270,549                606,631                13,236                   9,318,070           9,314,562           

Irrevocable off-balance 

sheet commitments
2,140                       236,334                933,179                585,771                118,580                1,876,004            1,876,004            

Maturity On demand Up to 3 months

3-12 

months

1-5 

years Over 5 years Total

Carrying value in 

statement of 

financial position

Cash and balances with central 

bank
                3,468,784                                        -                                          -                                          -                                          -                   3,468,784                 3,468,784 

Current accounts with credit 

institutions (Note 14)
                     311,281                                        -                                          -                                          -                                          -                        311,281                      311,281 

Government bonds                                        -                           70,871                         70,467                      321,239                         29,869                      492,446                      495,715 

Total assets used for liquidity 

management
3,780,065              70,871                      70,467                      321,239                   29,869                      4,272,511              4,275,780              

Deposits from central bank and 

credit institutions
58,623                      144                              -                                151,201                   -                                209,968                   208,767                   

Deposits and borrowings from 

the public
9,389,695              149,460                   230,542                   13,170                      275                              9,783,142              9,782,953              

Other financial liabilities 52,133                      15,308                      7,103                          16,373                      9,567                          100,484                   100,484                   

     of which lease liabilities -                               764                             3,397                         15,726                     9,487                         29,374                      29,374                     

     of which other financial 

liabilities
52,133                     14,544                     3,706                         647                             80                                 71,110                     71,110                     

Total undiscounted 

  non- derivative financial  

  liabilities

9,500,451              164,912                   237,645                   180,744                   9,842                          10,093,594           10,092,204           

Irrevocable off-balance sheet 

commitments
3,535                          148,224                   810,497                   561,157                   160,727                   1,684,140              1,684,140              
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Liquidity risk (continued) 

Next table presents undiscounted contractual cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities by 

remaining contractual maturity as at 31 December 2020 and maturity analysis of financial assets the Bank holds for managing 

liquidity risk.  

 
 
Next table presents undiscounted derivative instruments analysis for the Group and the Bank as at 31 December 2021. Gross-
settled derivatives are included in the analysis whether their fair value is negative or positive at reporting date. Pay leg of such 

derivatives is presented as outflow and receive leg as inflow. 
 

 
 

 

 
  

Maturity On demand Up to 3 months

3-12 

months

1-5 

years Over 5 years Total

Carrying value in 

statement of 

financial position

Cash and balances with 

central bank               1,852,247                                      -                                        -                                        -                                        -                 1,852,247               1,852,247 

Current accounts with credit 

institutions (Note 14)               1,104,056                                      -                                        -                                        -                                        -                 1,104,056               1,104,056 

Government bonds                                      -                                 227                       60,909                   419,451                          6,298                   486,885                   486,885 

Total assets used for 

liquidity management 2,956,303           227                            60,909                   419,451                6,298                       3,443,188           3,443,188           

Deposits from central bank 

and credit institutions 47,497                    29,028                    -                              573,228                -                                                649,753 646,495                

Deposits and borrowings 

from the public 8,143,278            162,583                261,973                16,303                    282                                          8,584,419 8,584,169            

Other financial liabilities 51,462                    921                            8,576                       17,100                    12,954                                          91,013 91,013                    

     of which lease liabilities -                             770                           3,394                      16,114                   12,890                                         33,168 33,168                   

     of which other financial 

liabilities 51,462                   151                           5,182                      986                           64                              57,845                   57,845                   

Total undiscounted 

  non- derivative financial  

  liabilities 8,242,237           192,532                270,549                606,631                13,236                   9,325,185           9,321,677           

Irrevocable off-balance 

sheet commitments 2,140                       236,334                933,179                585,771                118,580                1,876,004            1,876,004            

Maturity On demand Up to 3 months

3-12 

months

1-5 

years Over 5 years Total

Foreign exchange derivatives

Outflows -                                100,652                   27,631                      287                              -                                128,570                   
Inflows -                                100,607                   27,581                      292                              -                                128,480                   

Gross-settled derivatives

Maturity On demand Up to 3 months

3-12 

months

1-5 

years Over 5 years Total

IRS, CIRS

Outflows -                                1,673                          2,260                          4,581                          672                              9,186                          

Inflows -                                1,033                          2,585                          5,867                          670                              10,155                      

Net-settled derivatives
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.2 Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

Next table presents undiscounted derivative instruments analysis for the Group and the Bank as at 31 December 2020. 
 

 
 

 

 

2.3 Market risk 

Definition 

Market risk is the risk of losses in balance sheet positions and obligations, arising from adverse movements in market prices. Market 

risk can arise from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, credit spreads, commodity and equity prices, implied 

volatilities, inflation and market liquidity. A clear distinction is made between market risks related to trading activity, i.e., trading 
book risks, and structural market and net interest income risks, i.e., banking book risks. Whereas positions in the trading book are 

held with a trading intent and under a daily mark-to-market regime, positions in the banking book do not have a trading intent and 

are typically held at amortised cost. 

Risk management 

Market risks in the trading book arises from bank’s customer-driven trading activities. Market risk also arises in the form of interest 

rate risk in the banking book as a result of balance sheet mismatches in currencies, interest terms and interest rate periods. The 

treasury function has overall responsibility for managing these risks. The risk is managed by setting the proper risk management 

framework, daily monitoring and follow up on utilization levels and actions taken if the utilization is too high. The treasury function 
also manages a liquidity portfolio, which is part of bank’s liquidity reserve. The market risk from the liquidity portfolio comes from 

credit spread risk and interest rate risk in pledgeable and highly liquid bonds. 

Bank’s risk appetite is defined in the Tolerance statement. Management defines how much market risk is acceptable by setting the 

overall market risk limits and general instructions as part of bank’s risk appetite. Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board sets 
tolerance levels within given market risk limits. 

The Group and the Bank measure the risks using different methods of risk valuation and management pursuant to the type of risk. 

Important role in risk prevention is diversification of risk assets and limitation for trading positions. 

The risk organisation measures, follows up and reports the market risk taken by the various units within the Group and the Bank 
on a daily basis. The risk control function monitors limit compliance and market prices at closing as well as valuation standards and 

the introduction of new products. Market risks are reported regularly to the Risk Oversight Committee and to the Risk Committee 

of the Supervisory Board. 

  

Maturity On demand Up to 3 months

3-12 

months

1-5 

years Over 5 years Total

Foreign exchange derivatives

Outflows -                                104,879                   141,541                   430                              -                                246,850                   

Inflows -                                105,170                   141,760                   437                              -                                247,367                   

Gross-settled derivatives

Maturity On demand Up to 3 months

3-12 

months

1-5 

years Over 5 years Total

IRS, CIRS

Outflows -                                1,062                          2,618                          6,199                          1,182                          11,061                      

Inflows -                                482                              2,387                          7,192                          1,182                          11,243                      

Net-settled derivatives



AB SEB bankas  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

(All amounts in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

Page 56 of 109 

2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.3 Market risk (continued) 

Risk measurement  

When assessing the market risk exposure, the Group and the Bank use measures that capture losses under normal and stressed 

market conditions. Market risks under normal market circumstances are measured using Value at Risk (VaR) as well as specific 
measures that are relevant for the various risk types. These measures are complemented by stress tests and scenario analyses, 

in which potential losses under extreme market conditions are estimated. Since no measurement method can cover all risks at all 

times, several approaches are used, and the results are assessed based on judgment and experience. 

Value at Risk and Stressed Value at Risk 

VaR expresses the maximum potential loss that could arise during a certain time period with a given degree of probability. SEB 

Group uses a historical simulation VaR model with a ten-day time horizon and 99 per cent confidence interval to measure, limit and 

report VaR. The model aggregates market risk exposure for all risk types and covers a wide range of risk factors in all asset classes. 

SEB Group also uses a stressed VaR measure, where VaR is calculated for the current portfolio using market data from a historic, 
turbulent time period covering the Lehman Brothers’ default. The VaR model is subject to validation using back-testing analysis. 

A limitation of the Group’s and Bank’s VaR model is that it uses historical data to estimate potential market changes. As such, it 

may not predict all outcomes, especially in a rapidly changing market. In addition, VaR does not take into account any actions to 

reduce risk as the model assumes that the portfolio is unchanged. 

Value at Risk assessment results on total portfolios positions: 

 

 
Scenario analysis and Stress tests  

Scenario analysis and stress tests are a key part of the risk management framework, complementing the VaR measure. In 

particular, they test the portfolios using scenarios other than those available in the VaR simulation window, and cover longer time 

horizons. The Group and the Bank stress their portfolios by applying extreme movements in market factors which have been 

observed in the past (historical scenarios) as well as extreme movements that could potentially happen in the future (hypothetical 
or forward-looking scenarios).  

This type of analysis provides management with a view on the potential impact that large market moves in individual risk factors, 

as well as broader market scenarios, could have on a portfolio.  

Specific risk measures 

VaR and stress tests are complemented by specific risk measures including Delta 1 per cent and NII sensitivity for interest risk, 

and single and aggregated FX for currency risk. 

In addition, all units that handle risk for financial instruments valued at market are limited by a stop-loss limit. The stop-loss limit 

indicates the maximum loss a unit can incur before mitigating actions are taken. 

2.3.1 Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk arises both through the Group’s and the Bank’s foreign exchange trading and because Group’s and Bank’s 

activities are carried out in various currencies. Group’s and Bank’s main objective for taking foreign exchange risk is to facilitate 

smooth foreign exchange trading for its customers and to manage the flows from customers’ deals effectively. Together with the 
customers’ deals related flows the Group and the Bank manage the structural foreign exchange risk inherent in the structure of 

the statement of financial position and earnings.  

  

31/12/2021 31/12/2020

(unaudited) (unaudited)

Interest rate risk (stand-alone) 931 2,323

Credit spread risk (stand-alone) 1.77                             -                                 

Foreign exchange risk (stand-alone) 7 20

Equity price risk (stand-alone) -                                 1,223

Diversification effect -23 -925

Total 917 2,641

The Group and the Bank
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.3 Market risk (continued) 

2.3.1 Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

Market risks arising from the foreign exchange positions are measured internally within the overall VaR framework. As a 

complement ALCO has set limits for open foreign currency positions by individual currencies and also on an aggregated level as a 
sum of long or short positions, depending of which one is higher on absolute terms. Management of open foreign currency positions 

is the responsibility of the Markets department, analysis and limit follow-up is performed by the Risk department. 

 

The table below summarises Group’s and Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the 31 December 2021. 

 

 

The table below summarises Group’s and Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the 31 December 2020. 

 
 

2.3.2 Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of the Group’s and the Bank’s assets, liabilities and interest-related derivatives 

will be negatively affected by changes in interest rates or other relevant risk factors. 

The majority of the Group’s and Bank’s interest rate risks are structural and arise within the banking operations when there is a 

mismatch between the interest fixing periods of assets and liabilities, including derivatives. 

The Group and the Bank use Delta 1% methodology for measuring the assets-liability mismatch risk, arising from the structure of 

Assets exposed to interest rate risk (Financial Assets) and Liabilities exposed to interest rate risk (Financial Liabilities) to reflect 

change in economic value due to change in interest rates. Delta 1% is defined as the change in market value arising from an adverse 

one percentage unit parallel shift in all interest rates in each currency. Delta 1% method enables to effectively measure the impact 
of interest rate changes to Assets exposed to interest rate risk and Liabilities exposed to interest rate risk. Delta 1% should be 

kept within the limit set by the Management Board. 

The Group and the Bank also uses NII sensitivity metrics to reflect change in the net interest income due to the change of interest 

rates. For 2021 NII sensitivity was defined as change in value of annual Net Interest Income per 200 bps parallel shift of interest 
rates with additional assumptions, e.g. interest rate floors accounting for very low current yield level. The Group and the Bank does 

not have a limit on NII sensitivity, but instead a risk tolerance measure relative to Risk Exposure Amount (REA) is established by 

the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board. 

Daily management of interest rate risk is the responsibility of the Treasury department, and measuring and analyzing that of the 
Risk department. 

 
  

Currency Rates Position

Percentage of 

capital Position

Percentage of 

capital

U.S. Dollars (USD) 1.1326 -136 0.00 -136 -0.02

The remaining long positions N/A 396 0.05 396 0.05

The remaining short positions N/A -260 -0.03 -260 -0.03

Open position N/A 396 0.05 396 0.05

The Group The Bank

Currency
Rates

Position

Percentage of 

capital Position

Percentage of 

capital

U.S. Dollars (USD) 1.2271 18 0.00 18 0.00

The remaining long positions N/A 468 0.06 468 0.06

The remaining short positions N/A -435 -0.06 -435 -0.06

Open position N/A 486 0.06 486 0.06

The Group The Bank

Interest rate sensitivity 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Net effect on the economic value of equity (delta 1%) -22,795 -21,161
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.3 Market risk (continued) 

2.3.2 Interest rate risk (continued) 

The Group’s and the Bank’s Delta 1% has been negative which means that the average duration of Assets exposed to interest rate 

risk is higher than average duration of Liabilities exposed to interest rate risk and the Group and the Bank are more exposed to 
interest rate increase. The biggest contributors to the Delta 1% figure are loans from the asset side and deposits and funding from 

the parent company from the liabilities side, which balance the mismatch from loans. Further information on interest rate 

sensitivity can be found through table below “Exposure to interest rate risk by interest fixation period”. It includes the Group’s and 

the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorized by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity date. 

Exposure to interest rate risk by interest fixation period 

The following table illustrates exposure to interest rate by interest fixation period for the Group as at 31 December 2021 

(excluding instruments, not sensible to the interest rates). In 2021 distribution of interest rate swaps asset part was changed to 

reflect floating interest fixation period according to time buckets, comparative figures for the year 2020 were restated 
accordingly. 

 

 
 

The following table illustrates exposure to interest rate by interest fixation period for the Group as at 31 December 2020 

(excluding instruments, not sensible to the interest rates).  

 

 

  

Maturity Within 1 month 1 - 3 months 3 - 6 months 6 - 12 months 1 - 5 years Over 5 years Total

Financial assets

Balances with central bank 3,432,931 -                                -                                -                                -                                       -                                       3,432,931

Loans to credit institutions 418,964 50,014 38 1 99,999                             50,000                              619,016

Loans to the public 847,520 2,482,322 1,669,623 908,514 381,841 19,831 6,309,651

Total financial assets 4,699,415 2,532,336 1,669,661 908,515 481,840 69,831 10,361,598

Financial liabilities

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 58,623 150,144 -                                -                                -                                       -                                       208,767

Deposits and borrowings from the public 9,453,444 80,321 98,497 131,969 13,115 224 9,777,570

Total financial liabilities 9,512,067 230,465 98,497 131,969 13,115 224 9,986,337

Total interest repricing gap of on-balance sheet 

position
-4,812,652 2,301,871 1,571,164 776,546 468,725 69,607 375,261

Derivative assets 256,224 399,394 -                                 -                                 -                                        -                                        655,618

Derivative liabilities 36,918 64,669 -                                 69,560 460,492 24,006 655,645

Total interest repricing gap -4,593,346 2,636,596 1,571,164 706,986 8,233 45,601 375,234

Maturity
Within 1 month 1 - 3 months 3 - 6 months 6 - 12 months 1 - 5 years Over 5 years Total

Financial assets

Balances with central bank 1,795,419 -                                -                                -                                -                                       -                                       1,795,419

Loans to credit institutions 1,126,245 757,334 2,713 126 -                                       -                                       1,886,418

Loans to the public 742,010 2,303,658 1,465,259 773,657 512,427 27,234 5,824,245

Total financial assets 3,663,674 3,060,992 1,467,972 773,783 512,427 27,234 9,506,082

Financial liabilities

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 51,251 595,244 -                                -                                -                                       -                                       646,495

Deposits and borrowings from the public 8,213,454 85,176 111,336 150,518 16,246 142 8,576,872

Total financial liabilities 8,264,705 680,420 111,336 150,518 16,246 142 9,223,367

Total interest repricing gap of on-balance sheet 

position
-4,601,031 2,380,572 1,356,636 623,265 496,181 27,092 282,715

Derivative assets 245,729                   309,327                   59,165 -                                -                                        -                                       614,221

Derivative liabilities -                                -                                59,165 -                                555,056 -                                       614,221

Total interest repricing gap -4,355,302 2,689,899 1,356,636 623,265 -58,875 27,092 282,715
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.3 Market risk (continued) 

2.3.2 Interest rate risk (continued) 

The following table illustrates exposure to interest rate by interest fixation period for the Bank as at 31 December 2021 (excluding 

instruments, not sensible to the interest rates). In 2021 distribution of interest rate swaps asset part was changed to reflect 
floating interest fixation period according to time buckets, comparative figures for the year 2020 were restated accordingly. 

  

The following table illustrates exposure to interest rate by interest fixation period for the Bank as at 31 December 2020: 

 

2.3.3 Equity price risk 

Equity price risk arises within market making and trading in equities and related instruments.  

The Group and the Bank do not have equities in trading book.  

Due to sold strategic positions from the banking book the reported VaR exposure in equities has decreased compared to 2020 by 

0.21 million euros. There was no VaR exposure in equities at the end of 2021. 

2.4 Non-financial risk 

Definition 

Non-financial risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems (e.g., breakdown of 

IT systems, mistakes, fraud, other deficiencies in internal control) or from external events (natural disasters, external crime, etc.). 
The definition includes conduct, compliance, legal and financial reporting, information-, cyber- and physical security, and venture 

execution risk, but excludes strategic and reputational risk. 

  

Maturity Within 1 month 1 - 3 months 3 - 6 months 6 - 12 months 1 - 5 years Over 5 years Total

Financial assets

Balances with central bank 3,432,931 -                                -                                -                                -                                       -                                       3,432,931

Loans to credit institutions 418,964 50,014 38 1 99,999                             50,000                              619,016

Loans to the public 847,520 2,482,322 1,669,623 908,514 381,841 19,831 6,309,651

Total financial assets 4,699,415 2,532,336 1,669,661 908,515 481,840 69,831 10,361,598

Financial liabilities

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 58,623 150,144 -                                -                                -                                       -                                       208,767

Deposits and borrowings from the public 9,458,827 80,321 98,497 131,969 13,115 224 9,782,953

Total financial liabilities 9,517,450 230,465 98,497 131,969 13,115 224 9,991,720

Total interest repricing gap of on-balance sheet 

position
-4,818,035 2,301,871 1,571,164 776,546 468,725 69,607 369,878

Derivative assets 256,224                    399,394                    -                                 -                                 -                                        -                                        655,618

Derivative liabilities 36,918                       64,669                       -                                 69,560                       460,492                           24,006                              655,645

Total interest repricing gap -4,598,729 2,636,596 1,571,164 706,986 8,233 45,601 369,851

Maturity
Within 1 month 1 - 3 months 3 - 6 months 6 - 12 months 1 - 5 years Over 5 years Total

Financial assets

Balances with central bank 1,795,419 -                                -                                -                                -                                       -                                       1,795,419

Loans to credit institutions 1,126,245 757,334 2,713 126 -                                       -                                       1,886,418

Loans to the public 742,010 2,303,658 1,465,259 773,657 512,427 27,234 5,824,245

Total financial assets 3,663,674 3,060,992 1,467,972 773,783 512,427 27,234 9,506,082

Financial liabilities

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 51,251 595,244 -                                -                                -                                       -                                       646,495

Deposits and borrowings from the public 8,220,751 85,176 111,336 150,518 16,246 142 8,584,169

Total financial liabilities 8,272,002 680,420 111,336 150,518 16,246 142 9,230,664

Total interest repricing gap of on-balance sheet 

position
-4,608,328 2,380,572 1,356,636 623,265 496,181 27,092 275,418

Derivative assets 245,729                   309,327                   59,165                      -                                -                                       -                                       614,221

Derivative liabilities -                                -                                59,165                      -                                555,056                          -                                       614,221

Total interest repricing gap -4,362,599 2,689,899 1,356,636 623,265 -58,875 27,092 275,418
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.4 Non-financial risk (continued) 

Risk management 

Non-financial risk is inherent in all of the Group’s and the Bank’s operations and the responsibility to manage non-financial risks 

rests with all managers throughout the bank. The Group and the Bank aim to maintain a sound risk culture with low non-financial 
risk and loss level through an effective internal control environment by ensuring a structured and consistent usage of risk 

mitigating tools and processes.  

All new or changed products, processes and/or systems as well as reorganisations are evaluated in a group-common New Product 

Approval Process (NPAP). The aim is to identify potential non-financial risks and ensure that proactive measures are taken to 
protect the Group and the Bank from entering into unintended risk-taking that cannot be immediately managed by the organisation. 

The process is also used for yearly reviews of significant outsourcing arrangements in the Group and the Bank. 

All business units with significant risk embedded in their operations shall regularly complete Risk and Control Self-Assessments 

(RCSA) according to a group-wide methodology. The assessments are designed to identify and mitigate significant non-financial 
risks embedded in the Group’s and the Bank’s various business and support processes. There is comprehensive participation by 

each business unit throughout the organisation. The RCSA framework is used to analyze the Group’s and the Bank’s non-financial 

risk profile and help achieve operational excellence and high performance. 

The Group and the Bank ensure that the organisation is prepared to respond to and operate throughout a period of major disruption 
by identifying critical activities and maintaining updated and tested business continuity plans in a group-wide system for this 

purpose. 

All employees are required to escalate and register risk-related events or incidents so that risks can be properly identified, 

assessed, monitored, mitigated and reported. The Group and the Bank use a group-wide IT application to capture risk events and 
other non-financial risk data for analysis. 

The Group and the Bank conduct regular training and education in key areas, including mandatory training for all staff in general 

non-financial risk, information security, fraud prevention, anti-money laundering, know-your-customer procedures, GDPR and 

SEB’s Code of Business Conduct. The Group and the Bank also have a formal whistle-blower procedure that encourages employees 
to report improprieties and unethical or illegal conduct. 

The Group’s and the Bank’s approach to meet cyber and other security threats is to prioritize technical protection, raise awareness 

and continuously enhance the cyber risk culture among both employees and customers. Necessary security updates, system 

upgrades, and implementation of new features and secure measurements are performed on a regular basis. The Group and the 
Bank continuously work to enhance and improve its already well-established processes for mitigating, evaluating and following up 

on existing and future cyber risks. 

The risk department is responsible for measuring and reporting the Group’s and the Bank’s non-financial risks. Significant incidents 

and the risk level are analysed and reported regularly to the Risk Oversight Committee and to the Management Board and the Risk 
Committee of the Supervisory Board. In 2021, the total operational losses from operational incidents amounted to 47 thousand 

euros (518). 

Risk measurement 

The Group and the Bank use the Advanced Measurement Approach (AMA) to calculate the regulatory capital requirement for non-
financial risk.  

Regulatory supervision 

The Group and the Bank are subject to various legal requirements. Over the past years, the rules and regulations of the financial 

industry have expanded and further sharpened, and the regulators have increased their supervision. This is a development, which 
is expected to continue to evolve. Supervisory authorities regularly conduct reviews of Group’s and Bank’s regulatory compliance, 

including areas such as financial stability, market conduct related activities, anti-money laundering and terrorist financing, 

international sanctions and data privacy. The Group and the Bank have policies and procedures in place with the purpose to always 

comply with applicable rules and regulations. It cannot, however, be ruled out that current and future supervisory reviews could 
lead to criticism or sanctions.  

Bank of Lithuania has finalized Anti Money Laundering on-site inspection during second quarter of 2020. No warning or any other 

sanction have been imposed on the Bank. All Action plan implementing measures have been delivered and accepted by the Bank 

of Lithuania in June 2021. 
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.5 Business risk 

Definition 

Business risk is the risk of lower revenues due to reduced volumes, price pressure or competition. Business risk includes venture 

decision risk (related to undertakings such as acquisitions, large IT projects, transformations, outsourcing, etc.). Strategic risk is 
close in nature to business risk, but focuses on large-scale or structural risk factors. Reputational risk is the risk arising from 

negative perception of the Group and the Bank or the industry in general. 

Risk management 

Business, strategic and reputational risks are inherent in doing business. Digitalization of the banking industry is accelerating, and 
new types of competitors are emerging. The extensive new regulatory framework for banking and financial institutions is 

significantly affecting the industry. Corporate sustainability plays an increasingly important part of a company’s reputation. The 

Group and the Bank continuously work to mitigate business, strategic and reputational risks in many ways, for example, with 

regular strategic business reviews, proactive cost management, an agile step-by-step IT development approach, an ambitious 
corporate sustainability agenda and active dialogues on regulatory matters. 

2.6 Capital adequacy and capital management 

Group’s and Bank’s capital adequacy target, capital allocation and return on allocated capital are risk-based measures built on an 

assessment of all identified risks incurred in the operations. Capital management is forward-looking and aligned with short-term 
and long-term business plans and the macroeconomic environment. Management of the Group and the Bank uses an internal model 

to calculate how much capital is necessary to cover its risks (so called Economic Capital). Stress testing is an important parameter 

when assessing capital adequacy and setting capital targets. This is evaluated in the annual internal capital adequacy assessment 

process (ICAAP).  

As part of the capital planning, the Group and the Bank maintains a recovery plan which assesses possible capital contingency 

measures and outlines governance in the event of a stressed capital situation.  

Capital management ensures that capital is used where it can generate the best risk-adjusted returns. The management of the 

Group and the Bank uses an internal capital allocation framework (business equity) that allocates the capital needed based on the 
risks taken by the business units. 

Capital adequacy refers to the sufficiency of the Group’s and Bank’s capital resources to cover credit risks, non-financial and 

market risks arising from the portfolio of assets of the Group and the Bank and the exposure from commitments and contingent 

liabilities of the Group. 

The Group’s and Bank’s capital adequacy ratios are being calculated in accordance with Basel III (CRR 575/2013) requirements. 

In accordance with the Basel III requirements, the Group’s and the Bank’s risk based capital adequacy ratios as at 31 December 

2021 were 21.77 per cent (21.43) and 21.69 per cent (21.36) respectively which is above the minimum required to maintain a 

capital adequacy ratio of 8 per cent of risk weighted assets and commitments and contingent liabilities (See Note 39). In addition, 
the Group and the Bank shall comply with the combined buffer requirement: Capital conservation buffer – 2.5 per cent and other 

systemically important institution (O-SII) buffer – 2.0 per cent. 

2.7 Individual minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) on a sub-consolidated basis 

The Bank recovery and resolution directive (BRRD) requires banks to meet MREL targets to absorb losses and restore their capital 
position, allowing them to continuously perform their critical economic functions during and after a crisis. MREL represents one of 

the key tools in enhancing banks’ resolvability. In 2017, the Single Resolution Board (SRB) developed its MREL policy and adopted 

its first binding decisions for major banking groups. 

As MREL decisions must be reviewed annually, the SRB considers any relevant supervisory decision affecting the banks within its 
remit or any change in the banks’ financial structures and risk profiles.  

MREL shall be calculated as the amount of own funds and eligible liabilities expressed as a percentage of the institution's total risk 

exposure amounts including the combiner buffer requirement (TREA) or leverage ratio exposure (LRE).  
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2. RISK POLICY AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

2.5 Business risk (continued) 

Regulation (EU) No 806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing uniform rules and a uniform procedure 

for the resolution of credit institutions and certain investment firms in the framework of a Single Resolution Mechanism and a Single 

Resolution Fund sets January 1, 2024, as the date by which the Group shall comply with MREL. In accordance with Article 12k(1) 
of Regulation (EU) 806/2014, the SRB determines intermediate MREL target levels that the Group shall comply with on January 

1, 2022. The intermediate target levels, as a rule, ensure a linear build-up of own funds and eligible liabilities towards the 

requirement set from January 1, 2024.  
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3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place between 
market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. 

The Group and the Bank has an established control environment for the determination of fair values of financial instruments that 

includes a review, independent from the business, of valuation models and prices. If the validation principles are not adhered to, 

exceptions of material and principal importance require approval from the respective decision-making bodies. 

In order to arrive at the fair value of a financial instrument the Group and the Bank use different methods; quoted prices in active 

markets, valuation techniques incorporating observable data and valuation techniques based on internal models. For disclosure 

purposes, financial instruments carried at fair value are classified in a fair value hierarchy according to the level of market 

observability of the inputs. Risk control function classifies and continuously reviews the classification of financial instruments in 
the fair value hierarchy.  

An active market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to provide pricing information on an 

ongoing basis. The objective is to arrive at a price at which a transaction without modification or repackaging would occur in the 

principal market for the instrument to which the Group and the Bank have immediate access. 

Fair value is generally measured for individual financial instruments; in addition, portfolio adjustments are made to cover the credit 

risk. To reflect counterparty risk and own credit risk in OTC derivatives, adjustments are made based on the net exposure towards 

each counterpart. These adjustments are calculated on a counterparty level based on estimates of exposure at default, probability 

of default and recovery rates. Probability of default and recovery rate information is generally sourced from the Credit Default 
Swap (CDS) markets. For counterparties where this information is not available or considered unreliable due to the nature of the 

exposure, alternative approaches are taken where the probability of default is based on generic credit indices for specific industry 

and/or rating.  

When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit standing is reflected. 

Level 1: Quoted market prices 

Valuations in Level 1 are determined by reference to unadjusted quoted market prices for identical instruments in active markets 

where the quoted prices are readily available, and the prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an 

arm’s length basis. 

Examples of Level 1 financial instruments are listed equity securities, debt securities, and exchange-traded derivatives. 

Instruments traded in an active market for which one or more market participants provide a binding price quotation on the 

reporting date are also examples of Level 1 financial instruments. 

Level 2: Valuation techniques with observable inputs 

In Level 2 valuation techniques, all significant inputs to the valuation models are observable either directly or indirectly. Level 2 

valuation techniques include using discounted cash flows, option pricing models, recent transactions and the price of another 

instrument that is substantially the same. 

Examples of observable inputs are foreign currency exchange rates, binding securities price quotations, market interest rates 
(Libor, etc.), and volatilities implied from observable option prices for the same term and actual transactions with one or more 

external counterparts executed by SEB Group. An input can transfer from being observable to being unobservable during the 

holding period due to e.g. illiquidity of the instrument. Examples of Level 2 financial instruments are most OTC derivatives such as 

options and interest rate swaps based on the Libor swap rate or a foreign-denominated yield curve. 

Level 3: Valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs 

Level 3 valuation techniques incorporate significant inputs that are unobservable. These techniques are generally based on 

extrapolating from observable inputs for similar instruments, analyzing historical data or other analytical techniques. Examples of 

Level 3 financial instruments are more complex OTC derivatives, long dated options for which the volatility is extrapolated or 
derivatives that depend on an unobservable correlation. Other examples are instruments for which there is currently no active 

market or binding quotes, such as unlisted equity instruments and private equity holdings. 
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3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

If the fair value of financial instruments includes more than one unobservable input, the unobservable inputs are aggregated in 

order to determine the classification of the entire instrument. The level in the fair value hierarchy within which a financial 

instrument is classified is determined based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value in its entirety. 

The table below summarises the hierarchy of fair value measurement of asset and liabilities presented on the Group’s and the 
Bank’s statement of financial position at fair value: 

 
 

 

  
 

 
Transfers between levels may occur when there are indications that market conditions have changed, e.g. a change in liquidity.  

Fair value of investments 

Fair values for investments listed in an active market are based on quoted market prices. If the market for a financial instrument is 

not active, fair value is established by using valuation techniques based on discounted cash flow analysis, net asset value, valuation 

with reference to financial instruments that is substantially the same, and valuation with reference to observable market 

transactions in the same financial instrument. 
  

31 December 2021

Quoted price in active 

markets 

(Level 1)

Valuation techniques 

using  observable inputs 

(Level 2)

Valuation techniques

 using non-observable 

inputs 

(Level 3) Total

Assets

Debt securities 495,715                                      -                                                   -                                                   495,715                                      
Derivatives 43                                                    11,469                                         -                                                   11,512                                         

Total 495,758 11,469 -                                                   507,227

Liabilities

Derivatives 10                                                    10,244                                         -                                                   10,254                                         

Total 10                                                    10,244                                         -                                                   10,254                                         

Fair value measurement at the end of reporting period based on:

31 December 2020

Quoted price in active 

markets 

(Level 1)

Valuation techniques 

using  observable inputs 

(Level 2)

Valuation techniques

 using non-observable 

inputs 

(Level 3) Total

Assets

Debt securities 486,885 -                                                   -                                                   486,885

Derivatives 18 16,108 -                                                   16,126

Equity instruments -                                                   -                                                   5,204 5,204

Total 486,903 16,108 5,204 508,215

Liabilities

Derivatives 19 19,983 -                                                   20,002

Total 19 19,983 -                                                   20,002

Fair value measurement at the end of reporting period based on:
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3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

The table below represents the changes of the Group’s and Bank’s Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 

2020: 

 

Unrealised and realised gain on equity instruments recognized in the income statement is presented within ‘Net financial income’ 

line. 

The table below summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities presented on the Group’s 

statement of financial position at amortized cost: 

  

The table below summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities presented on the Bank’s 

statement of financial position at amortized cost: 
 

  
  

Equity 

instruments

1 January 2020 10,153
Transfer from Level 3 -4,985
Gains (losses) in income statement - unrealised 662
Exchange rate differences -626
31 December 2020 5,204

Balance as at 1 January 2021 5,204

Purchases 84
Sales -5,736
Gains (losses) in income statement - unrealised 143

Gains (losses) in income statement - realised -400
Exchange rate differences 705
Balance as at 31 December 2021 -                                 

Carrying Value Fair value Carrying Value Fair value

Balances with the Central Bank 3,432,931              3,432,931              1,795,419              1,795,419              

Loans to credit institutions 619,016                   620,282                   1,886,403              1,886,063              

Loans to the public 6,295,169              6,201,029              5,810,488              5,656,672              

General governments 118,078                  119,824                  78,893                     78,902                     

Other financial corporations 1,683                         1,697                         2,466                         2,413                         

Non-financial corporations 2,935,610             2,966,594             2,697,066             2,705,220             

Households 3,239,798             3,112,914             3,032,063             2,870,137             

Total financial assets valued at amortised cost 10,347,116           10,254,242           9,492,310              9,338,154              

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 208,767                   212,903                   646,495                   660,619                   

Current and demand deposits 9,383,635              9,386,035              8,135,690              8,184,064              

Term deposits from the public 393,935                   394,811                   441,182                   442,263                   

Total financial liabilities valued at amortised cost 9,986,337              9,993,749              9,223,367              9,286,946              

31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Carrying Value Fair value Carrying Value Fair value

Balances with the Central Bank 3,432,931              3,432,931              1,795,419              1,795,419              

Loans to credit institutions 619,016                   620,282                   1,886,403              1,886,063              

Loans to the public 6,295,169              6,201,029              5,810,488              5,656,672              

General governments 118,078                  119,824                  78,893                     78,902                     

Other financial corporations 1,683                         1,697                         2,466                         2,413                         

Non-financial corporations 2,935,610             2,966,594             2,697,066             2,705,220             

Households 3,239,798             3,112,914             3,032,063             2,870,137             

Total financial assets valued at amortised cost 10,347,116           10,254,242           9,492,310              9,338,154              

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 208,767                   212,903                   646,495                   660,619                   

Current and demand deposits 9,389,018              9,391,419              8,135,690              8,184,064              

Term deposits from the public 393,935                   394,811                   448,479                   442,263                   

Total financial liabilities valued at amortised cost 9,991,720              9,999,132              9,230,664              9,286,946              

31/12/2021 31/12/2020



AB SEB bankas  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

(All amounts in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

Page 66 of 109 

3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
 
The Group and the Bank conduct assessment of fair value of financial assets and liabilities which are not presented in the Group’s 
and Bank’s statement of financial position at their fair value. All financial instruments not measured at fair value are specified at 

Level 3 in hierarchy of valuation of fair value, because of using unobservable inputs, except Cash and Balances with central bank, 

which are Level 2. 

As of end of 2021 there are no Level 3 classified financial instruments in the Group’s and the Bank’s positions. When calculating 
fair value for floating interest rate loans and for fixed-interest rate lending, future cash flows are discounted based on the market 

interest curve, which has been adjusted for applicable margins of new lending. Fixed-interest rate deposits, floating interest rate 

and fixed-interest rate balances due to credit institutions, have been calculated similarly. 
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4. NET INTEREST INCOME  
 

 

 
 

 

5. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME  

 

  
 

  

2021 2020 2021 2020

Interest income:

Loans to the public 117,293 117,205 117,293 117,205

Loans to credit institutions and central banks 351 1,056 351 1,056

Negative interest income 3,640 1,325 3,703 1,375

Total interest income calculated using the effective interest rate 

method
121,284 119,586 121,347 119,636

Loans to the public (leasing portfolio) 15,974 16,812 15,974 16,812

Debt securities 1,180 1,809 1,180 1,809

Other interest income 4 -                                 4 -                                 

Total other interest and similar income 17,158 18,621 17,158 18,621

Total interest income 138,442 138,207 138,505 138,257

Interest expenses:

Deposits from credit institutions -1,484 -6,455 -1,484 -6,455

Deposits and borrowings from the public -253 -451 -253 -451

Regulatory fees -7,392 -7,375 -7,392 -7,375

Negative interest expenses -15,173 -9,765 -15,173 -9,769

Other interest expenses -159 -126 -159 -126

Total interest expenses -24,461 -24,172 -24,461 -24,176

Net interest income 113,981 114,035 114,044 114,081

The Group The Bank

2021 2020 2021 2020

Payment cards commissions 50,187                      46,086                      50,187                      46,086                      

Payment commissions 26,428                      24,919                      26,429                      24,920                      

Securities commissions 17,258                      14,826                      13,570                      11,080                      

Lending commissions 4,326                          3,566                          4,326                          3,566                          

Guarantees commissions 2,660                          2,604                          2,660                          2,604                          

Deposits commissions 3,521                          4,613                          3,521                          4,613                          

Credit contracts commissions 3,291                          3,035                          3,291                          3,035                          

Other fees and commissions 4,523                          3,503                          4,523                          3,503                          

Fee and commission income 112,194                   103,152                   108,507                   99,407                      

Payment cards commissions -21,836 -21,275 -21,836 -21,275

Payments commissions -3,297 -2,428 -3,298 -2,428

Securities sommissions -2,881 -2,564 -2,686 -2,365

Other fees and commissions -2,854 -3,388 -2,669 -3,191

Expenses on services and commissions -30,868 -29,655 -30,489 -29,259

Net fee and commission income 81,326                      73,497                      78,018                      70,148                      

The Group The Bank
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6. NET FINANCIAL INCOME 

 

  
 

 

  
 
*FVHFT – Fair Value Through Profit or Loss Held for Trading 
**FVMPL - Fair Value Through Profit or Loss Mandatorily 

 

7. DIVIDENDS 

The table below presents dividends received by the Bank from its subsidiaries: 

 

  

8. PERSONNEL EXPENSES 

 

  
  

FVHFT* FVMPL** Other Total FVHFT* FVMPL** Other Total

Gain (loss) from debt 

securities 423 -2,552                                        -   -2,129 821 2,185 -                                3,006

Gain (loss) from derivatives 6,665                                        -                                          -   6,665 -3,846 -                                -                                -3,846

Gain (loss) from equity 

instruments                                        -   313                                        -   313 -                                3,185 -                                3,185

Gain (loss) from foreign 

exchange trading 15,534                                        -                                          -   15,534 16,076 -                                -                                16,076

Exchange differences                                        -                                          -   -626 -626 -                                -                                3,561 3,561

Total 22,622 -2,239 -626 19,757 13,051 5,370 3,561 21,982

The Group

2021 2020

FVHFT* FVMPL** Other Total FVHFT* FVMPL** Other Total

Gain (loss) from debt 

securities 423 -2,552                                        -   -2,129 821 2,185 -                                3,006

Gain (loss) from derivatives 6,665                                        -                                          -   6,665 -3,846 -                                -                                -3,846

Gain (loss) from equity 

instruments                                        -   313                                        -   313 -                                3,185 -                                3,185

Gain (loss) from foreign 

exchange trading 15,536                                        -                                          -   15,536 16,077 -                                -                                16,077

Exchange differences                                        -                                          -   -626 -626 -                                -                                3,561 3,561

Total 22,624 -2,239 -626 19,759 13,052 5,370 3,561 21,983

The Bank

2021 2020

2021 2020

UAB "SEB investicijų valdymas" 3,813                          2,054                          

Total dividend income 3,813                          2,054                          

2021 2020 2021 2020

Salary expenses -45,496 -45,756 -45,017 -45,343

Social security expenses -842 -836 -833 -828

Defined contribution plan expenses -1,060 -956 -1,051 -947

Share-based payments -654 -485 -654 -485

Other personnel expenses -1,511 -1,206 -1,496 -1,186

Total -49,563 -49,239 -49,051 -48,789

The Group The Bank
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8. PERSONNEL EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 

Compensation to key management personnel is disclosed in Note 37. 

Share-based payments 

SEB Group has developed long-term equity-based programs as part of remuneration system to build long-term commitment to 

SEB. The long-term equity based variable compensation at SEB shall be determined based on long-term equity based variable 
compensation program principles developed by the SEB Group and has to be agreed specifically with the employee, towards whom 

it is applied. The program, referred to above, is the Share Deferral Program (SDP).  

The purpose of the program is to reward senior managers and key employees and to encourage all employees to become 

shareholders in SEB, thereby aligning employee interests with those of shareholders.  

The above-described share-based payments are treated as equity-settled because the Group and the Bank has no obligation to 

settle the transactions related to the Share Deferral Program. 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in share options 

during the year: 

 

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2021 was 4.80 years 

(4.80). 

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was EUR 8,97 to EUR 11,55 (6.48 to 9.49). 

 

9. DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

  
  

Number WAEP Number WAEP

Outstanding at 1 January 448,371 389,492

Granted during the year 170,190 165,810

Forfeited during the year -132,729 -56,801

Exercised during the year -65,570 10.23 -50,130 7.54

Expired during the year 639-                               -                                 

Outstanding at 31 December 419,623 448,371

Exercisable at 31 December 47,371 56,381

2021 2020

2021 2020 2021 2020

Amortization of intangible assets (Note 20) -2,149 -1,423 -2,149 -1,423

Depreciation of tangible assets (Note 21) -3,146 -2,802 -3,138 -2,796

Depreciation of right of use assets (Note 22) -4,402 -4,967 -4,382 -4,949

Depreciation of investment property (Note 23) -16 -29 -16 -29

Total -9,713 -9,221 -9,685 -9,197

The Group The Bank



AB SEB bankas  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

(All amounts in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

Page 70 of 109 

 

10. OTHER EXPENSES 

 

 

During the year 2021 and 2020 the Group and the Bank have acquired following services from its auditor Ernst & Young 

Baltic UAB: 

 

  
 

11. NET EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES 

Net ECL level is calculated as Net credit impairments in relation to the opening balance of the year of loans to the public and loans 
to credit institutions measured at amortised cost, financial guarantees and loan commitments, net of ECL allowances. 

 

  
  

2021 2020 2021 2020

IT costs -8,154 -7,903 -8,058 -7,788

Cost of premises -3,605 -4,104 -3,593 -4,091

Supervisory and regulatory fees  -2,094 -1,817 -2,094 -1,817

Direct cost of equipment and stationary -1,045 -1,585 -1,036 -1,571

Marketing -1,086 -1,301 -1,074 -1,286

Information services -561 -694 -489 -634

Consultants -504 -504 -504 -504

Travel and entertainment -543 -198 -538 -196

Other operating expenses -5,166 -3,559 -4,867 -3,221

of which

Transportation expenses -473 -573 -473 -571

Operational risk expenses -47 -518 -47 -518

Audit expenses -158 -175 -133 -139

Services with SEB group entities -1,730 -1,230 -1,514 -1,178

Total -22,758 -21,665 -22,253 -21,108

The Group The Bank

2021 2020 2021 2020

Audit services -158 -175 -133 -139

Non-audit assurance services and other non-audit services -44 -17 -44 -17

Total services purchases -202 -192 -177 -156

The Group The Bank

2021 2020 2021 2020

Impairment gain or loss - Stage 1 3,044 -9,198 3,044 -9,198

Impairment gain or loss - Stage 2 -4,730 -2,591 -4,730 -2,591

Impairment gain or loss - Stage 3 5,834 -3,267 5,834 -3,267

Impairment gains or losses (IFRS 9) 4,148 -15,056 4,148 -15,056

Write-offs and recoveries

Total write-offs -14,168 -5,958 -14,168 -5,958

Reversal of allowances for write-offs 14,148 5,958 14,148 5,958

Write-offs previously not provided for -20 -                                 -20 -                                 

Recoveries from previous write-offs 4,891 1,394 4,891 1,394

Net write-offs 4,871 1,394 4,871 1,394

Net expected credit losses 9,019 -13,662 9,019 -13,662

Net ECL level, % 0.11% -0.18% 0.11% -0.18%

The Group The Bank
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE  

 

  

The tax on the Group’s and the Bank’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax 

rate as follows: 

  

Standard income tax rate in Lithuania is 15 per cent. Starting from 1 January 2020, additional 5 per cent income tax rate is applied 

for credit institutions in Lithuania. Initially it was applied for 3 years, until the end of 2023. In December 2021, Amendment of Law 
on Corporate income tax was adopted, and additional income tax per cent for credit institutions became permanent. In 2021 and 

2020 effective tax rate does not differ significantly from the nominal tax rate. 

Deferred tax asset  

  

Deferred tax liability 

  

As at 31 December 2021 deferred income tax was calculated using 20 percent income tax rate. 

As at 31 December 2020, deferred income tax was calculated using 20 percent income tax rate if realization is expected until the 

end of year 2023 and using 15 percent rate for later realization.  

  

2021 2020 2021 2020

Current year tax charge 28,012 23,364 27,678 23,019

Previous years related tax charge -134 -266 -137 -265

Change in deferred tax assset and liability balance 1,047 -279 1,048 -280

Total income tax charge 28,925 22,819 28,589 22,474

The Group The Bank

2021 2020 2021 2020

Profit before tax 142,789 115,950 144,395 115,728

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 20% 28,558 23,190 28,879 23,146

Income not subject for tax -474 -357 -1,126 -768

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 83 96 81 91

Correction of used deferred tax 457 156 457 270

Deferred tax expense (income) relating to changes in tax rates 

(2019 - 15%; 2020 - 20%)

435 -                                 435 -                                 

Correction of previous period income tax -134 -266 -137 -265

Total income tax charge 28,925 22,819 28,589 22,474

The Group The Bank

2021 2020 2021 2020

Assets at 1 January 10 12 -                                -                                 
Income statement charge 1 -2 -                                -                                 

Asset at 31 December 11 10 -                                                                       -   

The Group The Bank

2021 2020 2021 2020

Liability  at 1 January 40 320 40 320
Income statement charge 1,048 -280 1,048 -280

Liability at 31 December 1,088 40 1,088 40

The Group The Bank
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 
 

 
 

13. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK 

 

 

Eurosystem‘s minimum reserve requirements comprise 1 percent (the same for the year 2020) of balance of current accounts, 

deposits with agreed maturity or period of notice up to 2 years, calculated on the basis of the bank‘s statement of financial position 
prior to the start of the new maintenance period. ECB‘s remuneration rate for six time larger calculated reserve requirements 

amount is 0.0 percent, while deposit facility rate for the rest of amount on TARGET2 account is minus 0.5 percent.  

Demand deposits with Central bank are subject to ECL allowances, at 31 December 2021 ECL allowances for demand deposits 

with Central bank rounded to zero.  

 

14. LOANS TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 

 

 

 

Loans and current accounts with credit institutions are subject to ECL allowances. At 31 December 2021 ECL allowances for 

current accounts with credit institutions rounded to zero. Information about credit quality and ECL allowances of loans to credit 
institutions is disclosed in Note 15. 

Amounts due from credit institutions at 31 December 2021 have been due from counterparties with the rating not lower than 

BBB- based on rating agency Standard & Poor’s ratings except for EUR 269 thousand that are due from the counterparties which 

are not rated and EUR 2 thousand from counterparties which are under non-investment grade. 
  

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Deferred tax assets

Accrued expense 3,308 2,974 3,296 2,961

Impairment losses 24 213 24 213

Revaluation of derivatives -                                 776 -                                 776

Total deferred tax assets 3,332 3,963 3,320 3,950

Deferred tax liability

Amortisation and depreciation 3,587 2,317 3,586 2,314

Other accruals 265 367 265 367
Revaluation of  securities  accounted at fair value 307 1,309 307 1,309

Revaluation of derivatives 250 -                                 250 -                                 

Total deferred tax liability 4,409 3,993 4,408 3,990

Net deferred tax asset (liability) -1,077 -30 -1,088 -40

The Group The Bank

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Cash 132,578                   139,408                   132,578                   139,408                   

Demand deposits 3,432,931              1,795,419              3,432,931              1,795,419              

of which:

mandatory reserve 96,725                     82,580                     96,725                     82,580                     

Total                 3,565,509                 1,934,827                 3,565,509                 1,934,827 

The Group The Bank

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Loans (Note 15) 307,735                   782,347                   307,735                   782,347                   

Current accounts 311,281                   1,104,056              311,281                   1,104,056              

Total                      619,016                 1,886,403                      619,016                 1,886,403 

The Group The Bank
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14. LOANS TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

Amounts due from credit institutions at 31 December 2020 have been due from counterparties with the rating not lower than 

BBB- based on rating agency Standard & Poor’s ratings except for EUR 1,157 thousand that are due from the counterparties which 

are not rated and EUR 293 thousand from counterparties which are under non-investment grade. 

15. LOANS TO THE PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 
 

 

 

 

 
 

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

General governments 118,078                   78,893                      118,078                   78,893                      

Credit institutions (Note 14) 307,735                   782,347                   307,735                   782,347                   

Other financial corporations 1,683                          2,466                          1,683                          2,466                          

Non-financial corporations 2,935,610              2,697,066              2,935,610              2,697,066              

Households 3,239,798              3,032,063              3,239,798              3,032,063              

Total                 6,602,904                 6,592,835                 6,602,904                 6,592,835 

The Group The Bank
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15. LOANS TO THE PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

The table below shows gross carrying amounts for Group’s and Bank’s exposures on-balance-sheet measured at amortised cost and nominal amounts for exposures off-balance-sheet divided by stage 

as a mean to put ECL allowances in context to total exposure as at 31 December 2021.  

 

 
 

  

The Group and the Bank

Balance as at 31 December 2021
Stage 1 (12-

month ECL)

Stage 2 (lifetime 

ECL)

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/

lifetime ECL)

Total
Stage 1 (12-

month ECL)

Stage 2 (lifetime 

ECL)

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/

lifetime ECL)

Total
Stage 1 (12-

month ECL)

Stage 2 (lifetime 

ECL)

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/

lifetime ECL)

Total

Loans to public and credit institutions

General governments 118,028 56 -                            118,084 -6 -                            -                            -6 118,022 56 -                            118,078

Credit institutions 307,738 1 -                            307,739 -4 -                            -                            -4 307,734 1 -                            307,735

Other financial corporations 1,627 59 -                            1,686 -2 -1 -                            -3 1,625 58 -                            1,683

Non-financial corporations 2,860,768 63,379 38,333 2,962,480 -3,309 -8,654 -14,907 -26,870 2,857,459 54,725 23,426 2,935,610

Households 3,139,822 88,188 29,865 3,257,875 -4,019 -2,502 -11,556 -18,077 3,135,803 85,686 18,309 3,239,798

Total 6,427,983 151,683 68,198 6,647,864 -7,340 -11,157 -26,463 -44,960 6,420,643 140,526 41,735 6,602,904

Financial guarantees and loan commitments

General governments 8,782 -                             -                            8,782 -1 -                            -                            -1 8,781 -                             -                            8,781

Credit institutions 87,599 357 -                            87,956 -1 -2 -                            -3 87,598 355 -                            87,953

Other financial corporations 777 10 -                            787 0 -                            -                            -                             777 10 -                            787

Non-financial corporations 1,403,672 14,411 31 1,418,114 -1,362 -137 -5 -1,504 1,402,310 14,274 26 1,416,610

Households 149,082 853 27 149,962 -171 -9 -8 -188 148,911 844 19 149,774

Total 1,649,912 15,631 58 1,665,601 -1,535 -148 -13 -1,696 1,648,377 15,483 45 1,663,905

Total Loans to public and credit institutions and 

Financial guarantees and loan commitments

General governments 126,810 56 -                            126,866 -7 -                            -                            -7 126,803 56 -                            126,859

Credit institutions 395,337 358 -                            395,695 -5 -2 -                            -7 395,332 356 -                            395,688

Other financial corporations 2,404 69 -                            2,473 -2 -1 -                            -3 2,402 68 -                            2,470

Non-financial corporations 4,264,440 77,790 38,364 4,380,594 -4,671 -8,791 -14,912 -28,374 4,259,769 68,999 23,452 4,352,220

Households 3,288,904 89,041 29,892 3,407,837 -4,190 -2,511 -11,564 -18,265 3,284,714 86,530 18,328 3,389,572

Total 8,077,895 167,314 68,256 8,313,465 -8,875 -11,305 -26,476 -46,656 8,069,020 156,009 41,780 8,266,809

ECL coverage ratio 0.11% 6.76% 38.79% 0.56%

Share of total ECL allowances 19.02% 24.23% 56.75%

Gross carrying amounts/Nominal amounts ECL allowances Carrying amounts/Net amounts
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15. LOANS TO THE PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

The table below shows gross carrying amounts for Group’s and Bank’s exposures on-balance-sheet measured at amortised cost and nominal amounts for exposures off-balance-sheet divided by stage 

as a mean to put ECL allowances in context to total exposure as at 31 December 2020: 

  

 
 

The Group and the Bank

Balance as at 31 December 2020
Stage 1 (12-

month ECL)

Stage 2 (lifetime 

ECL)

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/

lifetime ECL)

Total
Stage 1 (12-

month ECL)

Stage 2 (lifetime 

ECL)

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/

lifetime ECL)

Total
Stage 1 (12-

month ECL)

Stage 2 (lifetime 

ECL)

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/

lifetime ECL)

Total

Loans to public and credit institutions

General governments 78,896 2 -                            78,898 -5 -                            -                            -5 78,891 2 -                            78,893

Credit institutions 782,365 1 -                            782,366 -19 -                            -                            -19 782,346 1 -                            782,347

Other financial corporations 2,416 53 -                            2,469 -3 -                            -                            -3 2,413 53 -                            2,466

Non-financial corporations 2,595,722 77,307 61,756 2,734,785 -5,034 -3,316 -29,369 -37,719 2,590,688 73,991 32,387 2,697,066

Households 2,905,736 108,010 41,824 3,055,570 -4,156 -2,916 -16,435 -23,507 2,901,580 105,094 25,389 3,032,063

Total 6,365,135 185,373 103,580 6,654,088 -9,217 -6,232 -45,804 -61,253 6,355,918 179,141 57,776 6,592,835

Financial guarantees and loan commitments

General governments 6,337 58 -                            6,395 -1 -                            -                            -1 6,336 58 -                            6,394

Credit institutions 84,962 -                            -                            84,962 -1 -                            -                            -1 84,961 -                            -                            84,961

Other financial corporations 718 3 -                            721 -1 -                            -                            -1 717 3 -                            720

Non-financial corporations 1,624,488 17,844 3,561 1,645,893 -2,481 -315 -637 -3,433 1,622,007 17,529 2,924 1,642,460

Households 125,806 3,096 42 128,944 -215 -29 -13 -257 125,591 3,067 29 128,687

Total 1,842,311 21,001 3,603 1,866,915 -2,699 -344 -650 -3,693 1,839,612 20,657 2,953 1,863,222

Total Loans to public and credit institutions and 

Financial guarantees and loan commitments

General governments 85,233 60 -                            85,293 -6 -                            -                            -6 85,227 60 -                            85,287

Credit institutions 867,327 1 -                            867,328 -20 -                            -                            -20 867,307 1 -                            867,308

Other financial corporations 3,134 56 -                            3,190 -4 -                            -                            -4 3,130 56 -                            3,186

Non-financial corporations 4,220,210 95,151 65,317 4,380,678 -7,515 -3,631 -30,006 -41,152 4,212,695 91,520 35,311 4,339,526

Households 3,031,542 111,106 41,866 3,184,514 -4,371 -2,945 -16,448 -23,764 3,027,171 108,161 25,418 3,160,750

Total 8,207,446 206,374 107,183 8,521,003 -11,916 -6,576 -46,454 -64,946 8,195,530 199,798 60,729 8,456,057

ECL coverage ratio 0.15% 3.19% 43.34% 0.76%

Share of total ECL allowances 18.35% 10.13% 71.53%

Gross carrying amounts/Nominal amounts ECL allowances Carrying amounts/Net amounts
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15. LOANS TO THE PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

Table below shows Group’s and Bank’s movements of allowance accounts for on-balance-sheet exposures and off-balance-sheet 

exposures. 

During the year 2021 there were no significant changes in gross carrying amounts of loans to public, which contributed 
significantly to changes in the loss allowance. Decrease in ECL balance was mostly driven by write-offs, as seen in the table below. 

 

(Continued)  

31 December 2021

The Group and the Bank
Stage 1 (12-

month ECL)

Stage 2 (lifetime 

ECL)

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/lifetime 

ECL) Total

General governments

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 -5 -                                -                                -5

New and derecognised financial assets, net -1 -                                -                                -1

Changes due to change in credit risk -                                -                                -                                -                                

Changes due to modifications -                                -                                -                                -                                

Changes due to methodology change -                                -                                -                                -                                

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

Exchange rate differences -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total -6 -                                -                                -6

Credit institutions

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 -19 -                                -                                -19

New and derecognised financial assets, net -7 -                                -                                -7

Changes due to change in credit risk 22 -                                -                                22                                  

Changes due to modifications -                                 -                                -                                -                                

Changes due to methodology change -                                 -                                -                                -                                

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                -                                -                                -                                

Exchange rate differences -                                 -                                -                                -                                

Total -4 -                                -                                -4

Other financial corporations

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 -3 -                                 -                                -3

New and derecognised financial assets, net 0 -1 -                                -1

Changes due to change in credit risk 2 -1 -                                1                                     

Changes due to modifications -                                 -                                 -                                -                                

Changes due to methodology change -                                 -                                 -                                -                                

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                 -                                 -                                -                                

Exchange rate differences 1-                                      1                                      -                                -                                

Total -2 -1 -                                -3

Non-financial corporations

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 -5,034 -3,316 -29,369 -37,719

New and derecognised financial assets, net 420 1,077 2,082 3,579

Changes due to change in credit risk 1,294 -6,387 1,326 -3,767

Changes due to modifications -                                -27 -                                -27

Changes due to methodology change 12 -                                -                                 12

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                -                                11,057                       11,057

Exchange rate differences -1 -1 -3 -5

Total -3,309 -8,654 -14,907 -26,870

Households

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 -4,156 -2,916 -16,435 -23,507

New and derecognised financial assets, net -211 194 1,204 1,187

Changes due to change in credit risk 337 223 585 1,145

Changes due to modifications -                                -3 -                                -3

Changes due to methodology change 11 -                                 -                                 11

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                 -                                 3,090                          3,090

Exchange rate differences -                                -                                 -                                -                                 

Total -4,019 -2,502 -11,556 -18,077

Total loans

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 -9,217 -6,232 -45,804 -61,253

New and derecognised financial assets, net 201 1,270 3,286 4,757

Changes due to change in credit risk 1,655 -6,165 1,911 -2,599

Changes due to modifications -                                -30 -                                -30

Changes due to methodology change 23 -                                 -                                 23

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                 -                                 14,147                       14,147

Exchange rate differences -2 -                                 -3 -5

Total -7,340 -11,157 -26,463 -44,960
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15. LOANS TO THE PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

 

 

(Concluded) 

  

The Group and the Bank
Stage 1 (12-

month ECL)

Stage 2 (lifetime 

ECL)

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/lifetime 

ECL) Total

Financial guarantees and loan commitments

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 -2,699 -344 -650 -3,693

New and derecognised financial assets, net 599 73 653 1,325

Changes due to change in credit risk 564 123 -16 671

Changes due to modifications -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

Changes due to methodology change 3 -                                 -                                 3

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

Exchange rate differences -2 -                                 -                                 -2

Total -1,535 -148 -13 -1,696

Total loans and financial guarantees and loan commitments

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 -11,916 -6,576 -46,454 -64,946

New and derecognised financial assets, net 800 1,343 3,939 6,082

Changes due to change in credit risk 2,219 -6,042 1,895 -1,928

Changes due to modifications -                                -30 -                                -30

Changes due to methodology change 26 -                                 -                                 26

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                 -                                 14,147                       14,147

Exchange rate differences -4 -                                 -3 -7

Total -8,875 -11,305 -26,476 -46,656
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15. LOANS TO THE PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

During the year 2020 there were no significant changes in gross carrying amounts of loans to public, which contributed 

significantly to changes in the loss allowance. Changes in the loss allowance were mainly affected by assessing the possible 

negative impact of COVID-19, which resulted in loss allowance increase. 

 
(Continued)  

31 December 2020

The Group and the Bank
Stage 1 (12-

month ECL)

Stage 2 (lifetime 

ECL)

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/lifetime 

ECL) Total

General governments

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 -6 -                                -                                -6

New and derecognised financial assets, net 1 -                                -                                1

Changes due to change in credit risk -                                -                                -                                -                                

Changes due to modifications -                                -                                -                                -                                

Changes due to methodology change -                                -                                -                                -                                

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                -                                -                                -                                

Exchange rate differences -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total -5 -                                -                                -5

Credit institutions

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 -                                -                                -                                -                                

New and derecognised financial assets, net -19 -                                -                                -19

Changes due to change in credit risk -                                -                                -                                -                                

Changes due to modifications -                                -                                -                                -                                

Changes due to methodology change -                                -                                -                                -                                

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                -                                -                                -                                

Exchange rate differences -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total -19 -                                -                                -19

Other financial corporations

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 -1 -                                -                                -1

New and derecognised financial assets, net -                                -                                -                                -                                

Changes due to change in credit risk -2 -                                -                                -2

Changes due to modifications -                                -                                -                                -                                

Changes due to methodology change -                                -                                -                                -                                

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                -                                -                                -                                

Exchange rate differences -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total -3 -                                -                                -3

Non-financial corporations

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 -1,279 -403 -29,641 -31,323

New and derecognised financial assets, net 285 542 -2,227 -1,400

Changes due to change in credit risk -4,061 -3,340 -1,908 -9,309

Changes due to modifications -                                -115 -                                -115

Changes due to methodology change 21 -                                -8 13

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                -                                4,412 4,412

Exchange rate differences -                                -                                3 3

Total -5,034 -3,316 -29,369 -37,719

Households

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 -1,046 -1,952 -18,979 -21,977

New and derecognised financial assets, net -317 64 936 683

Changes due to change in credit risk -2,794 -1,028 62 -3,760

Changes due to modifications -                                -                                -                                -                                

Changes due to methodology change 1 2 -2 1

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                -                                1,548 1,548                          

Exchange rate differences -                                -2 -                                -2

Total -4,156 -2,916 -16,435 -23,507

Total loans

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 -2,332 -2,355 -48,620 -53,307

New and derecognised financial assets, net -50 606 -1,291 -735

Changes due to change in credit risk -6,857 -4,368 -1,846 -13,071

Changes due to modifications -                                -115 -                                -115

Changes due to methodology change 22 2 -10 14

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                 -                                 5,960 5,960

Exchange rate differences -                                -2 3 1

Total -9,217 -6,232 -45,804 -61,253
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15. LOANS TO THE PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

 

 
(Concluded) 

The table below shows Group’s and Bank’s gross carrying amounts and ECL allowances for credit-impaired loans divided by stage 

3 and the fair value of collaterals for these assets as at 31 December 2021: 

 

The table below shows Group’s and Bank’s gross carrying amounts and ECL allowances for credit-impaired loans divided by stage 

3 and the fair value of collaterals for these assets as at 31 December 2020: 

 

 

  

The Group and the Bank
Stage 1 (12-

month ECL)

Stage 2 (lifetime 

ECL)

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/lifetime 

ECL) Total

Financial guarantees and loan commitments

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 -389 -1,640 -611 -2,640

New and derecognised financial assets, net -18 47 4,566 4,595

Changes due to change in credit risk -2,296 1,414 -4,687 -5,569

Changes due to modifications -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

Changes due to methodology change 2 -176 -                                -174

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

Exchange rate differences 2 11 82 95

Total -2,699 -344 -650 -3,693

Total loans and financial guarantees and loan commitments

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 -2,721 -3,995 -49,231 -55,947

New and derecognised financial assets, net -68 653 3,275 3,860

Changes due to change in credit risk -9,153 -2,954 -6,533 -18,640

Changes due to modifications -                                -115 -                                -115

Changes due to methodology change 24 -174 -10 -160

Decreases in ECL allowances due to write-offs -                                 -                                 5,960 5,960

Exchange rate differences 2 9 85 96

Total -11,916 -6,576 -46,454 -64,946

Stage 3 (credit impaired/lifetime ECL)

Gross carrying 

amounts ECL allowances Carrying amounts

Fair value of 

collateral held

General governments -                                -                                -                                -                                

Credit institutions -                                -                                -                                -                                

Other financial corporations -                                -                                -                                -                                

Non-financial corporations 38,333 -14,907 23,426 21,474

Households 29,865 -11,556 18,309 20,948

Total 68,198 -26,463 41,735 42,422

Stage 3 (credit impaired/lifetime ECL)

Gross carrying 

amounts ECL allowances Carrying amounts

Fair value of 

collateral held

General governments -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

Credit institutions -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

Other financial corporations -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

Non-financial corporations 61,756 -29,369 32,387 30,723

Households 41,824 -16,435 25,389 33,511

Total 103,580 -45,804 57,776 64,234
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15. LOANS TO THE PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

The table below shows gross carrying amounts for exposures on balance and nominal amounts for exposures off-balance divided 

by stage and risk classification category. The Group and the Bank did not have exposures on purchased or originated credit-

impaired financial assets.  

 
  

31 December 2021

Stage 1 (12-month 

ECL)

Stage 2 (lifetime 

ECL)

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/lifetime 

ECL) Total

Risk classification category

General governments

Investment grade 735                                -                                -                                735                              

Standard monitoring 117,293                     56                                  -                                117,349                   

Watch list -                                  -                                -                                -                                

Default -                                  -                                -                                -                                

118,028                     56                                  -                                118,084                   

Credit institutions

Investment grade 307,738                     -                                -                                307,738                   

Standard monitoring -                                  1                                     -                                1                                     

Watch list -                                  -                                -                                -                                

Default -                                  -                                -                                -                                

307,738                     1                                     -                                307,739                   

Other financial corporations

Investment grade 675                                -                                -                                675                              

Standard monitoring 952                                59                                  -                                1,011                          

Watch list -                                  -                                -                                -                                

Default -                                  -                                -                                -                                

1,627                           59                                  -                                1,686                          

Non-financial corporations

Investment grade 1,145,806                -                                -                                1,145,806              

Standard monitoring 1,714,961                24,793                      -                                1,739,754              

Watch list -                                  38,505                      -                                38,505                      

Default 1                                       80                                  38,332                      38,413                      

2,860,768                63,378                      38,332                      2,962,478              

Households

Investment grade -                                  -                                -                                -                                

Standard monitoring 3,139,761                87,712                      911                              3,228,384              

Watch list -                                  457                              -                                457                              

Default 61                                   19                                  28,954                      29,034                      

3,139,822                88,188                      29,865                      3,257,875              

Total Demand deposits with Central Bank and credit 

institutions and Loans to public and credit institutions by 

risk classification category

Investment grade 1,454,954                -                                -                                1,454,954              

Standard monitoring 4,972,967                112,621                   911                              5,086,499              

Watch list -                                  38,962                      -                                38,962                      

Default 62                                   99                                  67,286                      67,447                      

Total 6,427,983                151,682                   68,197                      6,647,862              

Financial guarantees and Loan commitments

Investment grade 958,867                     430                              -                                959,297                   

Standard monitoring 691,024                     12,752                      18                                  703,794                   

Watch list 10                                   2,450                          -                                2,460                          

Default 11                                   -                                41                                  52                                  

1,649,912                15,632                      59                                  1,665,603              

Total by risk classification category

Total investment grade 2,413,821                430                              -                                2,414,251              

Total standard monitoring 5,663,991                125,373                   929                              5,790,293              

Total watch list 10                                   41,412                      -                                41,422                      

Total default 73                                   99                                  67,327                      67,499                      

Total 8,077,895                167,314                   68,256                      8,313,465              

The Group and the Bank
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15. LOANS TO THE PUBLIC AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS (CONTINUED) 

 

In 2021 the Group and the Bank has corrected distribution by risk classification category of Stage 3 ECLs for the year 2020.  

 

 
  

31 December 2020

Stage 1 (12-

month ECL)

Stage 2 (lifetime 

ECL)

Stage 3 (credit 

impaired/lifetime 

ECL)

Total

Risk classification category

General governments

Investment grade 3,446                          2                                      -                                 3,448                          

Standard monitoring 75,450                       -                                 -                                 75,450                       

Watch list -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

Default -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

78,896                       2                                      -                                 78,898                       

Credit institutions

Investment grade 782,291                    -                                 -                                 782,291                    

Standard monitoring 74                                  1                                      -                                 75                                  

Watch list -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

Default -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

782,365                    1                                      -                                 782,366                    

Other financial corporations

Investment grade 1,700                          -                                 -                                 1,700                          

Standard monitoring 716                               53                                  -                                 769                               

Watch list -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

Default -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

2,416                          53                                  -                                 2,469                          

Non-financial corporations

Investment grade 1,002,632               45                                  -                                 1,002,677               

Standard monitoring 1,588,927               30,512                       28                                  1,619,467               

Watch list 4,156                          46,473                       -                                 50,629                       

Default 7                                      277                               61,728                       62,012                       

2,595,722               77,307                       61,756                       2,734,785               

Households

Investment grade 49                                  -                                 -                                 49                                  

Standard monitoring 2,905,354               106,775                    743                               3,012,872               

Watch list -                                 1,018                          -                                 1,018                          

Default 333                               217                               41,081                       41,631                       

2,905,736               108,010                    41,824                       3,055,570               

Total Loans to public and credit institutions by risk 

classification category
Investment grade 1,790,118               47                                  -                                 1,790,165               

Standard monitoring 4,570,521               137,341                    771                               4,708,633               

Watch list 4,156                          47,491                       -                                 51,647                       

Default 340                               494                               102,809                    103,643                    

Total 6,365,135               185,373                    103,580                    6,654,088               

Financial guarantees and Loan commitments

Investment grade 1,131,149               -                                 -                                 1,131,149               

Standard monitoring 711,148                    12,305                       79                                  723,532                    

Watch list 2                                      8,696                          -                                 8,698                          

Default 12                                  3,524                          3,536                          

1,842,311               21,001                       3,603                          1,866,915               

Total by risk classification category

Total investment grade 2,921,267               47                                  -                                 2,921,314               

Total standard monitoring 5,281,669               149,646                    850                               5,432,165               

Total watch list 4,158                          56,187                       -                                 60,345                       

Total default 352                               494                               106,333                    107,179                    

Total 8,207,446               206,374                    107,183                    8,521,003               

The Group and the Bank
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16. DEBT SECURITIES 
 

 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 majority of the Group’s and the Bank’s financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 

through profit or loss represent investments in Lithuanian and Latvian Government securities. 

The revaluation result on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is accounted in income statement under Net financial 
income. 

The table below presents an analysis of Bank’s trading debt securities and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss by 

rating agency designation at 31 December 2021 and 2020, based on Standard & Poor’s ratings or their equivalent: 

 
 

17. DERIVATIVES 

The Group and the Bank utilize the following derivative instruments for both hedging (economic hedge) and non-hedging purposes.  

Group’s and Bank’s derivative financial instruments:  

 
 

 

 
 

 

  

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

 Fair value through profit or loss held for trading 15,576                       11,010                       15,576                       11,010                       

 Fair value through profit or loss mandatorily 480,139                    475,875                    480,139                    475,875                    

 Total 495,715                    486,885                    495,715                    486,885                    

The Group The Bank

31/12/2021 31/12/2020

AAA 26,804                       461,067                    

A+ 465,401                    25,308                       

A 1,015                           -                                 

BBB+ 242                               -                                 

BBB 2,204                           -                                 

BB+ 49                                   510                               

 Total                       495,715                       486,885 

31 December 2021 Purchase Sale Assets Liabilities

Interest related 1,454,432               1,453,432               10,504                       9,284                           

Currency related 134,414                    134,357                    1,008                           970                               

Total                  1,588,846                  1,587,788                          11,512                          10,254 

Notional amount Fair value

31 December 2020 Purchase Sale Assets Liabilities

Interest related 1,310,967               1,310,967               11,657                       15,917                       

Currency related 254,339                    253,942                    4,469                           4,085                           

Total                  1,565,306                  1,564,909                          16,126                          20,002 

Notional amount Fair value
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18. EQUITY INSRUMENTS 

The table below shows breakdown of equity instruments as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. 

 

 

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 

 

 

UAB “SEB investicijų valdymas” is a fully owned subsidiary of the Bank, engaged in provision of investments’ management services.  

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, intangible assets of the Group and the Bank consisted of the following: 

 
 
In 2020 the Bank has finalized and launched new core IT platform, which operates majority of its banking services and business 

processes. With the launch of the new IT platform in Lithuania, SEB Group has completed its IT system alignment process in all the 

three Baltic countries. The carrying amount of core IT platform was EUR 12,640 thousand as at 31 December 2021 (12,800), its 

estimated useful life is 8 years. 
  

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Fair value through profit or loss mandatorily -                                 5,204                           -                                 5,204                           

Total                                         -                                5,204                                         -                                5,204 

The Group The Bank

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Securities accounted for under cost method:

UAB "SEB investicijų valdymas" -                                 -                                 2,871                           2,871                           

Total -                                 -                                                              2,871                              2,871 

The Group The Bank

The Group The Bank

Software and other 

intangible assets

Software and other 

intangible assets

2021

Balance at 1 January 2021 25,584 25,536

Additions 1,496 1,496

Retirements and disposals -1,059 -1,059

Acquisition cost at 31 December 2021 26,021 25,973

Balance at 1 January 2021 -10,796 -10,748

Amortisation (Note 9) -2,149 -2,149

Retirements and disposals 1,057 1,057

Accumulated amortisation and impairment at 31 December 

2021

-11,888 -11,840

Net book value at 31 December 2021 14,133 14,133

2020

Balance at 1 January 2020 53,857 53,805

Additions 3,886 3,886

Retirements and disposals -32,159 -32,155

Acquisition cost at 31 December 2020 25,584 25,536

Balance at 1 January 2020 -41,532 -41,480

Amortisation (Note 9) -1,423 -1,423

Retirements and disposals 32,159 32,155

Accumulated amortisation and impairment at 31 December 

2020

-10,796 -10,748

Net book value at 31 December 2020 14,788 14,788
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During the year 2021 acquisitions from internal developments amounted to EUR 962 thousand (1,162).  

21. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, property and equipment of the Group consisted of the following: 

 

 
 

  

Land Other equipment Total

2021

Balance at 1 January 2021 46 21,988 22,034

Additions -                                 803 803

Reclassifications -                                 -125 -125

Retirements and disposals -                                 -1,250 -1,250

Acquisition cost at 31 December 2021 46 21,416 21,462

Balance at 1 January 2021 -                                 -8,013 -8,013

Depreciation (Note 9) -                                 -3,146 -3,146

Reclassifications -                                 64 64

Retirements and disposals -                                 1,110 1,110

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December 2021                                         -   -9,985 -9,985

Net book value at 31 December 2021 46 11,431 11,477

2020

Balance at 1 January 2020 46 22,966 23,012

Additions -                                 8,377 8,377

Reclassifications -                                 -234 -234

Retirements and disposals -                                 -9,121 -9,121

Acquisition cost at 31 December 2020 46 21,988 22,034

Balance at 1 January 2020 -                                 -13,908 -13,908

Depreciation (Note 9) -                                 -2,802 -2,802

Reclassifications -                                 101 101

Retirements and disposals -                                 8,596 8,596

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December 2020                                         -   -8,013 -8,013

Net book value at 31 December 2020 46 13,975 14,021
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21. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, property and equipment of the Bank consisted of the following: 

 

 
 
  

Land Other equipment Total

2021

Balance at 1 January 2021 46 21,927 21,973

Additions -                                 799 799

Reclassifications -                                 -125 -125

Retirements and disposals -                                 -1,229 -1,229

Acquisition cost at 31 December 2021 46 21,372 21,418

Balance at 1 January 2021 -                                 -7,987 -7,987

Depreciation (Note 9) -                                 -3,138 -3,138

Reclassifications -                                 64 64

Retirements and disposals -                                 1,091 1,091

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December 2021                                         -   -9,970 -9,970

Net book value at 31 December 2021 46 11,402 11,448

2020

Balance at 1 January 2020 46 22,893 22,939

Additions -                                 8,344 8,344

Reclassifications -                                 -234 -234

Retirements and disposals -                                 -9,076 -9,076

Acquisition cost at 31 December 2020 46 21,927 21,973

Balance at 1 January 2020 -                                 -13,844 -13,844

Depreciation (Note 9) -                                 -2,796 -2,796

Reclassifications -                                 102 102

Retirements and disposals -                                 8,551 8,551

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December 2020                                         -   -7,987 -7,987

Net book value at 31 December 2020 46 13,940 13,986
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22. LEASES 

 

 

In June 2020 the Group and the Bank started to lease the Business center, which was constructed according to the agreed 
specifications. Initial lease term is 10 years. 

 

 

Lessor portfolio mainly includes transport vehicles, machinery and facilities. Residual value risk is not significant, because of the 

existence of secondary market. 
 

 

  

Lessee

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Income statement

Interest expense on lease 

liabilities Net interest income -159 -126 -159 -126

Expenses relating to short-term 

leases Other expenses -287 -425 -287 -425

Expenses relating to leases of 

low-value Other expenses -126 -196 -126 -196

Depreciation expense of right-of-

use assets

Depreciation, amortization and 

impairment of tangible and 

intangible assets (Note 9) -4,402 -4,967 -4,382 -4,949

Total -4,974 -5,714 -4,954 -5,696

Statement of financial position

Additions Right-of-use assets                                        -                           25,583 -                                                        25,583 

Closing balance Right-of-use assets                         28,511                         32,248 28,349                                              32,067 

Lease liabilities Other liabilities (Note 29)                         29,374                         33,168 29,374                                              33,168 

The Group The Bank

Lessor

Finance lease 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Undiscounted lease payments expected after reporting date and 

within

year 1 300,239 295,043 300,239 295,043

year 2 203,066 227,668 203,066 227,668

year 3 148,666 135,009 148,666 135,009

year 4 70,425 65,659 70,425 65,659

year 5 43,921 29,295 43,921 29,295

year >5 4,705 10,483 4,705 10,483

Total undiscounted lease payments receivable 771,022 763,157 771,022 763,157

Unearned finance income -25,346 -23,794 -25,346 -23,794

Net investment in leasing 745,676 739,363 745,676 739,363

Finance income (interest income) on the net investment
15,974                       16,812                       15,974                       16,812                       

The Group The Bank
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23. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, investment property of the Group and the Bank consisted of the following: 

 
 

The fair value of investment property was established in compliance with the procedures adopted within the SEB Group. The fair 

value of investment property does not differ materially from its book value as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. 

The major amount of investment property is foreclosed leased assets (land and buildings) taken over from the clients. The Bank is 
aiming to realise foreclosed assets. 

  

The Group and the 

Bank

Investment 

property

2021

Balance at 1 January 2021 1,451

Reclassification -422

Retirements and disposals -622

Acquisition cost at 31 December 2021 407

Balance at 1 January 2021 -387

Depreciation (Note 9) -16

Retirements and disposals 104

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December 2021 -299

Net book value at 31 December 2021 108                               

2020

Balance at 1 January 2020 1,150

Additions (taken over) 606

Retirements and disposals -305

Acquisition cost at 31 December 2020 1,451

Balance at 1 January 2020 -369

Depreciation (Note 9) -29

Retirements and disposals 11

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December 2020 -387

Net book value at 31 December 2020 1,064                           
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24. OTHER ASSETS 
  

 

There are no significant overdue or impaired amounts. 

The carrying values of Other financial assets approximates their fair value. 

25. PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME 

 

 

26. DEPOSITS FROM CENTRAL BANKS AND CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 
 

 
 

 

27. DEPOSITS AND BORROWINGS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 

Deposits and borrowings from the public by type of customer: 

 

 
 

According to the Republic of Lithuania Law on Insurance of Deposits and Liabilities to Investors the Bank has to make annual 

payments to funds of Deposit Insurance and Liabilities to Investors. Since 2015, all deposits, which are the object of Deposit 
Insurance according to the law, nominated in all the currencies, but not exceeding EUR 100 thousand equivalent, are covered.  

  

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Sub-lease receivables 599                               667                               762                               848                               

Trade receivables 1,076                           1,062                           256                               302                               

Client receivables 7,699                           19,969                       7,699                           19,969                       

Cash in transit 1,356                           5                                      1,356                           5                                      

Other assets 7,509                           4,048                           7,487                           3,985                           

of which

Assets to be leased and advances paid 6,418                          1,522                          6,418                          1,522                          

Total 18,239                       25,751                       17,560                       25,109                       

The Group The Bank

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Prepaid expenses 2,483                           3,044                           2,468                           3,024                           

Accrued income 2,794                           1,955                           3,799                           2,878                           

Total 5,277                           4,999                           6,267                           5,902                           

The Group The Bank

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Current and demand deposits 58,601                       47,601                       58,601                       47,601                       

Term deposits 150,166                    598,894                    150,166                    598,894                    

Total                       208,767                       646,495                       208,767                       646,495 

The Group The Bank

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

General governments 503,387                    284,092                    503,387                    284,092                    

Other financial corporations 228,764                    217,107                    234,147                    224,404                    

Non-financial corporations 3,028,049               2,829,980               3,028,049               2,829,980               

Households 6,017,370               5,245,693               6,017,370               5,245,693               

Total                  9,777,570                  8,576,872                  9,782,953                  8,584,169 

The Group The Bank
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28. PROVISIONS 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, provisions consisted of the following: 

 
 

Provisions for off-balance sheet items have been made in respect of ECL arising from contingent liabilities and contractual 

commitments, including guarantees and credit commitments.  

Movement of provisions for off-balance sheet liabilities for the year 2021 and 2020 is presented in Note 15. 

Other provisions comprise pension reserve, formed according to Labor Law of Republic of Lithuania requirement - at the time of 

employee retirement, employer has obligation for 2 salaries payout. Payout amount is accrued during the period of employment. 

Movement of provisions for long-term employee benefits and other provisions is presented below. Accounting policy for long-term 

employee benefits is disclosed in Note 1.19.3 Defined contribution plans. 

 

 

29. OTHER LIABILITIES 

 

 
 

The carrying values of Other financial liabilities approximates their fair value  

30. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND PREPAID INCOME 

 

 
  

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

 Provisions for off-balance sheet items 1,696                           3,693                           1,696                           3,693                           

 Provisions for long-term employee benefits 4,865                           3,679                           4,830                           3,640                           

 Other provisions 704                               598                               704                               598                               

Total 7,265                           7,970                           7,230                           7,931                           

The Group The Bank

The Group The Bank

 Balance at 1 January 2021 4,277 4,238

 Additions 2,834 2,827

 Amounts used -1,249 -1,238

 Unused amounts reversed -399 -399

 Effect of change in discount rate -11 -11

 Other movements 117 117

 Balance at 31 December 2021 5,569 5,534

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Trade payables 9,453                           8,116                           9,449                           8,116                           

Client payables 54,097                       41,801                       54,077                       41,781                       

Lease liabilities (Note 22) 29,374                       33,168                       29,374                       33,168                       

Cash in transit 965                               1,913                           965                               1,913                           

Other liabilities 10,328                       10,203                       10,274                       10,133                       

Total 104,217                    95,201                       104,139                    95,111                       

The Group The Bank

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Accrued expenses 6,750                           6,197                           6,619                           6,035                           

Prepaid income 357                               1,033                           357                               1,033                           

Total 7,107                           7,230                           6,976                           7,068                           

The Group The Bank
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31. ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

Authorised shares 

 

100 per cent of authorised shares of the Bank is owed by Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), registered in Sweden. 

Other capital reserves 

 

 

 

 

  

Number of shares

Percentage of 

total number Paid-in capital Number of shares

Percentage of 

total number Paid-in capital

Ordinary shares of 19.4 EUR 

par value each, fully paid 15,441,423 100% 299,564 15,441,423 100% 299,564

31/12/2021 31/12/2020

The Group Reserve capital Legal reserve

General and other 

reserves Total

Balance at 1 January 2020 637 186,546 2,966 190,149

Share-based compensation -                                -                                484 484

Realisation of share-based compensation -                                -                                -261 -261

Transfers to reserves -                                14,500 -                                14,500

Balance at 31 December 2020 637 201,046 3,189 204,872

Balance at 1 January 2021 637 201,046 3,189 204,872

Share-based compensation -                                -                                654 654

Realisation of share-based compensation -                                -                                -484 -484

Transfers to reserves -                                18,437 -                                18,437

Balance at 31 December 2021 637 219,483 3,359 223,479

The Bank Reserve capital Legal reserve

General and other 

reserves Total

Balance at 1 January 2020 637 186,260 2,965 189,862

Share-based compensation -                                -                                484 484

Realisation of share-based compensation -                                -                                -261 -261

Transfers to reserves -                                14,500 -                                14,500

Balance at 31 December 2020 637 200,760 3,188 204,585

Balance at 1 January 2021 637 200,760 3,188 204,585

Share-based compensation -                                -                                653 653

Realisation of share-based compensation -                                -                                -484 -484

Transfers to reserves -                                18,437 -                                18,437

Balance at 31 December 2021 637 219,197 3,357 223,191
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32. ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT 

 

 

For the year ended 31 December 2021 the management fee for funds management in the Group amounted to EUR 7,649 thousand 

(7,270), and for the Bank to EUR 275 thousand (171). It is included in Net fee and commission income line in the income statement.  

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY MEASUREMENT CATEGORIES 

 
Distribution of Group’s and Bank’s assets, liabilities and equity by measurement categories is presented in the tables below. 

 

 
  

31/12/2021    

(unaudited) 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Pension funds 1,601,442               1,216,068               -                                 -                                 

Customer portfolios managed on a discretionary basis 395,458                    335,581                    73,653                       32,123                       

Other investment vehicles 75,075                       63,493                       75,075                       63,493                       

Total 2,071,975               1,615,142               148,728                    95,616                       

The Group The Bank

The Group

Assets FVHFT* FVMPL** AmC*** Total

Cash and balances with central bank -                                                -                                                3,565,509                              3,565,509                              

Loans to credit institutions -                                                -                                                619,016                                   619,016                                   

Loans to the public -                                                -                                                6,295,169                              6,295,169                              

Debt securities 15,576                                      480,139                                   -                                                495,715                                   

Derivatives 11,512                                      -                                                -                                                11,512                                      

Other financial assets -                                                -                                                12,925                                      12,925                                      

Total financial assets 27,088                                      480,139                                   10,492,619                           10,999,846                           

Other assets (non-financial) -                                                -                                                -                                                64,831                                      

Total 27,088                                      480,139                                   10,492,619                           11,064,677                           

Liabilities FVHFT* FVMPL** AmC*** Total

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions -                                                -                                                208,767                                   208,767                                   

Deposits and borrowings from the public -                                                -                                                9,777,570                              9,777,570                              

Derivatives 10,254                                      -                                                -                                                10,254                                      

Other financial liabilities -                                                -                                                100,639                                   100,639                                   

Total financial liabilities 10,254                                      -                                                10,086,976                           10,097,230                           

Other liabilities (non-financial) -                                                -                                                -                                                22,249                                      

Equity -                                                -                                                -                                                945,198                                   

Total 10,254                                      -                                                10,086,976                           11,064,677                           

31/12/2021
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY MEASUREMENT CATEGORIES (CONTINUED) 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

  

The Group

Assets FVHFT* FVMPL** AmC*** Total

Cash and balances with central bank -                                                -                                                1,934,827                              1,934,827                              

Loans to credit institutions -                                                -                                                1,886,403                              1,886,403                              

Loans to the public -                                                -                                                5,810,488                              5,810,488                              

Debt securities 11,010                                      475,875                                   -                                                486,885                                   

Derivatives 16,126                                      -                                                -                                                16,126                                      

Equity instruments -                                                5,204                                         -                                                5,204                                         

Other financial assets -                                                -                                                21,036                                      21,036                                      

Total financial assets 27,136                                      481,079                                   9,652,754                              10,160,969                           

Other assets (non-financial) -                                                -                                                -                                                71,845                                      

Total 27,136                                      481,079                                   9,652,754                              10,232,814                           

Liabilities FVHFT* FVMPL** AmC*** Total

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions -                                                -                                                646,495                                   646,495                                   

Deposits and borrowings from the public -                                                -                                                8,576,872                              8,576,872                              

Derivatives 20,002                                      -                                                -                                                20,002                                      

Other financial liabilities -                                                -                                                91,195                                      91,195                                      

Total financial liabilities 20,002                                      -                                                9,314,562                              9,334,564                              

Other liabilities (non-financial) -                                                -                                                -                                                21,004                                      

Equity -                                                -                                                -                                                877,246                                   

Total 20,002                                      -                                                9,314,562                              10,232,814                           

31/12/2020

The Bank

Assets FVHFT* FVMPL** AmC*** Total

Cash and balances with central bank -                                                -                                                3,565,509                              3,565,509                              

Loans to credit institutions -                                                -                                                619,016                                   619,016                                   

Loans to the public -                                                -                                                6,295,169                              6,295,169                              

Debt securities 15,576                                      480,139                                   -                                                495,715                                   

Derivatives 11,512                                      -                                                -                                                11,512                                      

Equity instruments -                                                -                                                -                                                -                                                

Other financial assets -                                                -                                                13,110                                      13,110                                      

Total financial assets 27,088                                      480,139                                   10,492,804                           11,000,031                           

Other assets (non-financial) -                                                -                                                -                                                67,626                                      

Total 27,088                                      480,139                                   10,492,804                           11,067,657                           

Liabilities FVHFT* FVMPL** AmC*** Total

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions -                                                -                                                208,767                                   208,767                                   

Deposits and borrowings from the public -                                                -                                                9,782,953                              9,782,953                              

Derivatives 10,254                                      -                                                -                                                10,254                                      

Other financial liabilities -                                                -                                                100,484                                   100,484                                   

Total financial liabilities 10,254                                      -                                                10,092,204                           10,102,458                           

Other liabilities (non-financial) -                                                -                                                -                                                22,160                                      

Equity -                                                -                                                -                                                943,039                                   

Total 10,254                                      -                                                10,092,204                           11,067,657                           

31/12/2021
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY MEASUREMENT CATEGORIES (CONTINUED) 
 

 
 

*FVHFT - Fair Value Through Profit or Loss Held for Trading 
**FVMPL - Fair Value Through Profit or Loss Mandatorily 
***AmC - Amortised Cost 

  

The Bank

Assets FVHFT* FVMPL** AmC*** Total

Cash and balances with central bank -                                                -                                                1,934,827                              1,934,827                              

Loans to credit institutions -                                                -                                                1,886,403                              1,886,403                              

Loans to the public -                                                -                                                5,810,488                              5,810,488                              

Debt securities 11,010                                      475,875                                   -                                                486,885                                   

Derivatives 16,126                                      -                                                -                                                16,126                                      

Equity instruments -                                                5,204                                         -                                                5,204                                         

Other financial assets -                                                -                                                20,276                                      20,276                                      

Total financial assets 27,136                                      481,079                                   9,651,994                              10,160,209                           

Other assets (non-financial) -                                                -                                                -                                                75,511                                      

Total 27,136                                      481,079                                   9,651,994                              10,235,720                           

Liabilities FVHFT* FVMPL** AmC*** Total

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions -                                                -                                                646,495                                   646,495                                   

Deposits and borrowings from the public -                                                -                                                8,584,169                              8,584,169                              

Derivatives 20,002                                      -                                                -                                                20,002                                      

Other financial liabilities -                                                -                                                84,978                                      84,978                                      

Total financial liabilities 20,002                                      -                                                9,315,642                              9,335,644                              

Other liabilities (non-financial) -                                                -                                                -                                                26,930                                      

Equity -                                                -                                                -                                                873,146                                   

Total 20,002                                      -                                                9,315,642                              10,235,720                           

31/12/2020
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34. CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

 

 
  

The Group Current assets Non-current assets Total Current assets Non-current assets Total

Assets

Cash and balances with central bank                       3,565,509                                                     -           3,565,509                       1,934,827                                                     -           1,934,827 

Loans to credit institutions                            419,018                                   199,998             619,016                       1,886,403                                                     -           1,886,403 

Loans to the public                       1,480,149                               4,815,020         6,295,169                       1,386,003                               4,424,485         5,810,488 

Debt securities                            143,548                                   352,167             495,715                               61,136                                   425,749             486,885 

Derivatives                                   1,112                                       10,400                 11,512                                   4,367                                       11,759                 16,126 

Equity instruments                                              -                                                       -                                 -                                                -                                            5,204                    5,204 

Intangible assets                                              -                                         14,133                 14,133                                              -                                         14,788                 14,788 

Property, plant and equipment                                              -                                         11,477                 11,477                                              -                                         14,021                 14,021 

Right of use assets                                           34                                       28,477                 28,511                                       143                                       32,105                 32,248 

Investment property                                              -                                                 108                         108                                              -                                            1,064                    1,064 

Deferred income tax assets                                              -                                                    11                            11                                              -                                                    10                            10 

Other assets                               14,134                                          4,105                 18,239                               23,701                                          2,050                 25,751 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income                                   5,231                                                  46                    5,277                                   4,980                                                  19                    4,999 

Total assets                       5,628,735                               5,435,942     11,064,677                       5,301,560                               4,931,254     10,232,814 

 Current liabiltiies  Non-current liabilities  Total  Current liabiltiies  Non-current liabilities  Total 

Liabilities

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions                               58,767                                   150,000             208,767                               76,495                                   570,000             646,495 

Deposits and borrowings from the public                       9,764,231                                       13,339         9,777,570                       8,560,414                                       16,458         8,576,872 

Derivatives                                   1,726                                          8,528                 10,254                                   4,158                                       15,844                 20,002 

Current income tax liabilities                                   3,211                                                     -                      3,211                                   1,758                                                     -                      1,758 

Deferred income tax liabilities                                              -                                            1,088                    1,088                                              -                                                    40                            40 

Provisions                                   3,686                                          3,579                    7,265                                   3,221                                          4,749                    7,970 

Other liabilities                               77,461                                       26,756             104,217                               64,833                                       30,368                 95,201 

Accrued expenses and prepaid income                                   7,010                                                  97                    7,107                                   7,121                                               109                    7,230 

Total liabilities                       9,916,092                                   203,387     10,119,479                       8,718,000                                   637,568         9,355,568 

Net -4,287,357 5,232,555 945,198 -3,416,440 4,293,686 877,246

31/12/2021 31/12/2020
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34. CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

 

 

Assets and liabilities are classified as current assets and current liabilities when they are cash or cash equivalents, are held for 

trading purposes, can to be sold, settled or consumed in normal business, and can be realised within twelve months. All other assets 

and liabilities are classified as non-current. 

 

The Bank  Current assets  Non-current assets  Total  Current assets  Non-current assets  Total 

Assets

Cash and balances with central bank                       3,565,509                                                     -           3,565,509                       1,934,827                                                     -           1,934,827 

Loans to credit institutions                            419,018                                   199,998             619,016                       1,886,403                                                     -           1,886,403 

Loans to the public                       1,480,149                               4,815,020         6,295,169                       1,386,003                               4,424,485         5,810,488 

Debt securities                            143,548                                   352,167             495,715                               61,136                                   425,749             486,885 

Derivatives                                   1,112                                       10,400                 11,512                                   4,367                                       11,759                 16,126 

Equity instruments                                              -                                                       -                                 -                                                -                                            5,204                    5,204 

Investments in subsidiaries                                              -                                            2,871                    2,871                                              -                                            2,871                    2,871 

Intangible assets                                              -                                         14,133                 14,133                                              -                                         14,788                 14,788 

Property, plant and equipment                                              -                                         11,448                 11,448                                              -                                         13,986                 13,986 

Right of use assets                                           34                                       28,315                 28,349                                       143                                       31,924                 32,067 

Investment property                                              -                                                 108                         108                                              -                                            1,064                    1,064 

Deferred income tax assets                                              -                                                       -                                 -                                                -                                                       -                                 -   

Other assets                               13,311                                          4,249                 17,560                               22,897                                          2,212                 25,109 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income                                   6,221                                                  46                    6,267                                   5,883                                                  19                    5,902 

Total assets                       5,628,902                               5,438,755     11,067,657                       5,301,659                               4,934,061     10,235,720 

 Current liabiltiies  Non-current liabilities  Total  Current liabiltiies  Non-current liabilities  Total 

Liabilities

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions                               58,767                                   150,000             208,767                               76,495                                   570,000             646,495 

Deposits and borrowings from the public                       9,769,614                                       13,339         9,782,953                       8,567,711                                       16,458         8,584,169 

Derivatives                                   1,726                                          8,528                 10,254                                   4,158                                       15,844                 20,002 

Current income tax liabilities                                   3,211                                                     -                      3,211                                   1,758                                                     -                      1,758 

Deferred income tax liabilities                                              -                                            1,088                    1,088                                              -                                                    40                            40 

Provisions                                   3,669                                          3,561                    7,230                                   3,204                                          4,727                    7,931 

Other liabilities                               77,382                                       26,757             104,139                               64,743                                       30,368                 95,111 

Accrued expenses and prepaid income                                   6,879                                                  97                    6,976                                   6,959                                               109                    7,068 

Total liabilities                       9,921,248                                   203,370     10,124,618                       8,725,028                                   637,546         9,362,574 

Net -4,292,346 5,235,385 943,039 -3,423,369 4,296,515 873,146

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 



AB SEB bankas  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

 (All amounts in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

Page 96 of 109 
 

 

35. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  

The following financial assets and liabilities of the Group and the Bank as at 31 December 2021 are subject to offsetting, 

enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements: 

 

 
 

The following financial assets and liabilities of the Group and the Bank as at 31 December 2020 are subject to offsetting, 

enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements: 

 

 
 

 

Assets

Gross amounts of 

recognised financial 

assets

Gross amounts of 

recognised financial 

liabilities set off in the 

balance sheet

Net amounts of 

financial assets 

recognised in the 

balance sheet

Other financial assets 

recognised in the 

balance sheet Total

Derivative assets 144,918 -133,271 11,647 -135 11,512

TOTAL 144,918 -133,271 11,647 -135 11,512

Liabilities

Gross amounts of 

recognised financial 

liabilities

Gross amounts of 

recognised financial 

assets  set off in the 

balance sheet

Net amounts of 

financial liabilities 

recognised in the 

balance sheet

Other financial 

liabilities recognised in 

the balance sheet Total

Derivative liabilities -143,510 133,271 -10,239 -15 -10,254

TOTAL -143,510 133,271 -10,239 -15 -10,254

Enforceable master netting arrangement and similar arrangement

Enforceable master netting arrangement and similar arrangement

Assets

Gross amounts of 

recognised financial 

assets

Gross amounts of 

recognised financial 

liabilities set off in the 

balance sheet

Net amounts of 

financial assets 

recognised in the 

balance sheet

Other financial assets 

recognised in the 

balance sheet Total

Derivative assets 266,077 -249,553 16,524 -398 16,126

TOTAL 266,077 -249,553 16,524 -398 16,126

Liabilities

Gross amounts of 

recognised financial 

liabilities

Gross amounts of 

recognised financial 

assets  set off in the 

Net amounts of 

financial liabilities 

recognised in the 

Other financial 

liabilities recognised in 

the balance sheet Total

Derivative liabilities -269,588 249,553 -20,035 33 -20,002

TOTAL -269,588 249,553 -20,035 33 -20,002

Enforceable master netting arrangement and similar arrangement

Enforceable master netting arrangement and similar arrangement
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35. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

The tables above show financial assets and liabilities that are presented net in the statement of financial position or with potential 

rights to offset associated with enforceable master netting arrangements or similar arrangements, together with related 

collateral. Financial assets and liabilities are presented net in the statement of financial position when the Bank has legally 

enforceable rights to set-off, in the ordinary cause of business and in the case of bankruptcy, and intends to settle on a net basis or 
to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.  

Financial assets and liabilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar arrangements that are not presented 

net in the statement of financial position are arrangements that are usually enforceable in the case of bankruptcy or default but 

not in the ordinary course of business or arrangements where SEB does not have the intention to settle the instruments 
simultaneously.  

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

The table below details changes in the Group’s and Bank’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-

cash changes: 

 

 

Other changes comprise new lease contracts entered during the reporting period and effect of remeasurement of contracts. 

 

 
 

Other changes comprise increase of lease liabilities due to new contracts, prolongation or indexation of existing contracts. 

37. RELATED PARTIES 

The following are considered to be related parties to the Group and the Bank: 

- key management personnel; 

- parent company; 

- companies consolidated by the parent company; 

- subsidiaries; 

- associates to parent company. 

Key management personnel are considered to be Board members of the Bank. 

Transactions with related parties 

A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. The following table 

provides the total amount of transactions and year-end balances that have been entered into with related parties for the relevant 
financial year  

 

1 January 2021

Financing cash 

flow Other changes

31 December 

2021

Lease liabilities (Note 29) 33,168 -4,677 883 29,374

1 January 2020

Financing cash 

flow Other changes

31 December 

2020

Lease liabilities (Note 29) 11,456 -4,829 26,541 33,168
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37. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 
 

 
 
  

The Group, 2021

Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities

Loans and advances -0.75-15.26 279,202 -0.44-4.19 328,836 1.54-17 592 1.99 13

Derivatives -0.55-0.35 2,756 997                              -                                -                                

Other receivables 453 393 -                                -                                

Deposits 0-0.21 150,247 -                                26,523 -                                 343 -                                 1,120

Derivatives 8,466 860                              -                                -                                

Other payables 24 160 -                                -                                

Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments

Commitments given 0.62-11 6,131 11 5 1.85-17 212 0-17 6

Guarantees received 4,743 32,488                      -                                -                                

Guarantees provided 6,057 32,883                      -                                -                                

Parent

Parent group 

companies Key management

Other related 

parties

Interest income 188 139 6 -                                

Interest expense -9,858 -555 -                                 -                                

Fee and commission income 281 4,931 7 1                                     

Fee and commission expense -734 -410 -1 -                                

Other income 304 3,138 -                                -                                

Other expense -3,044 -4,198 -                                -                                

Parent Parent group companies Key management Other related parties
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37. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 

 

 

 
  

The Group, 2020

Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities

Loans and advances 0.54–11 1,800,247 0.54-11 64,506                      1.54–17 139                              24                                  

Derivatives 125 -                                -                                -                                

Other receivables 221 1,105 -                                -                                

Deposits 602,084                   18,081 737                              212                              

Derivatives 19,768                      -                                -                                -                                

Other payables 45                                  475 -                                -                                

Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments

Commitments given 1.17–11 11,505 3.5–11 5 11–17 63                                  17                                  

Guarantees received 2,498                          10,482                      -                                -                                

Guarantees provided 3,072                          10,904                      -                                -                                

Parent

Parent group 

companies Key management

Other related 

parties

Interest income 668 124 2 1                                     

Interest expense -10,355 -55 -                                -                                

Fee and commission income 1,763 2,561 10 1                                     

Fee and commission expense -991 -467 -                                -                                

Other income 407 3,344 -                                -                                

Other expense -2,485 -5,036 -                                -                                

Parent Parent group companies Key management Other related parties
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37. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 

 

 
  

The Bank, 2021

Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities

Loans and advances -0.75-15.26 279,202 -0.44-4.19 328,836 1.54-17 592                               1.99 13 -                                

Derivatives -0.55-0.35 2,756 997 -                                -                                 -                                -                                

Other receivables 453 393 -                                -                                 -                                0.54 1,167                          

Deposits 0-0.21 150,247 26,523 343                               -                                 1,120 5,383

Derivatives 8,466 860                              -                                -                                 -                                -                                

Other payables 24 110                              -                                -                                 -                                -                                 

Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments

Commitments given 0.62-11 6,131 11 5 1.85-17 212 0-17 6 -                                 

Guarantees received 4,743 32,488 -                                -                                -                                

Guarantees provided 6,057 32,883 -                                -                                -                                

Parent

Parent group 

companies Key management

Other related 

parties Subsidiary

Interest income 188 139 6                                      -                                 -                                 

Interest expense -9,858 -555 -                                 -                                 63                                  

Fee and commission income 281 4,931 7                                      1                                      3,688                          

Fee and commission expense -734 -225 -1 -                                 -                                 

Other income 304 3,129 -                                -                                4,029

Other expense -3,038 -4,178 -                                -                                -                                

Parent Parent group companies Key management Other related parties Subsidiary
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37. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 

 

 

 

The Bank, 2020

Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities Interest Rate

Assets/

liabilities

Loans and advances 0.54–11 1,800,247 0.54–11 64,506 1.54–17 139                              24                                  -                                

Derivatives 125 -                                -                                -                                -                                

Other receivables 221 1,105 -                                -                                1 976

Deposits 602,084 18,081 737                              212                              7,297

Derivatives 19,768                      -                                -                                -                                -                                

Other payables 45                                  427 -                                -                                -                                

Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments Interest Rate

Off-balance 

commitments

Commitments given 1.17–11 11,505 3.5–11 5 11–17 63 17                                  -                                

Guarantees received 2,498 10,482                      -                                -                                -                                

Guarantees provided 3,072 10,904                      -                                -                                -                                

Parent

Parent group 

companies Key management

Other related 

parties Subsidiary

Interest income 668 124 2 1 -                                

Interest expense -10,355 -55 -                                -                                50                                  

Fee and commission income 1,763 2,492 10 1 3,423
Fee and commission expense -991 -293 -                                -                                -                                

Other income 407 3,330 -                                -                                2,312

Other expense -2,479 -5,016 -                                -                                -                                

Parent Parent group companies Key management Other related parties Subsidiary
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37. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group and the Bank 

 

 

38. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS  

 

Legal proceedings 

There were several proceedings outstanding against the Group and the Bank at 31 December 2021 and 2020. Provision in the 

amount of EUR 193 thousand (193) was formed to reflect possible unfavorable outcome of the legal proceedings.  

 

39. CAPITAL ADEQUACY 

The Group’s and Bank’s regulatory capital as managed by its central Group Treasury is divided into two tiers:  

• Tier 1 capital: share capital, reserve capital, retained earnings, general and other reserves, qualifying current year profit; 

• Tier 2 capital: IRB excess of provisions over expected losses; 

• Deductible amounts: the book value of intangible assets; IRB provision shortfall.  

The risk-weighted assets are measured by using two methods – Standardized and Internal Ratings Based Approach (IRB).  

  

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Short term employee benefits 985 996                               985                              996                              

Post-employment benefits (contribution to defined contribution 

plan) 8                                      8                                      8                                     8                                     

Termination benefits 16                                   10                                   16                                  10                                  

Other long-term employee benefits -                                 52                                   -                                52                                  

Total 1,009                           1,066                           1,009                          1,066                          

The Group The Bank

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Contingent liabilities 64,126                       106,929                    64,126                       106,929                    

Financial guarantees given 2,416                           1,748                          2,416                           1,748                          

Letters of credit 61,710                       105,181                   61,710                       105,181                   

Loan commitments 1,193,236               1,441,291               1,193,236               1,441,291               

Other commitments 426,778                    327,784                    426,778                    327,784                    

Total 1,684,140               1,876,004               1,684,140               1,876,004               

The Group The Bank
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39. CAPITAL ADEQUACY (CONTINUED) 

The table below summarises the components of capital adequacy calculation and the ratios of the Group and the Bank for the year 

ended 31 December 2021 and 2020: 

 

 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 and throughout 2021 and 2020, the Group and the Bank were compliant with the capital 
adequacy minimum requirements. 

  

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Capital base

1. Own funds 825,104 821,205 821,004 817,104

1.1. Tier 1 capital 820,805 810,821 816,705 806,720

1.1.2. Common equity Tier 1 capital 820,805 810,821 816,705 806,720

2. Tier 2 capital 4,299 10,384 4,299 10,384

Risk weighted assets (RWA)

Total risk exposure amount

1. Risk weighted exposure amounts for credit, counterparty credit 

and dilution risks and free deliveries 3,592,376 3,629,895 3,592,489 3,629,588

1.1. Standardised approach (SA) 500,029 650,879 500,142 650,572

1.2. Internal ratings based Approach (IRB) 3,092,347 2,979,016 3,092,347 2,979,016

1.2.1. IRB approaches when neither own estimates of LGD nor 

Conversion Factors are used 2,600,693 2,497,691 2,600,693 2,497,691

1.2.2. IRB approaches when own estimates of LGD and/or 

Conversion Factors are used 491,654 481,325 491,654 481,325

2. Total risk exposure amount for position, foreign exchange and 

commodities risks 20,700 20,313 20,700 20,313

3. Total risk exposure amount for operational risk (AMA) 176,425 181,375 172,050 175,888

4. Total risk exposure amount for credit valuation adjustment 75                                  -                                75                                  -                                

5. Other risk exposure amounts -                                -                                -                                -                                

Capital ratios

Own funds 825,104 821,205 821,004 817,104

Total risk exposure amount Basel III* 3,789,576 3,831,583 3,785,314 3,825,789

Own fund requirement (8 per cent) 303,166 306,527 302,825 306,063

Total Capital ratio 21.77% 21.43% 21.69% 21.36%

Tier 1 Capital ratio 21.66% 21.16% 21.58% 21.09%

CET1 Capital ratio 21.66% 21.16% 21.58% 21.09%

Tier 2 Capital ratio 0.11% 0.27% 0.11% 0.27%

* (without additional risk exposure amount due to application of 

Basel I floor)

Regulatory Common Equity Tier 1 capital requirement including 

buffer requirement (Pillar 1 only) 9.0% 9.0% 9.0% 9.0%

of which capital conservation buffer requirement 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%

of which systemic risk buffer requirement 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

of which countercyclical capital buffer requirement 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

of which other systemically important institution buffer 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

The Group The Bank
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40. RESTATEMENT OF COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 

 

In 2021 financial statements, the Group and the Bank continued alignment of presentation of primary financial statements and 

disclosure notes with SEB group banks in Baltic states. As a result of alignment, in 2021, the Group and the Bank changed the 
method of reporting of cash flows from operating activities from mixed to indirect. Comparative information for the year 2020 

was restated accordingly. Impact of the change in presentation method on the statement of cash flows is presented below: 

 

 
 

 

1) Under mixed method the Group and the Bank has reported unrealised gain from debt securities under operating activities. 

After change in method, net outflows from debt securities are presented within investing activities on net basis, resulting 
in increase in operating activities by EUR 2,346 thousand and respective decrease in net cash flows from investing 

activities 

 

2) Under mixed method the Group and the Bank has reported net foreign exchange difference under operating activity. 
After change in method, net foreign exchange difference is presented in the separate line to reconcile net increase in 

cash and cash equivalents with balance at the end of the year, resulting in decrease in net cash flows from operating 

activity by EUR 3,561 thousand 

 
3) The Group and the Bank has corrected one amount in presentation of cash flows from investment property and presented 

inflow from sale of investment property within investing activities, which resulted in the decrease of net cash flows from 

operating activities in amount of EUR 130 thousand and respective increase in the net cash flows from investing 

activities. 
 

  

Reference

The Group The Bank The Group The Bank The Group The Bank

2020 2020 2020 2020

2020 

(Represented)

2020 

(Represented)

Net cash flows from operating 

activities 1,424,377 1,422,323 1, 2, 3 -1,345 -1,345 1,423,032 1,420,978

Net cash flows used in investing 

activities -66,680 -64,626 1, 3 -2,216 -2,216 -68,896 -66,842

Net cash flows used in financing 

activities -4,829 -4,829 -                                 -                                 -4,829 -4,829

Net increase in cash and cash 

equivalents 1,352,868 1,352,868 -3,561 -3,561 1,349,307 1,349,307

Net foreign exchange difference -                                 -                                 2 3,561 3,561 3,561 3,561

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 

January 1,603,435 1,603,435 -                                 -                                 1,603,435 1,603,435

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 

December 2,956,303 2,956,303 -                                 -                                 2,956,303 2,956,303

Reported Restatement Restated
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41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

On 1 March 2022 the Bank sold 100% of its sole subsidiary UAB “Investicijų valdymas“ shares to SEB Life and Pension Baltic SE. 

The gain on sale constituted EUR 8,084 thousand for the Group and EUR 10,529 thousand for the Bank.  

On 24 February 2022 the Russian Federation has launched an invasion of the Republic of Ukraine. Shortly after the invasion, the 
EU and the rest of the world introduced a comprehensive package of restrictive measures against Russia, which is constantly being 

updated and expanded. This non-adjusting post-reporting event was not taken into account in making the accounting estimates 

and assumptions as at 31 December 2021. Until the date of signing these financial statements, the restrictive measures did not 

have a material impact on the Group’s and the Bank’s operations, no business processes were suspended and limited foreseen 
direct losses related to the imposed restrictive measures were incurred before the date of the financial statements. 

The geopolitical events that escalated in February and led to a wide array of sanctions on Russia and Belarus may have an impact 

on operations of the Group, the Bank and its customers. While the Group and the Bank has made efforts to prudently assess the 

size and nature of such impact, the nature and speed of the events impair the accuracy of any assessments for the time being. The 
Group and the Bank has limited direct exposure on Russia and Belarus and therefore any negative effect will come via potential 

customers' indirect impact. 

 

 
 

 

 

***** 
 

 

 

 
The financial statements were approved by the Board of the Bank on 14 March 2022 and signed by: 

 

 

Chief Executive Officer of AB SEB bankas  Sonata Gutauskaitė-Bubnelienė 
  

 

Head of Business Support Division and Chief Financial Officer of AB 

SEB bankas                                      Aivaras Čičelis 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the shareholder of AB SEB bankas 

 

Report on the Audit of the Company’s and Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion  

We have audited the accompanying separate financial statements of AB SEB bankas, a public limited liability 
company registered in the Republic of Lithuania (hereinafter the Company), and the consolidated financial 
statements of AB SEB bankas and its subsidiaries (hereinafter the Group), which comprise the statements of 
financial position as of 31 December 2021, the statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity 
and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying Company’s and consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2021 and their financial 
performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union.  
 
Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Regulation (EU) No 

537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on specific requirements regarding 

statutory audit of public-interest entities (regulation (EU) No 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the 

Council). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 

audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the Group in 

accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 

Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the requirements of the Law on Audit of the financial 

statements of the Republic of Lithuania that are relevant to the audit in the Republic of Lithuania, and we have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Law on Audit of the financial statements of the 

Republic of Lithuania and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.  
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 

statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the 

performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the 

matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.  



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 

 
 

Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in the audit 

The carrying amount of loans to the public as at 31 
December 2021 amounted to EUR  6 295 million, the 
net expected credit losses’ positive effect in the 
statement of comprehensive income for 2021 
amounted to EUR 9 million and the total impairment 
loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 amounted to 
EUR 45 million in the Group`s financial statements. 

The basis of the Bank’s and the Group’s impairment 
provision policy is presented in the accounting policies 
section in Notes 1.8 and 1.24.1 to the financial 
statements. Critical accounting estimates and 
judgments, disclosures of loans and guarantees and 
the credit risk management are set out in Notes 2.1, 
11 and 15 to the financial statements. 

Loan receivables are significant to the total assets of 
the Group`s financial statements. 

We identified this area to be significant for the audit 
because measurement and recognition of allowances 
for loan loss impairment reflected in the Group’s 
expected credit loss model (ECL) is associated with 
significant estimation as it requires the management 
to exercise judgement and apply complex and 
subjective assumptions both about the timing and 
amounts of such impairment. Key areas of judgement 
include the identification of exposures with a 
significant deterioration in credit quality, assumptions 
used in the expected credit loss model such as the 
financial condition of the counterparty, expected 
future cash flows and forward-looking 
macroeconomic factors.  

Due to the above circumstances, we considered loan 
impairment assessment to be the key audit matter. 

Our audit procedures included, among others, the 
following: 

We gained understanding and tested the key controls 
over the loan issuance, booking and monitoring and 
loan impairment provisioning processes.   

We obtained and read the Group’s Impairment 
provisioning policy that is based on IFRS 9. With the 
support of IFRS 9 specialists, we assessed the 
compliance of the policy and the model with the 
requirements of IFRS 9 by assessing each significant 
model component: exposure at default, probability of 
default and loss given default, definitions of default 
and significant increase in credit risk, use of 
macroeconomic scenarios. 

In addition to testing key controls, for a sample of 
loans we performed testing of loan portfolio by 
comparing inputs to internal and external data, 
including contract dates, risk classes for non-retail 
exposures and quality classes for retail exposures, 
collateral values and types, performing / non-
performing status and other inputs used in ECL 
calculator as at 31 December 2021. 

For a sample of loans and model outputs with the 
support of specialists, we performed recalculations of 
ECL. ECL adjustments related to expert credit 
judgement were analysed. Our analysis considered 
management’s assumption of ECL adjustments. 

We performed analytical procedures, such as a 
comparison of loan loss impairment allowance 
balances to industry levels, comparison to prior year, 
movements between stages etc. 

We have assessed the reasonableness of the model 
overlay adjustments made by SEB, pertaining to 
SEB’s assessed effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on 
the ECL.   

We also assessed the adequacy of the financial 
statement disclosures in Notes 1.8, 1.24.1, 2.1, 11 
and 15. 

 

Other information 

Other information consists of the information included in the Company’s and Group’s 2021 Annual Report, 
including corporate social responsibility report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Management is responsible for the other information presentation.  

 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon, except as indicated below.  
 
In connection to our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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We also have to evaluate, if the financial information included in the Company’s and Group’s Annual Report, 

corresponds to the financial statements for the same financial year and if the Company’s and Group’s Annual 

Report, was prepared in accordance with the relevant legal requirements. In our opinion, based on the work 

performed in the course of the audit of financial statements, in all material respects: 

•   The financial information included in the Company’s and Group’s Annual Report, corresponds to the financial 
information included in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021; and  
•   The Company’s and Group’s Annual Report, was prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Law 
on Consolidated Financial Reporting by Groups of Undertakings of the Republic of Lithuania and the Law on 
Financial Reporting by Undertakings of the Republic of Lithuania. 

We also need to check that the corporate social responsibility report has been provided. If we identify that corporate 
social responsibility report has not been provided, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company and/or the Group 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s and the Group’s financial reporting 

process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:  
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s and Group’s internal control.  
 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.  
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s and/or the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Company and/or the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.  
 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 
safeguards applied.   
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 

most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 

about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 

communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Other requirements of the auditor's report in accordance with Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 of the European 

Parliament and of the Council. 

Appointment and approval of the auditor 
In accordance with the decision made by shareholder we have been chosen to carry out the audit of Company’s 

financial statements and Group’s consolidated financial statements the first time in 2019. Our appointment to carry 

out the audit of Company’s financial statements and Group’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

the decision made by shareholder has been renewed annually and the period of total uninterrupted engagement is 

3 years.  

Consistency with the audit report submitted to the audit committee 
We confirm that our opinion in the section ‘Opinion’ is consistent with the additional Audit report which we have 

submitted to the Company, the Group and the Audit Committee. 

Non audit services 
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief, services provided to the Company and the Group are 

consistent with the requirements of the law and regulations and do not comprise non-audit services referred to in 

the Article 5(1) of the Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 

We have provided the services that are disclosed in Note 10 of the financial statements. 

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Jonas Akelis. 

 
UAB ERNST & YOUNG BALTIC 
Audit company’s licence No. 001335 
 
 

 

  
Jonas Akelis 
Auditor’s licence  
No. 000003 
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